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The Board of Directors of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC expresses its profound sorrow at the passing of
Mr. Moinul Abedin Choudhury, Chief Financial Officer, on 29 March 2025 (28th Ramadan 1446 Hijri) at Delta Hospital,

Chattogram.

In the 169th Board Meeting held on 29 April 2025, Mr. S. M. Nasrul Quadir, Independent Director, offered condolences

A

o -
A

Tribute to the

LATE MR. MOINUL ABEDIN CHOUDHURY

on behalf of the Board and acknowledged Mr. Choudhury’s dedicated service.

Mr. Choudhury joined the Company in 2012 as Executive, Accounts, and through commitment and professionalism,
advanced to Assistant Manager, Accounts (20 March 2014), Manager, Accounts (20 March 2016), and ultimately Chief

Financial Officer (26 July 2018). His contributions significantly strengthened the Company’s financial management.

The Board records its deep appreciation for his long and devoted service. We pray for the eternal peace of his soul and

extend heartfelt sympathy to his bereaved family.
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TRANSMITTAL LETTER

Date: November 20, 2025

The Valued Shareholders of Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC
Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission

Registrar of Joint Stock Companies & Firms

Dhaka Stock Exchange PLC

Chittagong Stock Exchange PLC

Subject: Submission of the Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2025

Dear Sir(s),

We are pleased to transmit herewith the Notice of the 29th Annual General Meeting (AGM)
and a copy of the Annual Report of Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC for the financial year
ended June 30, 2025. The Annual Report includes the Audited Financial Statements
comprising the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, and Statement of Cash Flows, along
with the related notes and disclosures, duly approved by the Board of Directors.

In compliance with the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission’s Notification No.
BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/208/Admin/81, dated June 20, 2018, the Notice of AGM and
Annual Report, including the Audited Financial Statements, have been disseminated to the
valued shareholders through their respective e-mail addresses registered in their Beneficial
Owner (BO) accounts with the Central Depository System (CDS).

Additionally, the soft copy of the Annual Report is available on the Company’s official website
at www.hakkanigroup.com for ease of access and reference.

We take this opportunity to express our sincere appreciation to all shareholders, stakeholders,
and regulatory bodies for their continued support and cooperation.
With warm regards,

A

—

Mohammad Musa
Company Secretary
Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC
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NOTICE OF THE 29TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 29th Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the shareholders of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills
PLC will be held on Saturday, 20 December 2025 at 11:00 a.m., through a Hybrid System, i.e., both physically at the
Grand Tasfia Convention Hall, Anandipur, P.C. Road, Chattogram, and virtually via online video conference at
https://agmbd.live/hakkanipul2025, in accordance with the BSEC Order No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2009-193/08 dated 10
March 2021 and BSEC Directive No. BSEC/ICAD/SRIC/2024/318/09 dated 16 January 2024, to transact the following
business:

Agenda-01: To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2025, together with the Reports of the Auditor thereon and the Report of the Directors.

Agenda-02: To declare and approve the dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025, as recommended by the Board of
Directors.

Agenda-03: To appoint/re-appoint Director(s) in terms of Article 82 of the Articles of Association of the Company.
Agenda-04: To approve the appointment of Independent Director of the Company.
Agenda-05: To appoint the Statutory Auditors for the year ending 30 June 2026 and fix their remuneration.

Agenda-06: To appoint the Corporate Governance Compliance Auditors for the year ending 30 June 2026 and fix their
remuneration.

Agenda-07: To consider and approve the Related Party Transactions (as disclosed in Note 39 of the Audited Financial
Statements) pursuant to the BSEC Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2009-193/Admin/103 dated 5
February 2020.

By order of the Board,

; S
s i
Mohammad Musa =]
Company Secretary DighalPatorm
Date: Chattogram, 27 October 2025 2L
Notes:

1. Record Date: Shareholders whose names appear in the Share/Depository Register as on 17 November 2025 are entitled to attend the 29th AGM
and receive the dividend.
lh

2. In compliance with BSEC Orders and Directives cited above, the AGM will be conducted through a Hybrid System, combining both physical
attendance and virtual participation of shareholders.

3. Ashareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint a proxy (who must also be a shareholder of the Company) to attend and vote
on his/her behalf. The duly completed, signed, and stamped Proxy Form (BDT 20) must be sent by email to compliancehppml@gmail.com at
least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

4. Shareholders holding BO accounts are requested to update their Bank Account details, Email addresses, Mailing addresses, and 12-digit
e-TIN through their Depository Participant (DP) by 07 December 2025. 9
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10.

1.

12.

L] Failure to update e-TIN within the stipulated date will result in income tax deduction at source @15% instead of @10%, as per the
amended Income Tax Act 2023.

= Shareholders holding physical (folio) shares are requested to submit their e-TIN to the Company’s Share Department at the Registered
Office by the same date.

Stock Brokers, Merchant Bankers, and Portfolio Managers are requested to submit to compliancehppml@gmail.com by 07 December 2025
the list of margin clients or customers with debit balances who are entitled to receive cash dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025.

Shareholders may submit questions / comments and vote electronically up to 24 hours before the commencement of the AGM and during the
meeting.

To log in, please use your 16-digit BO ID number as User ID and your shareholding as of the Record Date as password by visiting
https://agmbd.live/hakkanipul2025.

Shareholders attending the AGM physically must submit their duly filled and signed registration form at the registration counter at the venue
before 11:00 a.m. on 20 December 2025.

Shareholders joining virtually are requested to log in prior to the meeting start time of 11:00 a.m. on 20 December 2025.

The webcast will commence at 11:00 a.m. on 19 December 2025. For any technical assistance, please contact +8801714-087518 or
+8801799-996003.

Pursuant to BSEC Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/208/Admin/81 dated 20 June 2018, soft copies of the Annual Report, Attendance
Slip, Proxy Form, and this Notice will be sent to shareholders’ registered email addresses.

These documents will also be available on the Company’s website at www.hakkanigroup.com. Shareholders may also collect printed copies
from the Company’s Share Department at the Registered Office.

In compliance with BSEC Circular No. SEC/CMRRCD/2009-193/154 dated 24 October 2013, no benefit in cash or kind, other than the declared
cash dividend, shall be distributed to shareholders at the AGM.

The appointment/re-appointment of Directors shall be conducted in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and all relevant
rules, regulations, and circulars in force.

All BSEC directives and regulatory provisions shall apply in all respects.
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rofile

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC is one of the pioneer and leading paper manufacturing industries in Bangladesh,
located at Patiya, Chattogram. It is a proud sister concern of Hakkani Group, a reputed industrial conglomerate in the
country with diverse business interests. The Company was incorporated with the Registrar of Joint Stock Companies
and Firms (RJSC) in 1996, with the vision to contribute to the nation’s industrial growth through the sustainable
production of quality paper products.

To broaden its capital base and ensure public participation, the Company issued its initial public offering (IPO) in 2001
and was subsequently listed with both of the country’s premier bourses — the Dhaka Stock Exchange PLC and the
Chittagong Stock Exchange PLC. The Company’s authorized capital stands at BDT 1000 million, and its paid-up capital
is BDT 190 million. Commercial production commenced in late 2003, marking a significant milestone in the paper
manufacturing sector of Bangladesh.

Governance and Management

The Company is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors comprising experienced entrepreneurs and
professionals who provide strategic guidance and ensure sound corporate governance practices. The Board is supported
by a team of skilled and dedicated management professionals headed by the Managing Director, who oversees the daily
operations of the Company with efficiency, transparency, and accountability. Together, they ensure that all strategic
decisions are aligned with the Company’s long-term objectives and shareholders’ interests.

Products and Operations

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC is engaged in the production of a wide range of high-quality paper and tissue products.
Its product portfolio includes:

*  Newsprint Paper

e Writing and Printing Paper

*  Medium Paper

e Various Grades of Tissue Paper (Facial, Toilet, Napkin, Kitchen, etc.)

The Company’s products are recognized for their superior quality, durability, and eco-friendly composition. The
production facilities are equipped with dependable and advanced machinery and equipment, enabling consistent output
and quality control. The Company places strong emphasis on maintaining stringent quality standards at every stage of
production — from raw material sourcing to the final dispatch of finished goods.

Vision and Mission

The vision of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC is to be a leader in the paper manufacturing industry of Bangladesh by
producing high-quality, environment-friendly paper and tissue products that meet both domestic and international
demand.

ANNUAL
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Its mission is to:

e (Conduct transparent and ethical business operations within the framework of all applicable laws and corporate
governance principles.

e  Ensure optimum utilization of resources and sustainable profitability.

e Continuously enhance product quality and operational efficiency.

o Create long-term value for shareholders, stakeholders, employees, and the wider community.
o  Contribute to national economic development through sustainable industrial growth.
Production Capacity and Technology

The Company operates modern paper and tissue production units with machinery sourced from renowned global
manufacturers. It continuously upgrades its technology to ensure energy efficiency, product consistency, and
environmental compliance. The integration of modern pulp recycling technology enables the Company to use both
locally collected and imported waste paper as raw materials — making production cost-effective and environmentally
sustainable.

Continuous investment in research, maintenance, and innovation helps the Company to remain competitive in terms of
quality, cost, and customer satisfaction. Regular training programs are arranged for technical and operational staff to
enhance productivity and maintain a culture of continuous improvement.

Marketing and Distribution

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC has established a nationwide marketing and distribution network, supported by a strong
supply chain system comprising dealers, agents, depots, and outlets strategically located across the country. This
ensures smooth, efficient, and timely delivery of its products to customers. The Company’s brand reputation is built
upon consistent quality, reliability, and prompt customer service.

By maintaining close relationships with its distributors and end-users, the Company has developed a strong and loyal
customer base, earning a significant share of the domestic market in the quality paper and tissue segment. The Company
is also exploring export opportunities to expand its footprint in regional and international markets.

Commitment to Quality and Sustainability

Quality and sustainability lie at the heart of Hakkani’s corporate philosophy. The Company strictly adheres to international
standards of quality control and environmental protection. By using recycled raw materials and maintaining eco-friendly
production processes, it contributes to environmental preservation and the reduction of carbon emissions.

Its initiatives to promote green manufacturing and waste management ensure that all operations remain compliant with

global environmental norms. This commitment to sustainability strengthens its position as a socially responsible and .

environmentally conscious organization. l 0
L

Financial and Operational Performance

Since the commencement of commercial operations, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC has demonstrated consistent «
growth in sales, profitability, and shareholder value. The Company continues to focus on maximizing production
efficiency, reducing costs, and diversifying its product range. Its prudent financial management and strategic planning
have enabled it to sustain profitability and build a strong balance sheet.
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Over the years, the Company’s Net Asset Value (NAV) and overall financial performance have shown steady
improvement, reflecting operational strength, market leadership, and effective management policies.

Future Outlook

Looking ahead, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC aims to further enhance its production capacity and product diversity
through technological modernization and strategic expansion. The Company envisions strengthening its market
presence both domestically and internationally by:

*  Expanding production lines for premium-grade tissue and writing paper.

* Introducing energy-efficient and environmentally sustainable manufacturing technologies.
*  Developing new export markets to increase foreign exchange earnings.

e Continuing to uphold the highest standards of corporate governance and transparency.

In summary, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC stands as a symbol of trust, innovation, and excellence in Bangladesh’s
paper industry. Through continuous technological advancement, sustainable practices, and customer-oriented service,
the Company remains committed to contributing to national development and maintaining its leadership in the paper
manufacturing sector.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

® CORPORATE HISTORY

Company Name

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC

Certificate of Incorporation CHC No0.2462/1996
Date of Incorporation 28 December 1996
Commencement of Business 28 December 1996
Conversion to Public Limited Company 28 December 1996
Listed with Stock Exchanges 8 July 2001

E-TIN No. 210696348482

VAT Registration No.

000160419-0502

Trade License No.

TRAD/CHTG/013799/2021

Factory License No. 3389/Chattogram
BIDA No. 9712385-C

Import Registration Certificate No. 260315120085820
Export Registration Certificate No. 260315210150620

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized Capital

Tk. 1000.00 million

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Capital

Tk. 190.00 million

Board of Directors:

SI. No. Name of the Directors

Position

01. Mr. Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir

02. Mr. Md. Golam Kibria
03. Mr. Md. Golam Morshed
04. Mr. S.M Nasrul Quadir
05. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed
06. Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum

07. Mrs. Farhana Ferdous

ANNUAL
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Managing Director
Deputy Managing Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Director

Director

\-

17



SOOI AT G (T fAeTs] Praafs
HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

B Audit Committee:

SI. No. Name of the Member

Status in the
Company

Status in the
Committee

01. Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir
02. Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed
03. Mrs. Farhana Ferdous

04. Mr. Mohammad Musa

Independent Director
Independent Director
Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary

® Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC):

Chairperson
Member
Member

Secretary

SI. No. Name of the Member

Status in the
Company

Status in the
Committee

01. Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir
02. Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed
03. Mrs. Farhana Ferdous

04. Mr. Mohammad Musa

Independent Director
Independent Director
Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary

Chairperson
Member
Member

Secretary

B Corporate Officials:

SI. No. Name of the Directors

Position

01. Mr. Mohammad Musa
02. Mr. Md. Saleh Ahmed
03. Mr. Md. Khademul Islam

Company Secretary (CS)
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Head of Internal Audit & Compliance (HIAC)

OTHER PARTICULARS
Bank and Other Financial Institution
SI. No. | Name of the Bank SI. No. | Name of the Bank
01 Mutual Trust Bank PLC. 09 Islami Bank Bangladesh PLC.
02 Bangladesh Krishi Bank Ltd. 10 Mercantile Bank PLC.
03 First Security Islami Bank PLC. 11 Trust Bank Limited
04 | Social Islami Bank PLC. 12 Standard Bank PLC.
05 Southeast Bank PLC. 13 United Commercial Bank PLC.
06 National Bank Ltd. 14 Eastern Bank PLC.
07 Premier Bank PLC. 15 Pubali Bank PLC.
08 Prime Bank PLC. 16 Dutch-Bangla Bank PLC.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS

Khan Wahab Shafique Rahman & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Rupali Bima Bhaban (5th & 6th Floor)

7, Rajuk Avenue, Motijheel, Dhaka-1000
Tel: 47122785, 223385136, Fax: 880-2-47122824
E-mail: info@kwsrbd.com, kwsr@dhaka.net

Web: www. kwsrbd.com

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMPLIANCE AUDITORS
Shafiq Basak & Co.
Chartered Accountants
National House (First Floor), Commercial Area, Chattogram-4100
E-mail: basak_shc@yahoo.com, basak@shafigbasak.com

LISTING
Dhaka Stock Exchange PLC
Chittagong Stock Exchange PLC

CREDIT RATING
Credit Rating Agency of Bangladesh Limited (CRAB)

REGISTERED OFFICE
2/10, Dhaka Trunk Road, North Pahartali, Chattogram, Bangladesh
Telephone: +88-02-43151463-4 (PABX), +88-02-43150864-5 (PABX)
Fax: +88-0243152344
E-mail: info@hakkanigroup.com, hppml@hakkanigroup.com
Web: www.hakkanigroup.com

DHAKA OFFICE FACTORY

Anima Vista, Flat # B-03, 3rd Floor, Mouza: Halim Kharchar,

30, Topkhana Road, Purana Paltan, Military Pool, P. S.:Patiya, Chattogram,
Dhaka-1000, Bangladesh On Old Chattogram-Cox’s Bazar Highway,
Mobile: 01714-087508 Bangladesh
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC maintains a robust and transparent corporate governance framework, which extends
from the Board of Directors to every level of the organization. This governance philosophy is rooted in principles of
accountability, integrity, transparency, and fairness. It ensures that all business activities are conducted ethically and
responsibly to safeguard the interests of shareholders, stakeholders, employees, and the wider community.

The Company’s governance practices are designed to comply fully with the laws, regulations, and directives of the
Government of Bangladesh, the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission (BSEC), the Dhaka and Chittagong
Stock Exchanges, and other relevant regulatory authorities. Adherence to International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), the Companies Act 1994, and the Corporate Governance Code 2018 issued by BSEC underpins all financial
reporting and disclosure practices of the Company.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC currently comprises seven (7) members, including
Independent Directors, ensuring diversity of experience, independence of judgment, and effective oversight of
management. The Board is responsible for formulating strategic direction, supervising management performance, and
ensuring that the Company’s operations are conducted prudently, ethically, and in the best interests of shareholders.

The Managing Director, who also serves as the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), leads the Management Team and acts as
the primary link between the Board and the operational management of the Company. The Board delegates day-to-day
operational authority to the CEO while retaining responsibility for strategic oversight, risk management, and overall
corporate performance.

The Board meets regularly to discuss policy matters, review financial and operational performance, evaluate risk
management initiatives, and ensure effective internal control. In the financial year 2024-2025, the Board held four (4)
meetings, ensuring active participation and informed decision-making.

Accountability and Audit

To ensure sound financial integrity and transparency, the Board has established an independent Audit Committee in
accordance with BSEC regulations. The Audit Committee consists of three (3) Non-Executive Directors, including two
(2) Independent Directors.

Professor S. M. Nasrul Quadir, Independent Director, served as the Chairman of the Audit Committee, while Mr.
Mohammad Musa, the Company Secretary, acted as the Secretary to the Committee as per regulatory guidelines.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the integrity of financial reporting, internal control systems, risk
management processes, and compliance with statutory requirements. It reviews the quarterly, half-yearly, and annual
financial statements, examines the relevance and consistency of accounting policies, and monitors both internal and
external audit functions.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee held four (4) meetings, the proceedings and recommendations of which l ’
were duly reported to the Board. The detailed Audit Committee Report is included separately in this Annual Report.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) -

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code 2018 issued by the BSEC, the Board has constituted a Nomination
and Remuneration Committee (NRC) to ensure a structured and transparent process for determining the qualifications,
evaluation, and compensation of Directors and senior executives. 20 —
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The NRC consists of three (3) Non-Executive Directors, including two (2) Independent Directors.

Professor S. M. Nasrul Quadir, Independent Director, serves as the Chairman of the Committee, and Mr. Mohammad
Musa, Company Secretary, acts as the Secretary to the Committee.

The NRC is responsible for formulating the Company’s policies on nomination, evaluation, and remuneration of the
Board and top-level management. It ensures that the Board composition, succession planning, and compensation
structures are aligned with the Company’s strategic goals, regulatory requirements, and best governance practices.

Statutory Audit

The Statutory Audit of the Company is conducted in accordance with the Companies Act, 1994, the BSEC guidelines,
and other applicable regulations. The shareholders appoint the External Auditors at the Annual General Meeting (AGM)
upon recommendation of the Board and in consultation with the Audit Committee.

The role of the statutory auditors includes the independent examination of financial statements, ensuring that they
provide a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position and performance. The scope of the audit, auditor
independence, and rotation are maintained in strict compliance with relevant statutory provisions and BSEC directives.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Company firmly believes that regulatory compliance is a cornerstone of sound governance and a key to sustaining
shareholder trust. Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC strictly adheres to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations of the
land in every area of operation.

The Company maintains regular communication with regulatory authorities such as the Bangladesh Securities and
Exchange Commission (BSEC), Registrar of Joint Stock Companies and Firms (RJSC), National Board of Revenue
(NBR), Department of Environment (DoE), and other relevant government agencies. All required filings, returns, taxes,
and duties are paid in due time.

The Company continually reviews its legal documents, licenses, and operational permissions to ensure continued
compliance with applicable laws. During the reporting year, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC remained fully compliant
with all regulatory obligations and maintained an unblemished record in fulfilling its statutory requirements.

Commitment to Transparency and Ethical Practices

At Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC, transparency and ethics are integral to corporate culture. The Company upholds the
principles of integrity, fairness, and openness in all its business dealings and interactions with shareholders,
employees, customers, suppliers, and regulatory authorities.

The Board and management are committed to continuous improvement in corporate governance practices by adopting
global best practices, promoting an open communication culture, and ensuring effective internal control and
accountability at every level of the organization.

Conclusion

Through a strong governance framework, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC ensures that the Company’s values,
operations, and strategic objectives are aligned with the interests of all stakeholders. By emphasizing compliance,
transparency, and responsible management, the Company continues to build a foundation for sustainable growth and
long-term value creation.
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Mr. Mohammed Golam Rasul Muktadir was born in a distinguished Muslim
family of Chattogram, Bangladesh in 1991. He is the fifth son of the late Mr.
Md. Abdullah, the Founder Chairman of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC. Mr.
Muktadir completed his graduation in Business Administration and
commenced his business career with ventures in private transport and fuel
distribution.

Having accumulated extensive experience in paper manufacturing and
marketing, he joined Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC and was appointed as
a Director on 30 April 2015, becoming the youngest member of the Board.
In the 155th Meeting of the Board held on 03 November 2022, he was
elected Vice-Chairman and served as a member of both the Audit Committee
MD. 'GOLAM RASUL MUKTADIR and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, performing his duties with
Chairman diligence and integrity.

Subsequently, Mr. Muktadir was unanimously elected as Chairman of the
Board in its 163rd Meeting held on 03 February 2024. With his visionary
leadership and business acumen, he continues to guide the company toward
sustainable growth and excellence.

Mr. Mohammed Golam Kibria born in 1981 in a renowned Muslim family of
Chattogram, is the second son of the late Mr. Md. Abdullah. He holds a
Master of Arts (M.A.) in Hadith and an International Diploma in Computer
Studies from NCC Education Services Ltd., Manchester, UK, along with an
NT course from a reputed institution.

Mr. Kibria embarked on his business career by joining the family enterprise
in 2000 with a vision to establish high industry standards and enhance
corporate performance. He served as Deputy Managing Director from 29
January 2001 to 29 January 2021, during which he played a pivotal role in
management, planning, and business development.

MD. GOLAM KIBRIA With profound expertise in the paper and tissue industry, trading, packaging,
Managing Director logistics, and energy management, Mr. Kibria was appointed as Managing

Director on 30 January 2021 (146th Board Meeting). Under his leadership,

the company has adopted modern management practices, driven
operational efficiency, and strengthened its position in the national market. ;
He is also actively engaged in various social welfare and community l"\
development initiatives.

Direc@gﬁrés@ 3

ANNUAL
REPORT



SOOI AT G (T fAeTs] Praafs
HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

PROFESSOR . M. NASRUL QUADIR

Independent Director

ANNUAL
REPORT

Professor S.M. Nasrul Quadir was born on 26 November 1964 in
Chattogram. He obtained his Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) in Finance in
1985 and Master’s in Finance and Banking in 1986 from the University of
Dhaka. He later completed a Post Graduate Diploma in Personnel
Management (PGDPM) from the Bangladesh Institute of Management in
1992 and an MBA in International Business from Birmingham, United
Kingdom, in 2009.

Professor Quadir began his academic career as a Lecturer in the Department
of Finance and Banking at the University of Chittagong in 1996. He is
currently serving as Professor and Dean of the Faculty of Business
Administration at the same university. He also serves as Vice-Chairman of
the Chittagong University Centre for Business Administration (CUCBA).
Additionally, he has been appointed as the Vice-Chancellor of Premier
University, Chattogram, further highlighting his academic leadership and
administrative excellence.

Throughout his distinguished career, Professor Quadir has held several key
positions, including Syndicate Member of the University of Chittagong, and
General Secretary and Treasurer of the Chittagong University Teachers’
Association. Prior to entering academia, he held managerial positions at ICl
Bangladesh Ltd. (a subsidiary of ICI plc, UK) and Linkers (Far East) Pte Ltd.,
Singapore, gaining valuable corporate and international experience.

Professor Quadir has published numerous research papers in reputed
national and international journals in the fields of finance, banking, and risk
management. He has also served as an advisor and consultant to several
corporate entities and is actively associated with various social and
professional organizations.

He was appointed as an Independent Director of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills
PLC in the 138th Board Meeting held on 27 April 2019, and reappointed for
a second term on 31 March 2022. He currently serves as the Chairperson of
both the Audit Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee,
where his extensive academic background, professional insight, and
leadership continue to strengthen the company’s governance framework and
strategic direction.
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Prof. Dr. RAFIUDDIN AHMED

Independent Director
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Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed was born on 03 November 1979. He obtained his BBA
(Hons.) and MBA in Marketing from the University of Dhaka in 2001 and
2002, respectively. He completed a Master’s in International Business from
the University of Melbourne, Australia (2009) under the Melbourne
University Graduate Merit Scholarship and earned his Ph.D. from La Trobe
University, Melbourne, in 2019.

Dr. Ahmed began his academic career at the University of Dhaka in
December 2005 and currently serves as a Professor in the Department of
Marketing. His research interests include marketing strategy, digital
marketing, entrepreneurship, and brand management, with numerous
publications in national and international journals.

He has worked as an advisor, consultant, and trainer for several corporate
firms and government institutions.

Professor Ahmed also plays an active role in various social and professional
organizations, including:

m Mentor and Juror, Bangladesh Blockchain Olympiad
m Co-founder, Marketing Watch Bangladesh (MWB)

® Founder, Brandz Hub

m  Member, Business Transformation Committee, BSEC

m Founder & Director, DUEDC (DU-BRAC Bank Entrepreneurship
Development Program)

He was appointed as an Independent Director in the 153rd Board Meeting
held on 03 August 2022 and is a member of both the Audit Committee and
the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. His academic depth and
analytical insight add significant value to the company’s strategic vision.
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Md. Amirul Islam, FCA, FCS, is a distinguished Chartered Accountant and
Chartered Secretary with more than four decades of professional expertise
in finance, auditing, corporate governance, and capital market operations in
Bangladesh.

He completed his B.Com. (Hons.) and M.Com. in Management from the
University of Dhaka, where he consistently secured top positions.
Professionally, he qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1981, obtained his
Banking Diploma in 1988, and became a Chartered Secretary in 1999. He is
a Fellow Member of both the Institute of Chartered Accountants of

Bangladesh (ICAB) and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries of Bangladesh
MD. AMIRUL ISLAM FCA, FCS  (icsB).

Independent Director Mr. Islam began his professional journey in audit practice before joining the

state-owned Bangladesh Shilpa Rin Sangstha (BSRS) in 1983. Over nearly
three decades, he advanced to the role of General Manager and frequently
performed as Managing Director (in charge). Following the merger of BSRS
and BSB into Bangladesh Development Bank Limited (BDBL), he continued
to serve in senior leadership positions, overseeing critical functions such as
finance, administration, investment banking, treasury, internal control,
compliance, and capital market operations. After his retirement in 2011, he
was re-engaged by BDBL as Senior Consultant and General Manager on
contract.

Since 2013, he has been Senior Partner at K. M. Hasan & Co., Chartered
Accountants, leading major audit and advisory engagements for banks,
financial institutions, insurance companies, manufacturing firms, and NGOs.
He has also served as Independent Director and Audit Committee Chairman
for several listed companies, including NCC Bank PLC, Hakkani Pulp & Paper
Mills PLC, Dacca Dyeing, Bangladesh Welding Electrodes, Aramit Cement,
aamra technologies, Gentral Insurance, and Agrani Insurance.

Mr. Islam has recently been appointed as an Independent Director of Hakkani
Pulp & Paper Mills PLC for a three-year term. His extensive expertise and
strong leadership are expected to enhance the Company’s governance and
strategic growth.

\-
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Mr. Md. Golam Morshed was born in 1985 in a reputed and respected Muslim
family of Chattogram, Bangladesh. He is the fourth son of the late Mr. Md.
Abdullah, the illustrious Founder Chairman of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC.
Mr. Morshed obtained his Master of Business Administration (MBA) degree and
began his professional journey by joining the family business soon after
completing his postgraduate studies.

Demonstrating commitment and leadership from an early stage, Mr. Morshed
was appointed as a Director of the company on 30 April 2015, actively
contributing to the company’s growth and operational excellence. In
recognition of his dedication, vision, and managerial competence, he was

elevated to the position of Deputy Managing Director in the 146th Meeting of
MD. GOLAM MORSHED the Board of Directors held on 30 January 2021. As Deputy Managing Director,
Deputy Managing Director Mr. Morshed plays a vital role in assisting the Managing Director in the overall
management and supervision of the company’s day-to-day operations.

He previously served as a Member of both the Audit Committee and the
Nomination & Remuneration Committee, where he contributed to the
formulation of effective governance policies and performance evaluation
frameworks.

Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum was born in 1952 into a respected Muslim family of
Chattogram. She is the wife of the late Mr. Md. Abdullah, the Founder
Chairman of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC. As a Sponsor Director, Mrs.
Begum has been closely associated with the company since its inception and
has played a pivotal role in shaping its strategic direction and long-term
growth.

She served as the Chairman of the Company from 04 May 2021 to 03
November 2022, during which she provided exemplary leadership to the
Board. Under her guidance, the company enhanced its operational
efficiency, strengthened its corporate governance framework, and reinforced

stakeholder confidence.

HOSNE ARA BEGUM

. Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum continues to serve as a Director of Hakkani Pulp &
Director

Paper Mills PLC, where her wisdom, integrity, and long-standing experience
remain invaluable to the company’s ongoing pursuit of sustainable growth

and excellence. ‘
‘ .
|
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Mrs. Farhana Ferdous was born on 10 November 1973 in a distinguished
Muslim family of Chattogram, Bangladesh. She is the daughter of the late
Mr. Md. Abdullah, the revered Founder Chairman of Hakkani Pulp & Paper
Mills PLC. Mrs. Ferdous holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Chattogram
Government Women’s College.

Mrs. Ferdous was appointed as a Director of the company in its 164th
Meeting of the Board of Directors held on 30 March 2024. Since her
appointment, she has been playing an active and constructive role in the
strategic decision-making process of the Board. Her prudent judgment,
commitment to ethical business practices, and dedication to corporate

transparency have strengthened the company’s governance framework and
FARHANA FERDOUS management oversight.

Director She also serves as a Member of both the Audit Committee and the

Nomination & Remuneration Committee, where she contributes to ensuring
accountability, compliance, and fairness in the company’s operational and
managerial affairs.

Beyond her corporate responsibilities, Mrs. Ferdous is a socially conscious
individual with deep involvement in community development and
philanthropic activities. Her leadership in various social welfare
organizations reflects her commitment to empowering women, supporting
education, and promoting social well-being. Her notable contributions
include:

m Founding Member and Former Chairperson, Swadesh Manob Kallyan
Society

m  Former President, Laxmichari Women Welfare Association, Khagrachari
Hill District

m Life Member, Lions Club Bailey Garden (Lions Club International District
315-B1)

Mrs. Ferdous has also represented Bangladesh in numerous international
forums and has traveled extensively across North America, Europe, the
Middle East, and Asia, including the USA, Canada, Turkey, KSA, UAE,
Jordan, and several European and Asian countries. Her global exposure has
enriched her business perspective, enabling her to contribute valuable
insights into the company’s strategic vision and corporate development.

With her strong sense of integrity, leadership qualities, and broad social L\ .
engagement, Mrs. Farhana Ferdous continues to make a meaningful
contribution to the sustainable growth and advancement of Hakkani Pulp & b

Paper Mills PLC.
Dire c1>9 %% 8
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Dear Shareholders, Investors, and Stakeholders,
Assalamu Alaikum and warm greetings to you all.

It is my great pleasure to present, on behalf of the Board of Directors, the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC for the year ended 30 June 2025. | wish to express my deepest gratitude
to our valued shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, and well-wishers for their unwavering confidence, trust,
and cooperation throughout the year.

Overview of the Year

The year 2024-2025 has been one of cautious progress amid persistent challenges. Global economic pressures, price
volatility of raw materials, and increased financial costs have continued to influence industrial operations in Bangladesh.
Despite these headwinds, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC has demonstrated strong resilience, operational discipline,
and financial prudence — enabling us to sustain growth, maintain stability, and uphold the confidence of our
stakeholders.

Through the collective efforts of management and employees, the Company maintained steady operations, improved
productivity, and strengthened its financial position.

Financial Performance

I am pleased to report that during FY 2024-2025, the Company achieved total revenue of Tk. 1,041.52 million, compared
to Tk. 1,005.25 million in the previous year — reflecting a modest but encouraging growth of approximately 3.6%.

Our gross profit stood at Tk. 159.78 million, marking an improvement from Tk. 145.20 million last year, driven by
efficiency in production and cost management.

After accounting for all expenses, net profit after tax reached a stable and positive trajectory despite economic
uncertainties.

As of 30 June 2025, total assets increased to Tk. 1,619.67 million from Tk. 1,540.12 million in FY 2023-2024 — a
growth of over 5%.

The Net Asset Value (NAV) per share stood at Tk. 24.24 (with revaluation) and Tk. 11.92 (without revaluation), compared
to Tk. 24.29 and Tk. 11.57 respectively in the previous year.

Moreover, the Company generated Tk. 93.91 million in net cash flows from operating activities, reflecting improved
operational efficiency and liquidity management.

Dividend Declaration lh.., N

In recognition of the Company’s performance and to reward our valued investors, the Board of Directors has
recommended a 5% Cash Dividend for General Shareholders only, excluding Sponsors and Directors, for the year ended
30 June 2025. The total amount of dividend distribution stands at Tk. 5.01 million, subject to approval in the 29th Annual
General Meeting.

29—
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This recommendation reflects the Board’s continued commitment to shareholder value while ensuring adequate
retention of earnings to support future growth and modernization initiatives.

Governance and Sustainability

The Board continues to emphasize strong corporate governance, transparency, and accountability across all functions
of the Company.

During the year, the Audit Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee (NRC) actively discharged their
oversight responsibilities to ensure that financial reporting, internal control, and compliance mechanisms remain robust
and effective.

The Company also reinforced its commitment to environmental and social responsibility by adopting sustainable
production practices, reducing waste, and ensuring compliance with all relevant environmental and labor regulations.

Future Outlook

Looking ahead, the Board remains cautiously optimistic about the prospects of the paper industry in Bangladesh. We
believe that rising demand for paper products in packaging, education, and commercial sectors presents an opportunity
for sustainable growth.

In this context, our strategic priorities will focus on:

e Exploring higher-value product segments;

e Strengthening cost and energy management systems; and

e Enhancing workforce skills and digital capabilities for improved competitiveness.

The Board will continue to guide management in pursuing prudent financial strategies, ensuring stability, and building
long-term value for shareholders.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend my sincere appreciation to the Managing Director and the
entire management team for their dedicated leadership and commitment during a challenging year.

| also express heartfelt gratitude to our employees for their hard work, and to our shareholders, customers, suppliers,
banks, and regulatory authorities — including the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission, Dhaka Stock
Exchange PLC, and Chittagong Stock Exchange PLC — for their continued cooperation and guidance.

With faith in Aimighty Allah, we remain confident that Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC will continue to progress with
integrity, resilience, and responsibility — creating long-term value for all stakeholders.

Thank you all.

With sincere regards,

(ot
Mohammed Golam Rasul Muktadir
Chairman
Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC
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MESSAGE FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Dear Shareholders and Stakeholders,
Assalamu Alaikum and warm greetings to you all.

Itis my privilege to present the operational performance and management review of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC for
the financial year ended 30 June 2025. On behalf of the management team, | extend heartfelt gratitude for your continued
trust, cooperation, and confidence in our Company, especially during a year marked by persistent economic and market
challenges.

Performance Overview

The year under review was characterized by rising input costs, global supply-chain disruptions, and liquidity pressures
in the domestic market. Despite these challenges, our Company continued to demonstrate resilience and operational
stability.

During FY 2024-2025, total revenue increased to Tk. 1,041.52 million, reflecting steady demand and effective
distribution efforts, compared to Tk. 1,005.25 million in the previous year. Our gross profit improved to Tk. 159.78
million (up from Tk. 145.20 million in 2023-2024), supported by disciplined procurement management and optimization
of production processes. After accounting for operating and financial expenses, the Company achieved a net profit after
tax of Tk. 1.41 million, slightly higher than the previous year’s Tk. 0.78 million.

Although profitability remained modest, it signifies continued recovery amid persistent cost pressures and reflects
management’s commitment to maintaining financial prudence and operational efficiency.

Financial Position and Cash Flow

As of 30 June 2025, the Company’s total assets stood at Tk. 1,619.67 million, compared to Tk. 1,540.12 million in the
previous year — a growth of nearly 5.17%. Shareholders’ equity remained strong at Tk. 460.51 million, maintaining
stability despite market headwinds.

Our Net Asset Value (NAV) per share stood at Tk. 24.24 (with revaluation) and Tk. 11.92 (without revaluation), compared
to Tk. 24.29 and Tk. 11.57 respectively in FY 2023-2024.

From an operational standpoint, net cash flows from operating activities amounted to Tk. 93.91 million, indicating a
healthy cash generation capacity and improved working-capital efficiency. This liquidity strength allowed us to meet all
financial obligations on time and sustain the Company’s day-to-day operations.

Dividend Recommendation g
]
\

In recognition of the Company’s consistent performance and to share the benefits with our valued investors, the Board
of Directors has recommended a 5% Cash Dividend for General Shareholders only, excluding Sponsors and Directors.
The total cash outflow involved will be Tk. 5.01 million, subject to approval at the 29th Annual General Meeting.

This prudent dividend decision reflects our balanced approach — rewarding shareholders while preserving adequate
reserves for business continuity and future investment. 31
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Strategic and Operational Progress

During the year, management focused on strengthening core operational areas and improving production reliability.

Key initiatives included:

Maintenance and modernization of machinery to enhance productivity and reduce downtime;
Streamlining raw-material procurement and inventory management to offset cost escalation;
Strengthening internal control, compliance, and risk-management systems;

Investing in employee training and technical capacity-building;

Expanding market reach through improved customer relations and distribution efficiency; and

Reinforcing sustainability practices in energy usage, waste management, and environmental compliance.

These steps not only supported financial stability but also positioned the Company for sustainable long-term growth.

We are optimistic that with continuous guidance from the Board, dedication from our employees, and trust from our
shareholders, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC will continue to move forward with renewed strength and purpose.

Acknowledgement

| would like to express my sincere appreciation to all our employees for their hard work and dedication, to our
customers, suppliers, and business partners for their continued confidence, and to our shareholders for their
unwavering support. | also extend heartfelt thanks to the Board of Directors for their strategic guidance and oversight.

May Almighty Allah bless us with continued success, prosperity, and the ability to serve our stakeholders with integrity
and excellence

With best regards,

Sincerely,

MohaMm Kibria

Managing Director
Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC

ANNUAL
REPORT



SOOI AT G (T fAeTs] Praafs
HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Fellow Shareholder(s),

It gives me great pleasure to extend a warm welcome to you all to the 29th Annual General Meeting of Hakkani Pulp &
Paper Mills PLC.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company, comprising the Directors’
Report, the Audited Financial Statements, and the Auditors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2025, for your
kind consideration, adoption, and approval.

This Annual Report has been prepared and presented in accordance with the provisions of Section 184 of the Companies
Act, 1994, and in full compliance with the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission’s (BSEC) Corporate
Governance Code (Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80, dated 03 June 2018).

1.0 Outlook of Paper & Tissue Industry in Bangladesh (FY 2024-25)
Papers and allied products — macro backdrop

Bangladesh remains a fast-growing emerging economy with important structural drivers that support medium-term
demand for paper and tissue products — rising urbanisation, expanding literacy, increasing per-capita income and
continued industrialisation. However, FY 2024-25 was marked by a more challenging operating environment: elevated
input and energy costs, tighter foreign-exchange and logistics frictions, and episodic domestic disruptions that weighed
on production and demand. These mixed macro and micro conditions mean that while structural demand is intact,
near-term industry performance is uneven.

Capacity, production and market structure

Private sector investment has rapidly increased domestic capacity. Independent industry studies estimate that
Bangladesh now hosts roughly 100—105 paper mills, with the combined annual production capacity of domestic mills
exceeding ~1.5 million metric tonnes (across writing, printing, board, packaging and tissue grades), although not all
capacity is fully utilised at all times. This capacity build-out has materially reduced dependence on imports for many
grades but has also increased competitive intensity and risks of over-supply in some segments.

Tissue sector dynamics

The tissue and hygiene segment has been one of the faster-growing subsectors over the past decade, supported by
hygiene awareness, retail modernisation and export opportunities. Historical reporting shows that national tissue
production capacity rose sharply in recent years (previously cited figures put capacity above ~84,000 tonnes), and many
local manufacturers now export finished tissue products to multiple markets. Nonetheless, FY 2024-25 saw a
moderation in tissue volumes and tighter margins for some players due to higher pulp/imported raw-material and energy
costs. The medium-term outlook remains favourable for well-positioned, cost-efficient producers.

Demand, supply gap and exports

Earlier industry projections for domestic demand had suggested the potential for around 1.0 million tonnes annually for
certain paper grades; however, the rapid capacity expansion combined with demand softness in parts of FY 2024-25 has
produced pockets of oversupply. On the positive side, exports of paper and allied products accelerated—industry
reporting indicates export growth (recent coverage noted a sharp year-on-year rise in paper and allied exports), creating
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REPORT

\-

33—



SOOI AT G (T fAeTs] Praafs
HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

opportunities for capacity utilisation and foreign-exchange earnings for competitive producers. Still, export growth faces
headwinds from regional logistics changes and higher trade costs. The Daily Star+1

Key risks observed in FY 2024-25

e Input-cost pressure: Imported pulp, waste-paper, chemicals and fuel/energy costs rose, squeezing margins —
especially for mills running older technology. thepulpandpapertimes.com

e Utilisation & oversupply: Significant installed capacity has reduced price discipline; several mills have reported
subdued utilisation or pressure on revenues. Research and Markets+1

e Trade & logistics: Policy and cross-border transit changes (notably the withdrawal of certain trans-shipment
facilitation arrangements) and global trade frictions have increased export logistics costs for some exporters.
Reuters

e Operational disruptions: Episodes of industrial and market disruption during FY 2024-25 (including intermittent
shutdowns in certain periods) negatively affected production and demand in parts of the year.
thepulpandpapertimes.com

Opportunities for FY 2025 and beyond

o Shift to higher-value grades: Packaging, specialty board, and premium tissue products continue to show stronger
demand and better margin profile. The Daily Star

*  Export diversification: Global supply contractions in certain sourcing countries (e.g., closures/reductions in some
Chinese/European capacity) create openings for competitive Bangladeshi mills to expand exports — provided they
maintain quality and cost competitiveness. The Daily Star+1

e Technology & sustainability: Investment in energy-efficient processes, recycling, and pulp substitution can
materially lower operating costs and improve compliance with international buyer requirements. Research and
Markets

Implications for Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC

In FY 2024-25 the company should continue to prioritise: (i) optimising capacity utilisation, (ii) tight control of input and
energy costs, (iii) diversification of product mix toward higher-value grades (tissue & packaging), and (iv) export
development supported by quality certifications and resilient logistics planning. These actions will help mitigate
near-term margin pressure and position the Company to capture upside as global and regional demand conditions
improve.

2.0 Segment-wise or Product-wise Performance

For management and reporting purposes, the Company operates under two distinct business segments based on the
nature of its products:

1. Paper Unit Segment — engaged in the production and sale of various grades of newsprint and writing paper to l ']
a network of dealers and institutional buyers. »

2. Tissue Unit Segment — engaged in the manufacturing of a wide range of tissue paper products, including facial
tissue, napkin tissue, hand towel, toilet tissue, and kitchen towel.

The segmental performance of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2025, compared with the previous year,
is presented below:
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Production (M. Ton) Sales (M. Ton)
Products
2024-2025 2023-2024 2024-2025 2023-2024
Newsprint Paper 4,030.80 3,840.30 4,015.03 3,767.12
Tissue Paper 2,517.40 2,940.85 2,556.46 2,823.37
Total 6,548.20 6,781.15 6,571.49 6,590.49

Performance Overview

During the financial year 2024-2025, total production stood at 6,548.20 metric tons, compared to 6,781.15 metric tons
in the previous year, reflecting a marginal decline of approximately 3.4%. This shortfall was primarily attributable to the
breakdown of the boiler and generator, temporary shutdowns of production machinery, scheduled maintenance of the
running plant, and frequent load shedding coupled with inadequate electricity and gas supply during the period.

The Newsprint Paper Segment registered moderate growth, supported by improved operational efficiency and stable
demand. Production increased by 5.0%, reaching 4,030.80 MT, while sales rose by 6.6% to 4,015.03 MT compared to
the previous year.

Conversely, the Tissue Paper Segment experienced a decline in output, primarily due to overall cost pressures. Production
decreased to 2,517.40 MT from 2,940.85 MT, and sales fell to 2,556.46 MT from 2,823.37 MT in the prior year.

Despite these challenges, the Company maintained a strong focus on quality assurance, cost control, and brand
strengthening, positioning itself to benefit from the gradual recovery in domestic and export demand in the coming
financial year.

3.0 Risk and Concerns Including Internal and External Risk Factors, Threats to Sustainability, and Environmental
Impact

Every business enterprise operates within an environment of inherent risks—some manageable through proactive
strategies, while others remain beyond direct control. Accordingly, risk identification, assessment, and mitigation remain
vital components of the Company’s sustainable business management framework.

During the year under review, the operating environment of the paper and tissue industry in Bangladesh continued to
face multiple challenges, particularly relating to the shortage and high cost of power and gas, fluctuation in raw material
prices, increased import costs, and volatile foreign exchange rates. The ongoing energy crisis and inconsistent gas
supply significantly impacted production efficiency and cost management across the industry.

Despite these external adversities, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC has taken a proactive approach to mitigate such risks
by emphasizing efficient resource utilization, preventive maintenance of machinery, cost optimization, and enhanced
operational discipline. The Company continues to strengthen its supply chain management and energy efficiency
initiatives to minimize operational disruptions and maintain steady production.

The Board of Directors and Management maintain continuous oversight of internal control systems, risk exposures, and
environmental compliance to ensure the long-term profitability, sustainability, and reputation of the Company. l ' 0
Environmental management remains a top priority, with the Company adhering strictly to applicable environmental laws § &
and focusing on reducing emissions, ensuring safe effluent discharge, and promoting eco-friendly production practices.

Notwithstanding these measures, it is recognized that risks such as economic volatility, energy scarcity, and
environmental constraints continue to influence the Company’s operations and financial outcomes. Therefore, investors
and stakeholders are advised to consider these potential factors in their evaluation of the Company’s performance and
future prospects.
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A detailed discussion of the major risks, along with the Company’s mitigation strategies and management responses, is
provided in Note No. 37 of the Financial Statements and the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this Annual
Report.

4.0 Discussion on Cost of Goods Sold, Gross Profit Margin, and Net Profit Margin

The Cost of Goods Sold (COGS) represents the direct costs associated with the production of goods, including raw
materials, direct labor, and manufacturing overheads. During the financial year 2024-2025, the Company’s COGS stood
at Tk. 881.74 million, compared to Tk. 860.05 million in 2023-2024, reflecting an increase of approximately 2.46%
primarily due to higher input and utility costs.

The Gross Profit Margin, a key indicator of operational efficiency and pricing strategy, stood at 15.34% during the year
under review, up from 14.44% in the previous year. This improvement was mainly attributable to enhanced sales
performance, optimized resource utilization, and disciplined cost management despite a challenging cost environment.

The Net Profit Margin, which reflects the Company’s overall profitability after tax and other expenses, increased to 0.14%
from 0.08% in the preceding year. The net profit after tax for the year amounted to Tk. 1.41 million, compared to Tk. 0.78
million in FY 2023-2024, registering a growth of approximately 44.69%. The positive trend demonstrates the Company’s
continued focus on operational efficiency, cost control, and prudent financial management.

A comparative summary of key financial indicators is presented below:

Particulars 2024-2025 (Tk.) | 2023-2024 (Tk.)| Change (%)
Cost of Goods Sold 881,738,154 860,050,387 2.46%
Gross Profit 159,784,057 145,200,530 9.13%
Net Profit 1,411,620 780,707 44.69%
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5.0 Extra-Ordinary Activities and their Implications (Loss or Gain):

Extraordinary items represent gains or losses that are both infrequent in occurrence and unusual in nature, arising outside
the normal course of a company’s regular business operations and having a material impact on financial performance.

During the financial year 2024-2025, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC did not incur or engage in any such
extraordinary transactions or events that could materially affect its financial position or operating results. Accordingly,
there were no extraordinary gains or losses recognized in the financial statements for the year under review.

The Company’s operations during the year continued to reflect its regular business activities, and all income and
expenditures recorded in the financial statements pertain solely to ordinary course of business.

6.0 Discussion on Related Party Transactions

During the financial year, Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC engaged in several transactions with its related parties. All
such transactions were conducted in the normal course of business, in accordance with applicable laws, regulations, and
the company’s internal policies.

The Company ensures that related party transactions are carried out with due transparency and proper documentation,
maintaining the integrity of financial reporting.

Comprehensive details of these related party transactions — including the amounts involved, nature of the relationships
and type of transactions — are disclosed in Note No. 39 of the Audited Financial Statements.

7.0 Utilization of Proceeds Raised through Public Issues and Rights Issues

The Company hereby confirms that there are no unutilized proceeds remaining from the Public Issues or Rights Issues. The
entire amount of proceeds raised was fully utilized during the financial years 2002-2003 and 2003-2004, respectively.

All utilizations were made strictly in accordance with the objectives and purposes disclosed in the respective
prospectuses and duly approved by the regulatory authorities. The Company maintains proper documentation and
accountability for the deployment of such funds, ensuring full transparency and compliance with the relevant laws,
rules, and regulations.

8.0 Financial Performance Following Initial Public Offering (IPO) and Rights Share Issue

The Company affirms that no deterioration or adverse change in its financial performance has occurred subsequent to
the Initial Public Offering (IPO).

Since its listing, the Company has continued to demonstrate stable operational performance, consistent earnings, and
sustainable profitability. This reflects prudent financial management, effective operational control, and a continued
commitment to maintaining the confidence of shareholders and stakeholders.

9.0 Significant Variance between Quarterly Financial Performances and Annual Financial Statements

During the financial year 2024-2025, the Company reported the following Earnings Per Share (EPS) in its quarterly
financial statements:

e  First Quarter (July 2024 — September 2024): Tk. 0.03

e Second Quarter (October 2024 — December 2024): Tk. 0.23
e  Third Quarter (January 2025 — March 2025): Tk. 0.03

e Annual EPS: Tk. 0.07
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Upon review, it is observed that the Company maintained a generally consistent financial performance throughout the
year. The variations in quarterly earnings are attributable to normal seasonal and operational factors inherent to the
Company’s business cycle and do not represent any material deviation or significant variance when compared with the
annual financial results.

Accordingly, there has been no significant inconsistency or irregularity between the quarterly financial performances and
the annual audited financial statements.

10.0 Remuneration Paid to the Directors Including Independent Directors

The Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director of the Company were remunerated in accordance with the
provisions of the Nomination and Remuneration Policy and as duly approved by the Board of Directors.

The Directors, including the Independent Directors, did not receive any remuneration other than the attendance fees for
participating in the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, and the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee (NRC). The structure and amount of such fees were also approved by the Board in line with the Company’s
policy and applicable regulatory guidelines.

A detailed statement showing the Directors’ remuneration and related disclosures is presented in Note No. 27 of the
Audited Financial Statements.

11.0 Statement on the Fair Presentation of Financial Statements

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that the financial statements of the Company reflect a
true and fair view of its financial position, performance, cash flows, and changes in equity, in accordance with sound
corporate governance practices.

In compliance with the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission’s (BSEC) Corporate Governance Code,
Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated June 03, 2018, the Board of Directors hereby confirms,
to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:

a) The financial statements prepared by the management of the Company present fairly its state of affairs, the
results of operations, cash flows, and changes in equity for the year ended.

b) Proper books of account have been maintained by the Company as required by law.

c) Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial statements,
and the accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

d) The applicable International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs), as adopted in Bangladesh, have been duly followed in the preparation of the financial statements, and
any departures therefrom have been adequately disclosed in the notes to the accounts.

12.0 System of Internal Control

The Board of Directors ensures that the Company maintains a robust and effective system of internal control designed '
to safeguard its assets, ensure the reliability of financial reporting, and uphold compliance with all applicable laws, I‘H .
regulations, and internal policies.

The Company has adopted comprehensive Standard Operating Procedures to strengthen its internal control framework
and minimize operational, financial, and compliance risks. An Internal Audit Department operates independently to
evaluate and enhance the effectiveness of internal control systems and to ensure continuous compliance with
established policies and procedures.
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The Audit Committee, as a sub-committee of the Board, provides active oversight of the internal control and audit
functions. It regularly reviews internal audit reports, discusses significant findings, and monitors the implementation
of corrective actions by management.

In accordance with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board has constituted two sub-committees—
e the Audit Committee, and
e the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC).
Both Committees play a pivotal role in ensuring sound governance and an effective internal control environment.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met on a quarterly basis to review the quarterly and annual financial
statements, discuss key audit observations, evaluate the effectiveness of the internal control systems, and ensure
compliance with accounting policies and standards. The Committee’s observations and recommendations were duly
considered and acted upon by the management.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee convened during the year to develop and recommend the policy for
nomination, evaluation, and remuneration of the Directors and top-level executives, ensuring alignment with
regulatory requirements and good governance practices.

13.0 Protection of Minority Shareholders’ Interest

The Board of Directors is committed to upholding the rights and protecting the interests of minority shareholders. The
Board ensures that minority shareholders are protected from any abusive actions by controlling shareholders or
management, whether direct or indirect, and that effective mechanisms for redress are in place.

All shareholders are treated equitably, and the Company maintains a transparent framework for disclosure and
communication to enable minority shareholders to exercise their rights effectively and participate meaningfully in
corporate decisions.

14.0 Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The Board of Directors confirms that the Company possesses adequate financial, operational, and managerial resources
to continue its operations for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors have adopted the going concern
assumption in the preparation of the financial statements.

Based on the Company’s current financial performance, revenue generation capacity, and resource availability, the Board
is satisfied that the Company remains well-positioned to meet its existing obligations and to sustain its ongoing business
operations without material disruption.

Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the Board affirms that there exists
no material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

15.0 Significant Deviations from the Last Year’s Operating Results

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the results derived from the Company’s core
business operations. Since its inception, Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC (HPPMPLC) has demonstrated steady
growth and consistent operational performance across its business segments.

During the financial year 2024—-2025, the Company reported Net Sales Revenue of Tk. 1,041,522,211, representing an
increase of 3.48% compared to the previous year. The Profit after Tax stood at Tk. 1,411,620, while the Earnings Per
Share (EPS) amounted to Tk. 0.07, as against Tk. 0.04 in the previous financial year.

The key factors contributing to the year-on-year variations in Earnigs Per Share (EPS) and Cash Flows From operating
Activities are explained in Note No. 32.00 and Note No. 35.00 of the Audited Financial Statements. The following is a
summary of the principal movements and management’s analysis thereof:
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Revenue

During the year under review, total sales revenue increased by Tk. 36,271,294 compared to the previous year, primarily
driven by higher sales volume and improved product mix. This reflects the Company’s enhanced market presence and
efficient marketing strategies.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales increased compared to the previous year due to the rise in unit prices of gas and electricity, which
directly impacted production costs. Despite the increase, the Company continued to maintain efficient production control
and waste reduction measures.

Administrative Expenses

The Company’s administrative expenses decreased compared to the previous year, mainly due to a reduction in
employee-related costs and other operating overheads, reflecting the management’s ongoing focus on cost optimization
and operational efficiency.

Selling Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased notably during the year, primarily due to higher carriage outward and related
logistics expenses. This increase corresponds with the growth in sales activities and market expansion efforts.

Financial Expenses

The Company’s financial expenses increased significantly compared to the previous year. The increase was mainly
attributable to higher bank interest charges on Bai-Muazzal Loan, Baim Wes Bills, LATR facilities from Social Islami Bank
PLC, and CC Hypo Loan from Mercantile Bank PLC. The Company continues to manage its borrowings prudently to
balance growth financing with cost efficiency.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

The Earnings Per Share (EPS) for the year stood at Tk. 0.07, compared to Tk. 0.04 in the previous year, marking a notable
improvement in shareholder returns. The growth in EPS was primarily driven by increased sales revenue, better
operational efficiency, and effective cost management. This improvement demonstrates the Company’s strengthened
profitability and enhanced ability to generate value for its shareholders.

Net Operating Cash Flows Per Share (NOCFPS)

The Net Operating Cash Flows Per Share (NOCFPS) for the year amounted to Tk. 4.94, compared to Tk. 7.15 in the
previous year. The decrease in operating cash flows was primarily due to higher cash outflows for payments to
suppliers, operating expenses, and other working capital requirements. This reduction reflects a temporary decline in
cash generated from core operations, consistent with the Company’s increased business activities during the year.

Overall, despite fluctuations in certain cost components and cash flows, Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC maintained
its operational resilience, demonstrating consistent growth in profitability and a continued commitment to sustainable
value creation for its shareholders.

16.0 Key Operating and Financial Data of the Last Five Years

The Company presents below a summary of key operating and financial data for the last five (5) financial years, providing
a comparative overview of its performance and financial position. This data is intended to offer shareholders and
stakeholders a clear perspective on the Company’s operational trends and financial growth over the period:
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Key operating and financial data of preceding 5 (Five) years:

Annexure-(i)

Para-

Particulars meter 2024-2025 2023-2024 2022-2023 2021-2022 2020-2021
Operation and Market:
Production Capacity MT 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500
Actual Production MT 6,548 6,781 6,770 4,914 3,918
Sales Quantity MT 6,781 6,590 6,835 4,993 3,881
Financial Results:
Sales Revenue TK 1,041,522,211 1,005,250,917 1,085,427,111 538,238,090 389,968,195
TK 159,784,057 145,200,530 137,443,325 54,955,601 72,982,633
Gross Profit
% 15.34% 14.44% 12.66% 10.21% 18.72%
TK 83,564,288 68,642,858 68,466,812 13,464,201 32,004,346
Operating Profit
% 8.02% 6.83% 6.31% 2.50% 8.21%
TK 17,474,215 7,209,572 15,773,401 (17,802,266) (23,034,016)
Net Profit before Tax
% 1.68% 0.72% 1.45% (3.31%) (5.91%)
TK 1,411,620 780,707 16,912,856 (24,610,668) (24,306,924)
Net Profit after Tax
% 0.14% 0.08% 1.56% (4.57%) (6.23%)
Earnings Per Share (EPS) TK 0.07 0.04 0.89 (1.30) (1.28)
Dividend (Cash) % Cash divide?d(% Cash divide%d@ Cash dividegd{g Cash divideld(% Cash divideld(g
only general Shareholders all shareholders all shareholders | only general shareholders | only general shareholders
Financial Position:
Paid-up Capital TK 190,000,000 190,000,000 190,000,000 19,00,00,000 19,00,00,000
Current Ratio 1.78:1 1.74:1 1.32:1 1.31:1 1.37:1
Non-Current Assets
with Revaluation TK 869,398,864 875,669,422 861,182,096 867,751,848 828,686,944
Current Assets TK 750,272,773 664,450,362 663,371,090 609,601,670 640,110,861
Current Liabilities TK 422,328,046 382,629,738 501,833,284 465,532,422 467,248,409
Net Current Assets TK 327,944,727 281,820,624 161,537,806 144,069,248 172,862,452
Net Assets Value
with Revaluation TK 460,514,917 461,487,017 464,607,789 447,546,925 474,282,768
Net Assets Value
without Revaluation TK 226,498,176 219,789,349 214,705,715 188,880,440 206,252,742
Net Assets Value Per Share
with Revaluation TK 24.24 24.29 24.45 23.56 24.96
Net Assets Value Per Share
without Revaluation TK 11.92 11.57 11.30 9.94 10.86
Net Operating
Cash Flow Per Share TK 4.94 7.15 463 (0.08) 0.21
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17.0 Dividend

During the financial year 2024-2025, Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC (HPPMPLC) achieved a Profit After Tax of Tk.
1,411,620, with Earnings Per Share (EPS) of Tk. 0.07. As of 30 June 2025, the Company’s Retained Earnings amounted
to Tk. 26,668,816, and the Dividend Equalization Reserve stood at Tk. 11,237,712. In addition, the Net Operating Cash
Flows per Share (NOCFPS) was Tk. 4.94.

In light of the Company’s financial performance and to ensure equitable distribution of profits, the Board of Directors has
recommended @ 5% (Five Percent) Cash Dividend, only for shareholders other than Sponsors, for the year ended June
30, 2025, subject to approval in the 29th AGM. The board also confirms the following information-

e Total number of sponsor shares: 8,982,130
e Total number of public (non-sponsor) shares: 10,017,870
e Total amount of dividend: Tk. 5,008,935 (on public shares only)

The Board further confirms that no bonus shares or stock dividends have been, or will be, declared as interim dividends
during the year.

18.0 Number of Board Meetings Held and Attendance by Directors

During the financial year 2024-2025, the Board of Directors of Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC convened a total of
four (4) Board Meetings to review and deliberate on strategic, operational, and governance matters. These meetings
provided a platform for thorough discussion, decision-making, and monitoring of the Company’s performance.

The attendance record of the Directors at these meetings is as follows:

SI. No. Name of Directors Position _T?)tfaIIB(:\Iaur?g?_r I;tft([e)ril:leacr;g::ss
Directors Meeting
1 Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir Chairman 4 3
2 Md. Golam Kibria Managing Director 4 4
3 Prof. S. M. Nasrul Quadir Independent Director 4 4
4 Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed Independent Director 4 4
) Md. Golam Morshed Deputy Managing Director 4 4
6 Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum Director 4 4
7 Mrs. Farhana Ferdous Director 4 4

Active participation of the Board is essential to ensure effective oversight, strategic guidance, and sound corporate
governance. The Board’s commitment to regular attendance and constructive engagement enables informed
decision-making in the best interests of the Company and its stakeholders. l :
L]
| N

19.0 Shareholding Information

The shareholding structure of the Company as of 30 June 2025 is detailed in Annexure-Il of this Annual Report. The o
annexure provides a comprehensive breakdown of share ownership, including major shareholders, institutional
holdings, and distribution among individual investors.

Transparency in shareholding is a cornerstone of good corporate governance, as it fosters trust among investors, 42 —
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ensures equitable treatment of all shareholders, and enhances accountability. By disclosing detailed shareholding
information, the Company demonstrates its commitment to openness, regulatory compliance, and the protection of
shareholder rights.

20. Directors’ Appointment, Retirement & Re-appointment

The appointment, retirement, and re-appointment of Directors are governed by the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Companies Act 1994. Accordingly, at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM), the following
Directors will retire and are eligible for re-appointment:

1.  Mr. Mohammed Golam Rasul Muktadir
2. Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum
3. Mrs. Farhana Ferdous

Their reappointment will be placed before the shareholders for approval at the AGM. Brief résumés of these Directors are
provided in the Annual Report.

21.0 Independent Director

In compliance with the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission’s Corporate Governance Code (Notification No.
BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 3rd June 2018), every listed company is required to appoint
Independent Directors constituting at least one-fifth of the Board of Directors.

As per the Code, Independent Directors must possess integrity and professional knowledge to ensure compliance with
financial, regulatory, and corporate laws. They are expected to make meaningful contributions to the company’s
business operations and must have a minimum of twelve (12) years of corporate management or professional
experience.

Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC has appointed two highly experienced professionals as Independent Directors, each
with a proven track record in corporate governance and business management, in line with the directives of the BSEC
Corporate Governance Code.

= Appointment of Independent Director

The Board of Directors of Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC, in its 169th meeting held on 29th April 2025, approved the
appointment of Mr. Amirul Islam, FCA, FCS, as an Independent Director. The appointment was subsequently approved
by the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission on 12th August 2025. This appointment will also be submitted
to the shareholders for approval at the forthcoming AGM. Brief résumés of the Indpendent Directors are provided in the
Annual Report.

22.0 Credit Rating

The Credit Rating Agency of Bangladesh Limited (CRAB) has assigned the following credit ratings to the Company for
the fiscal year 2024-2025:

Category Rating Outlook

Long Term BBB1 Stable

Short Term ST-3 Stable
ANNUAL
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A comprehensive analysis of the Company’s operational and financial performance for the year ended 30th June 2025 is
presented in a separate annexure. This includes a discussion of key changes in the financial statements and other
significant developments affecting the Company.

24.0 Declaration/Certification by the CEO and CFO

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In compliance with Condition No. 3(3) of the Corporate Governance Code, detailed declarations and certifications by the
CEO and CFO have been submitted to the Board. The full declaration is attached as a separate annexure.

25.0 Audit Committee

In accordance with the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission’s Corporate Governance Code (Notification No.
BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 3rd June 2018), the Company has an Audit Committee as a
subcommittee of the Board of Directors with clearly defined Terms of Reference (TOR).

The current Audit Committee was reconstituted by the Board in its 165th meeting held on 29th April 2024 and comprises
the following members:

Committee Members Board Position Role in Committee
Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir Independent Director Chairman
Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed Independent Director Member
Mrs. Farhana Ferdous Non-Executive Director Member
Mr. Mohammad Musa Company Secretary Secretary

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the results of internal and external audits with management, including
matters required to be communicated under generally accepted auditing standards. The members possess significant
expertise in corporate law, finance, business management, and financial statement analysis, ensuring effective oversight
of the Company’s financial reporting and internal controls.

26.0 Nomination & Remuneration Committee

In compliance with the BSEC Corporate Governance Gode, Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC has established a
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) as a Board subcommittee.

The NRC was reconstituted in the 165th Board meeting held on 29th April 2024 and comprises the following members:

Committee Members

Board Position

Role in Committee

Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir Independent Director Chairman
Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed Independent Director Member
Mrs. Farhana Ferdous Non-Executive Director Member
Mr. Mohammad Musa Company Secretary Secretary

l .
The Committee held its seventh meeting during the year, focusing on reviewing policies, processes, and corporate -
governance matters. Key deliberations and recommendations included: .

1. Reviewed the implementation status of decisions taken in the previous meeting.

2. Reviewed and recommended the appointment of Mr. Amirul Islam, FCA, FCS as Independent Director of the
Company in accordance with Clause 1(2) of the Corporate Governance Code. 44 —
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3. Reviewed the Management Letter issued by the External Auditors, particularly points 3, 4, and 5 concerning
Employee Benefits, Workers’ Profit Participation Fund (WPPF), and uninvested participation funds. The
Committee recommended the formulation of Service Rules and a comprehensive Human Resource Policy to
address these issues.

4. Recommended the appointment of Mr. Md. Saleh Ahmed as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) (In-Charge) from
internal resources until the appointment of a permanent CFO from external sources.

5. Reviewed and recommended new appointments and promotions of employees within the Company during the
reporting period.

6. Reviewed and approved the Code of Conduct for the Chairperson, Managing Director, and other Board
Members.

7. Reviewed and recommended the Terms of Reference (ToR) for the Audit Committee.

8. Reviewed and recommended the ToR and Policy for the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) itself.
9. Reviewed the criteria for determining qualifications and positive attributes of top-level executives.

10. Reviewed and recommended the remuneration structure for top-level executives.

11. Reviewed and recommended the Roles and Responsibilities of the Chairperson, Managing Director, Company
Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, and Head of Internal Audit.

12. Reviewed and recommended the criteria for evaluating the performance of Independent Directors and other
Board Members.

The NRC ensures that the Company’s leadership and governance framework aligns with best practices and statutory
requirements, promoting transparency, accountability, and merit-based management.

27.0 Appointment of Statutory Auditors

The existing statutory auditors, M/S. Khan Wahab Shafique Rahman & Co., Chartered Accountants, were appointed at
the 28th Annual General Meeting and have successfully completed their responsibilities for the year under review. The
auditors have expressed their willingness to continue, being eligible for reappointment.

The Board of Directors of Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC has recommended the reappointment of M/S. Khan Wahabh
Shafique Rahman & Co., Chartered Accountants as statutory auditors for the financial year 2025-2026. The proposed
audit fee is BDT 350,000/- (Three Lac Fifty Thousand) excluding VAT. This recommendation will be submitted to the
shareholders for approval at the 29th Annual General Meeting.

28.0 Appointment of Compliance Auditors

The existing compliance auditors, M/S. Shafiq Basak & Co., Chartered Accountants, were appointed at the 28th Annual
General Meeting and have successfully completed their responsibilities for the year under review. l""~ ’

The Board of Directors has recommended the reappointment of M/S. Shafiq Basak & Co., Chartered Accountants as
Corporate Governance Compliance Auditors for the financial year 2025-2026, with a proposed fee of BDT 35,000/ (Fifty
Thousand) excluding VAT. This matter will also be placed before the shareholders for approval at the 29th Annual
General Meeting.

45—
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The Company’s compliance with the requirements and conditions of the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange
Commission (BSEC) Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80 dated 3rd June 2018 on Corporate
Governance has been duly reviewed. A detailed report on the status of compliance is provided in Annexure-G.31.0 of

29. Reporting and Certification on Compliance with Corporate Governance

this Annual Report

30. Auditors’ Observation:

Auditors’ Observation

Management’s Explanation and Commentary

Significant decreased in net operating cash
flow per share (NOCFPS):

As disclosed in Note 35, the Company’s Net
Operating Cash Flow per Share (NOCFPS) has
significantly decreased to Tk. 4.95 for the year
ended June 30, 2025, compared to Tk. 7.15
for the year ended June 30, 2024. This decline
is mainly attributable to higher cash outflows
related to payments to suppliers, increased
operating expenses, and other operating
disbursements.

The Management acknowledges the auditors’ observation
regarding the decrease in Net Operating Cash Flow per Share
(NOCGFPS) for the year ended June 30, 2025.

The decline to Tk. 4.95 from Tk. 7.15 in the previous year primarily
resulted from higher cash outflows for raw material purchases,
increased utility and operating expenses, and timing differences in
supplier payments.

Despite the temporary reduction in operating cash flow, the
Company maintained stable sales and profitability during the year,
supported by efficient operations and prudent cost control.
Management expects the NOCFPS to improve in the following
fiscal year as supply chain conditions stabilize, working capital
requirements normalize, and operational efficiency initiatives
continue to yield benefits.

31. Subsequent Events

No subsequent events have occurred between the date of the Financial Position and the date of this report that could

materially affect the users’ ability to evaluate the Company’s financial statements.

32. Declaration of the Board of Directors

The Board confirms that:

e Financial statements fairly present the state of affairs;

e Proper books of account have been maintained;

e Accounting policies have been consistently applied;

e |AS/IFRS have been followed and any departures disclosed;

e Internal controls are sound and effectively implemented;

e Minority shareholders are protected;

e The Company is a going concern;

e Key financial data of the past five years are summarized;

e Dividend and bonus share policies, if any, are explained.
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33. Acknowledgements

The Board expresses sincere gratitude to all employees, investors, shareholders, bankers, financial institutions,
insurance companies, regulatory authorities (BSEC, DSE, CSE, NBR, Bangladesh Bank), customers, and dealers for their
continued support and contribution.

Farewell Message from the Chairman

As we conclude another year of resilience, | extend my heartfelt thanks to our shareholders, employees, and partners for
their unwavering trust. Our journey is built on strong governance, dedication, and the collective effort of all stakeholders.
| am confident that Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC will continue to achieve greater milestones while upholding the
highest standards of corporate governance and integrity. Together, we look forward to a future of sustainable growth and
shared success.

On behalf of Board of Directors.

[yt
Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir
Chairman

Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC
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Annexure-A

[As per condition No. 1(5) (xxvi]

HAKANI PULP AND PAPER MILLS PLC
Declaration by CEO and CFO

Date: 27 October 2025

The Board of Directors,

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC
2/10, D.T Road, North Pahartali,
Chattogram, Bangladesh.

Subject: Declaration on Financial Statements for the year ended on 30th June 2025.

Dear Sir(s),

Pursuant to the condition No. 1(5) (xxvi) imposed vide the Commission’s Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-
158/207/Admin/80 Dated 03 June 2018 under section 2CC of Securities and Exchange Ordinance, 1969, we do hereby
declare that:

(1)

The Financial Statements of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC for the year ended on 30th June
prepared in compliance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) or International Fir
Standards (IFRS), as applicable in the Bangladesh and any departure there from has been adequa

The estimates and judgments related to the financial statements were made on prudent and rea
order for the financial statements to reveal a true and fair view;

The form and substance of transactions and the Company’s state of affairs have been reas
presented in its financial statements;

To ensure above, the Company has taken proper and adequate care in installing a system of int
maintenance of accounting records;

Our internal auditors have conducted periodic audits to provide reasonable assurance that the es
and procedures of the Company were consistently followed; and

The management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial stateme
and there exists no material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast signific

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
In this regard, we also certify that:-
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(i) We have reviewed the financial statements for the year ended on 30th June 2025 and that to the best of our

knowledge and belief:

(a) these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain
statements that might be misleading;

(b) these statements collectively present true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with
existing accounting standards and applicable laws.

(i) There are, to the best of knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year
which are fraudulent, illegal or in violation of the code of conduct for the company’s Board of Directors or its
members.

Sincerely yours,

%X ﬁ _'F—l:.
Md. Golam Kibria MdSaleh Ahmed

Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
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SHAFIQ BASAK & CO.

CHATTOGRAM OFFICE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS DHAKA OFFICE (1)

National House (15t Floor) Satabdi Centre (6th & 4thFloor)

109, Agrabad Commercial Area Partners : 292, Inner Circular Road

Chattogram-4100, Bangladesh ; Fakirapool, Motijheel, Dhaka

Phone  : 88-031-711561 gﬁ?n S:gfllggﬁfrl%rgé;f‘gc A Phone : 88-02-7194870

Pho/Fax : 88-031-723680 p ’ Pho/Fax : 88-02-7192098

Web : www.shafigbasak.com Sarwar Mahmood, FCA Web : www.shafigbasak.com

E-mail : basak sbc@yahoo.com Md. Ashraful Hoque, FCA E-mail: shafiq_basak@yahoo.com
basak(@shafigbasak.com shafiq@shafigbasak.com

ANNEXURE-B
[As per condition No 1(5)(xxvii)

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE ON CONDITIONS OF
THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES
To the Board of Directors of HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

We have examined the compliance status to the Corporate Governance Code by Hakkni Pulp & Paper Mills PLC as on 30
June 2025. This Code relates to the Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80, dated 03 June 2018,
BSEC/CMRRCD/2009-193/66/PRD/148, dated 16 October 2023, BSEC/CMRRCD/2009-193/76/PRD/151, dated 04 April 2024
and BSEG/ICAD/CGD/2023/106/Part-1/373, dated 29 July 2025 of the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission.

Such compliance with the Corporate Governance Code is the responsibility of the Company. Our Examination was limited
to the procedures and implementation thereof as adopted by the Management in ensuring compliance to the conditions
of the Corporate Governance Code.

This is a scrutiny and verification and an independent audit on compliance of the conditions of the Corporate Governance
Code as well as the provisions of relevant Bangladesh Secretarial Standards (BSS) as adopted by Institute of Chartered
Secretaries of Bangladesh (ICSB) in so far as those standards are not inconsistent with any condition of this Corporate
Governance Code.

We state that we have obtained all the information and explanations, which we have required, and after due scrutiny and
verification thereof, we report that, in our opinion:

a. The Company has complied with the conditions of the Corporate Governance Code as stipulated in the
above-mentioned Corporate Governance Code issued by the Commission;

b. The company has complied with the provisions of the relevant Bangladesh Secretarial Standards (BSS) as adopted
by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries of Bangladesh (ICSB) as required by this Code;

c. Proper books and records have been kept by the company as required under the Companies Act, 1994, the
securities laws and other relevant laws; and

d. The governance of the company is satisfactory.

Md. Ashraful Haque FCA l 0
b

Date: October 30, 2025 Enrolment # 0976
Place: Chattogram Partner
Shafiq Basak & Co. o,

Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENTMEMBER OF  DHAKA OFFICE (2) : House-42 (1st Floor), Road-01, Block-A, Niketan, Gulshan-01, Dhaka
ABACUS Phone : 88-02-9859602-3, 01819-285196, E-mail : mahmoods.bd @gmail.com
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Annexure-C
[As per Condition No. 1(5) (xxvii)]

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATUS REPORT

Status of compliance with the conditions imposed by the Commission’s Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80,
dated: 03 June 2018 and Notification No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2009-193/66/PRD/148, dated: 16 October 2023 issued under section 2CC

of the Securities and Exchange Ordinance, 1969:

Compliance Status
- (Put ' in the
co"ﬂf'“" Title appropriate column) F({ﬁ"a‘:;';s
. Not
Complied Complied
1 2 3 4 5
1 Board of Directors:
Size of the Board of Directors
10M) The total number of members of a company’s Board of Directors The Board has been
(hereinafter referred to as “Board”) shall not be less than 5 (five) and \ consisted of 7 (Seven)
more than 20 (twenty). Members.
Independent Directors
12) All companies shall have effective representation of independent directors on their Board, so that the Board, as a group,
includes core competencies considered relevant in the context of each company; for this purpose, the companies shall
comply with the following:
Atleast one-fifth (1/5) of the total number of directors in the company’s There are 2 (Two)
Board shall be independent directors; any fraction shall be considered v ) .
1(2)(a)(i) ] ) Independent Director join
to the next integer or whole number for calculating number of
) ) on the Board.
independent director(s);
Appointment deadline
for female Independent
1(2)(a)ii) Provided that the Board shall appoint at least 1 (one) female independent Director extended to 31
) ) . December 2025 as per
director in the board of directors of the compan
pany BSEC Circular Ref. No.
BSEC/ICAD/CGD/2023/
106/Part-1/373.
1(2)(b) For the purpose of this clause “independent director” means a director-
12)(b)() who either does not hold any share in the company or holds less
than one percent (1%) shares of the total paid-up shares of the company; N
Who is not a sponsor of the company and is not connected with the
company’s any sponsor or director or shareholder who holds one
percent (1%) or more shares of the total paid-up shares of the
1(2)(b)(ii) company on the basis of family relationship. His/her family members \
also should not hold above mentioned shares in the company: Pr(?vided The Independent
that spouse, §on, daughter, father, mother, Ibrother, sister, son-in-law Director hat diaked
and daughter-in-law shall be considered as family members; . i
their position in this
who has not been an executive of the company in immediately perspective.
1(2)(b)(iii) . o . v
preceding 2 (two) financial years;
120 who does not have any other relationship, whether pecuniary or J
(2)(b)iv) otherwise, with the company or its subsidiary or associated companies;
12} who is not a member or TREC (Trading Right Entitlement Certificate) J
v
(2)(b)v) holder, director or officer of any stock exchange;
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Condition
No.

Title

Compliance Status
(Put v in the
appropriate column)

. Not
Complied Complied

Remarks
(if any)

2

3 4

1(2)(b)(vi)

who is not a shareholder, director excepting independent director or
officer of any member or TREC holder of stock exchange or an
intermediary of the capital market;

1(2)(b)(vii)

who is not a partner or an executive or was not a partner or an
executive during the preceding 3 (three) years of the concerned
company’s statutory audit firm or audit firm engaged in internal audit
services or audit firm conducting special audit or professional
certifying compliance of this Code;

1(2)(b)(viii)

who is not an independent director in more than 5 (five) listed
companies;

1(2)(b)(ix)

who has not been convicted by a court of competent jurisdiction as a
defaulter in payment of any loan or any advance toa bank or a Non-
Bank Financial Institution (NBFI);

1(2)(b)(x)

who has not been convicted for a criminal offence involving moral
turpitude;

The Independent
Director has declared
their position in this
perspective.

1(2)(c)

The independent director(s) shall be appointed by the Board and
approved by the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting (AGM);

Board of Director
appointed 2 (Two)
independent
Directors were duly
appoint in the AGM.

1(2)(d)

The post of independent director(s) cannot remain vacant for more
than 90 (ninety) days; and

1(2)(e)

The tenure of office of an independent director shall be for a period of 3
(three) years, which may be extended for 1 (one) tenure only:

Provided that a former independent director may be considered for
reappointment for another tenure after a time gap of one tenure, i.e.,
three years from his or her competition of consecutive two tenures [i.e.
six years]:

Provided further that the independent director shall not be subject to
retirement by rotation as per the condition No. 18 of Companies Act,
1994.

13)

Qualification of Independent Director:

13)(a)

Independent director shall be a knowledgeable individual with integrity
who is able to ensure compliance with financial laws, regulatory
requirements and corporate laws and can make meaningful
contribution to the business;

1(3)(b)

Independent director shall have following qualifications:
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Condition
No.

Title

Compliance Status
(Put v in the
appropriate column)

Not
Complied

Complied

Remarks
(if any)

2

3 4

1(3)(b)(i)

Business Leader who is or was a promoter or director of an unlisted
company having minimum paid-up capital of Tk. 100.00 million or any
listed company or a member of any national or international chamber
of commerce or business association; or

Not Applicable

1(3)(b)(ii)

Corporate Leader who is or was a top level executive not lower than
Chief Executive Officer or Managing Director or Deputy Managing
Director or Chief Financial Officer or Head of Finance or Accounts or
Company Secretary or Head of Internal Audit and Compliance or Head
of Legal Service or a candidate with equivalent position of an unlisted
company having minimum paid up capital of Tk. 100.00 million or of a
listed company; or

Not Applicable

1(3)(b)(iii)

Former official of government or statutory or autonomous or regulatory
body in the position not below 5" Grade of the national pay scale, who
has at least educational background of bachelor degree in economics
or commerce or business or law; or

Not Applicable

1(3)(b)(iv)

University Teacher who has educational background in Economics or
Commerce or Business Studies or Law; or

1(3)(b)(v)

Professional who is or was an advocate practicing at leastin the High
Court Division of Bangladesh Supreme Court or a Chartered Accountant
or Cost and Management Accountant or Chartered Financial Analyst or
Chartered Certified Accountant or Certified Public Accountant or
Chartered Management Accountant or Chartered Secretary or
equivalent qualification;

Mr. Amirul Islam FCA,
FCS (29th April
2025-28th April 2028)
joined as a
independent director.

1(3)(c)

The independent director shall have at least 10 (ten) years of
experiences in any field mentioned in clause (b);

1(3)(d)

In special cases, the above qualifications or experiences may be
relaxed subject to prior approval of the Commission.

Not Applicable

1(4)

Duality of Chairperson of the Board of Directors and Managing Director or Chief Executive Officer:

1(4)(a)

The positions of the Chairperson of the Board and the Managing
Director (MD) and/or Chief Executive Officer of the Company shall be
filled by different individuals;

1(4)(b)

The Managing Director (MD) and/or Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) of a
listed company shall not hold the same position in another listed
company;

1(4)(c)

The Chairperson of the Board shall be elected from among the non-
executive directors of the company;

1(4)(d)

The Board shall clearly define respective roles and responsibilities of
the Chairperson and the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive
Officer;

1(4)(e)

In the absence of the Chairperson of the Board, the remaining members
may elect one of themselves from non-executive directors as
Chairperson for that particular Board’s meeting; the reason of absence
of the regular Chairperson shall be duly recorded in a minute.

Not Applicable as the

Chairman of the Board

attended in all board
meeting.
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Compliance Status

- (Put v in the
Condition N Remarks
i appropriate column
No. Title ppropri i) (if any)
. Not
Complied Complied
1 2 3 4 5
The Directors' Report to Shareholders
1(5) The Board of the company shall include the following additional statements or disclosures in the Directors’ Report prepared
under section 184 of the Companies Act, 1994 (Act No. XVIII of 1994):
1(5)(i) An industry outlook and possible future developments in the industry; Vv
1(5)(ii) The segment-wise or product -wise performance; v
Risks and concerns including internal and external risk factors, threat J
1(5)(iii) P - - .
to sustainability and negative impact on environment, if any;
. Adiscussion on Cost of Goods sold, Gross Profit Margin and Net Profit VJ
1(5)(iv) - Coe
Margin, where applicable;
165 A discussion on continuity of any extraordinary activities and their J
®)v) implications (gain or loss);
A detailed discussion on related party transactions along with a
1(5)(vi) statement showing amount, nature of related party, nature of v
transactions and basis of transactions of all related party transactions;
i, A statement of utilization of proceeds raised through public issues,
1(5)(vii) . ) : V
rightissues and/or any other instruments;
An explanation if the financial results deteriorate after the company
1(5)(viii) goes for Initial Public Offering (IPO), Repeat Public Offering (RPO), - - Not Applicable
Right Share Offer, Direct Listing, etc.;
165)(ix) An explanation on any significant variance that occurs between J
X Quarterly Financial performances and Annual Financial Statements;
A statement of remuneration paid to the directors including independent
1(5)(x) ) ) V
directors;
A statement that the financial statements prepared by the management
1(5)(xi) of the issuer company present fairly its state of affairs, the result of its Vv
operations, cash flows and changes in equity;
A statement that proper books of account of the issuer company have
1(5) xii) e har prop pany v
been maintained;
A statement that appropriate accounting policies have been
1(5)(xiii) consistently applied in preparation of the financial statements and that J
Xl the accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent
judgment;
A statement that International Accounting Standards (IAS) or
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in
1(5)(xiv) Bangladesh, have been followed in preparation of the financial v
statements and any departure there from has been adequately
disclosed;
165 A statement that the system of internal control is sound in design and J
(B)(xv) has been effectively implemented and monitored.
A statement that minority shareholders have been protected from
1(5)(xvi) abusive actions by, or in the interest of, controlling shareholders Vv
acting either directly or indirectly and have effective means of redress;
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Compliance Status

- (Put v in the
Condition N Remarks
i appropriate column
No. Title ppropri il (if any)
. Not
Complied Complied
1 2 3 4 5
A statement that there is no significant doubt upon the issuer
1(5) (i company's ability to continue as a going concern, If the issuer J
(5)(xvii) company is not considered to be a going concern, the fact along with
reasons there of shall be disclosed;
An explanation that significant deviations from the last year's operating
1(5)(xviii) results of the issuer company shall be highlighted and the reasons V
thereof shall be explained;
1(5)(xix) A statement where key operating and financial data of at least J
preceding 5 (five) years shall be summarized.
Not applicable as the
1(5 An explanation on the reasons if the issuer company has not declared ) ) company t_ieclared 5%
(5)(xx) dividend (cash or stock) for the year; Cash Dividend, only
for shareholders other
than sponsors.
1(5) (i Board’s statement to the effect that no bonus share or stock dividend J i
(5)(xxi) has been or shall be declared as interim dividend;
. The total number of Board meetings held during the year and J
1(5)(xxii) attendance by each director;
1(5) il Areport on the pattern of shareholding disclosing the aggregate number of shares (along with name-wise details where stated
Xxiii

below) held by:

1(5)(xxiii)(a)

Parent or Subsidiary or Associated Companies and other related
parties (name-wise details);

Not applicable as the
company declared that,
there is no parent,
subsidiary, & associates.

Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary, Chief Financial

1(5)(xxiii)(b) | Officer, Head of Internal Audit and Compliance and their spouses and N

minor children (name-wise details);
1(5)(xxiii)(c) | Executives; and V

Not applicable as any of
1(5)(xxiii)(d Shareholders holding ten percent (10%) or more voting interest in the the shareholder are not
(5)(xxiii)(d) company (name-vise details): - - holding more than 10%
shares.
1(5)(xxiv) In case of the appointment or reappointment of a director, a disclosure on the following information to the shareholders:
1(5)(xxiv)(a) | a brief resume of the director; V
1(5)(xxiv)(b) | nature of his or her expertise in specific functional areas; and v
Not applicable as the
1(5)(xxi names of companies in which the person also holds the directorship cgmpany dec|ared|:h:1;i it
(5)0xiv)(e) and the membership of committees of the Board; i ) ) |rectorslare notho '"9
directorship & membership
in another companies.

AManagement’s Discussion and Analysis signed by CEO or MD presenting detailed analysis of the company’s position and
1(5)(xxv) . . . ) . ) i : )

operations along with a brief discussion of changes in the financial statements, among others, focusing on:
1(5)(xxv)(a) accounting policies and estimation for preparation of financial J

statements;

changes in accounting policies and estimation, if any, clearly
1(5)(xxv)(b) | describing the effect on financial performance or results and financial Vv

position as well as cash flows in absolute figure for such changes;
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Condition
No.

Title

Compliance Status
(Put v in the
appropriate column)

Complied

Not
Complied

Remarks
(if any)

2

3

1

1(5)(xxv)(c)

comparative analysis (including effects of inflation) of financial
performance or results and financial position as well as cash flows for
current financial year with immediate preceding five years explaining
reasons thereof;

1(5) (xxv)(d)

compare each financial performance or results and financial position
as well as cash flows with the peer industry scenario;

1(5)(xxv)(e)

briefly explain the financial and economic scenario of the country and
the globe;

1(5)(xxv)(f)

risks and concerns issues related to the financial statements,
explaining such risk and concerns mitigation plan of the company; and

1(5)(xxv)(g)

future plan or projection or forecast for company’s operation,
performance and financial position, with jurisdiction thereof, i.e., actual
position shall be explained to the shareholders in the next AGM;

1(5)(xxvi)

Declaration or certification by the CEO and the CFO to the Board as
required under condition No. 3(3) shall be disclosed as per Annexure-
A and

1(5)(xxvii)

The reportas well as certificate regarding compliance of conditions of
this Code as required under condition No. 9 shall be disclosed as per
Annexure-B and Annexure-C.

1(6)

Meetings of the Board of Directors

The company shall conduct its Board meetings and record the minutes
of the meetings as well as keep required books and records in line with
the provisions of the relevant Bangladesh Secretarial Standards (BSS)
as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries of Bangladesh
(ICSB) in so far as those standards are not inconsistent with any
condition of this Code.

1(7)

Code of Conduct for the Chairperson, other Board members and Chief Executive Officer

1(7)(a)

The Board shall lay down a code of conduct, based on the
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC)
at condition No. 6, for the Chairperson of the Board, other board
members and Chief Executive Officer of the company;

1(7)(b)

The code of conduct as determined by the NRC shall be posted on the
website of the company including, among others, prudent conduct and
behavior; confidentiality; conflict of interest; compliance with laws,
rules and regulations; prohibition of insider trading, relationship with
environment, employees, customers and suppliers; and independency.

Governance of Board of Directors of Subsidiary Company:

2(a)

Provisions relating to the composition of the Board of the holding
company shall be made applicable to the composition of the Board of
the subsidiary company;

Not Applicable

2(b)

At least 1 (one) independent director on the Board of the holding
company shall be a director on the Board of the subsidiary company;

Not Applicable

2(c)

The minutes of the Board meeting of the subsidiary company shall be
placed for review at the following Board meeting of the holding
company;

Not Applicable
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Condition
No.

Title

Compliance Status
(Put v in the
appropriate column)

Not

Complied Complied

Remarks
(if any)

2

3 4

2(d)

The minutes of the respective Board meeting of the holding company
shall state that they have reviewed the affairs of the subsidiary
company also;

Not Applicable

2(e)

The Audit Committee of the holding company shall also review the
financial statements, in particular the investments made by the
subsidiary company.

Not Applicable

3

Managing Director (MD) or Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of Internal Audit and Compliance

(HIAC) and Company Secretary (CS):

3(1)

Appointment

3(1)(a)

The Board shall appoint a Managing Director (MD) or Chief Executive
Officer (CEQ), a Company Secretary (CS), a Chief Financial Officer
(CFO) and a Head of Internal Audit and Compliance (HIAC)

3(1)(b)

The positions of the Managing Director (MD) or Chief Executive Officer
(CEQ), Company Secretary (CS), Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Head
of Internal Audit and Compliance (HIAC) shall be filled by different
individuals;

3(1)(c)

The MD or CEO, CS, CFO and HIAC of a listed company shall not hold
any executive position in any other company at the same time;

3(1)(d)

The Board shall clearly define respective roles, responsibilities and
duties of the CFO, the HIAC and the CS;

3(1)(e)

The MD or CEQ, CS, CFO and HIAC shall not be removed from their
position without approval of the Board as well as immediate
dissemination to the Commission and stock exchange(s).

Not applicable as no such
situation occour during
the year.

3(2)

Requirement to attend Board of Directors’ Meetings

The MD or CEO, CS, CFO and HIAC of the company shall attend the
meetings of the Board:

Provided that the CS, CFO and/or the HIAC shall not attend such part of a
meeting of the Board which involves consideration of an agenda item
relating to their personal matters.

3(3)

Duties of Managing Director (MD) or Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

3(3)(a)

The MD or CEO and CFO shall certify to the Board that they have
reviewed financial statements for the year and thatto the best of their
knowledge and belief:

v

3(3)(a)(i)

these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or
omit any material fact or contain statements that might be misleading;
and

3(3)(a)(ii)

these statements together present a true and fair view of the
company’s affairs and are in compliance with existing accounting
standards and applicable laws;

3(3)(h)

The MD or CEO and CFO shall also certify that there are, to the best of
knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the company
during the year which are fraudulent, illegal or in violation of the code
of conduct for the company’s Board or its members;

3(3)(c)

The certification of the MD or CEO and CFO shall be disclosed in the
Annual Report.
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Compliance Status
(Put v in the

required under condition No. 5(4)(b) and the reason of absence of the
regular Chairperson shall be duly recorded in the minutes.

Cor;:l;tmn Title appropriate column) F({i‘;"a‘:;';s
. Not
Complied Complied
1 2 3 4 5
Board of Directors’ Committee:
4
For ensuring good governance in the company, the Board shall have at least following sub-committees:
4(i) Audit Committee; and V
4(ii) Nomination and Remuneration Committee. V
5 Audit Committee:
5(1) Responsihility to the Board of Directors
The company shall have an Audit Committee as a sub-committee of the
(1)) Board; v
The Audit Committee shall assist the Board in ensuring that the financial
5(1)(b) statements reflect true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company v
and in ensuring a good monitoring system within the business;
51 The Audit Committee shall be responsible to the Board; the duties of the J
(1)(e) Audit Committee shall be clearly set forth in writing.
5(2) Constitution of the Audit Committee
5(2)(a) The Audit Committee shall be composed of at least 3 (three) members; vV
The Board shall appoint members of the Audit Committee who shall be
5(2)(b) non-executive directors of the company excepting Chairperson of the NI
Board and shall include atleast 1 (one) independent director;
All members of the audit committee should be “financially literate” and
5(2)(c) at least 1 (one) member shall have accounting or related financial v
management background and 10 (ten) years of such experience;
When the term of service of any Committee member expires or there is
any circumstance causing any Committee member to be unable to hold
office before expiration of the term of service, thus making the number
of the Committee members to be lower than the prescribed number of 3 )
- - Not applicable.
5(2)(d) (three) persons, the Board shall appoint the new Committee member to pp
fill up the vacancy immediately or not later than 1 (one) month from the
date of vacancy in the Committee to ensure continuity of the
performance of work of the Audit Committee;
5(2)(e) The company secretary shall act as the secretary of the Committee; N
5(2)(f The quorum of the Audit Committee meeting shall not constitute without J
)0 atleast 1 (one) independent director.
5(3) Chairperson of the Audit Committee
5(3)(a) The Board shall select 1 (one) member of the Audit Committee to be J
Chairperson of the Audit Committee, who shall be an independent director;
In the absence of the Chairperson of the Audit Committee, the remaining )
. ) Not applicable as the
members may elect one of themselves as Chairperson for that particular Chairman of the Audit
5(3)(b) meeting, in that case there shall be no problem of constituting a quorum as - -

Committee attended in all
the board meeting.
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- (Put v in the
Condition N Remarks
i appropriate column
No. Title ppropri il (if any)
. Not
Complied Complied
1 2 3 4 5
Chairperson of the Audit Committee shall remain presentin the Annual
General Meeting (AGM): Mr. Md. Nasrul Quadir
Provided that in absence of Chairperson of the Audit Committee, any J &Dr. Raf'Udd'tn_ An:ned
5(3)(c) other member from the Audit Committee shall be selected to be present \A%S”?;féﬁx olfnthee
in the annual general meeting (AGM) and reason for absence of the company held on
tChhajArg('i/lrson of the Audit Committee shall be recorded in the minutes of 21 December, 2024.
e .
5(4) Meeting of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee shall conduct at least its four meetings in a
financial year:
5(4)(a) Provided that any emergency meeting in addition to regular meeting v
may be convened at the request of any one of the members of the
Committee;
The quorum of the meeting of the Audit Committee shall be constituted
5(4)(b in presence of either two members or two third of the members of the J
(4)(b) Audit Committee, whichever is higher, where presence of an
independent director is a must.
Role of Audit Committee
5(5) , :
The Audit Committee shall:
5(5)(a) Oversee the financial reporting process; V
5(5)(b) monitor choice of accounting policies and principles; v
monitor Internal Audit and Compliance process to ensure that it is
5(5)(c) adequately resourced, including approval of the Internal Audit and J
Compliance Plan and review of the Internal Audit and Compliance
Report;
5(5)(d) oversee hiring and performance of external auditors; V
hold meeting with the external or statutory auditors for review of the
5(9)(e) annual financial statements before submission to the Board for v
approval or adoption;
5(5)(1 review along with the management, the annual financial statements J
QU before submission to the Board for approval;
5(5)(0) review along with the management, the quarterly and half yearly J
g financial statements before submission to the Board for approval;
5(5)(h) review the adequacy of internal audit function; V
. review the Management's Discussion and Analysis before disclosing in
5(5)(i) . v
the Annual Report;
. review statement of all related party transactions submitted by the
5(5)i) ranagement v
gement;
review Management Letters or Letter of Internal Control weakness
5(5)(k) ) . vV
issued by statutory auditors;
oversee the determination of audit fees based on scope and magnitude,
5(9)(1) level of expertise deployed and time required for effective audit and V
evaluate the performance of external auditors; and
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Condition
No.

Title

Compliance Status
(Put + in the
appropriate column)

Complied

Not
Complied

Remarks
(if any)

2

3

1

5(5)(m)

oversee whether the proceeds raised through Initial Public Offering
(IPO) or Repeat Public Offering (RPO) or Rights Share Offer have been
utilized as per the purposes stated in relevant offer document or
prospectus approved by the Commission:

Provided that the management shall disclose to the Audit Committee
about the uses or applications of the proceeds by major category
(capital expenditure, sales and marketing expenses, working capital
etc.), on a quarterly basis, as a part of their quarterly declaration of
financial results:

Provided further that on an annual basis, the company shall prepare a
statement of the proceeds utilized for the purposes other than those
stated in the offer document or prospectus for publication in the Annual
Report along with the comments of the Audit Committee.

Not Applicable

5(6)

Reporting of the Audit Committee

5(6)(a)

Reporting to the Board of Directors

5(6)(a)(i)

The Audit Committee shall report on its activities to the Board.

v

5(6)(a)(ii)

The Audit Committee shall immediately report to the Board on the followin

g findings, if any:

5(6)(a)(ii)(a)

report on conflicts of interests;

Not Applicable

5(6)(a)(ii)(b)

suspected or presumed fraud or irregularity or material defect
identified in the internal audit and compliance process or in the
financial statements;

Not Applicable

5(6)(a)(ii)(c)

suspected infringement of laws, regulatory compliances including
securities related laws, rules and regulations; and

Not Applicable

5(6)(a)(ii)(d)

any other matter which the Audit Committee deems necessary shall be
disclosed to the Board immediately;

Not Applicable

5(6)(b)

Reporting to the Authorities

If the Audit Committee has reported to the Board about anything which
has material impact on the financial condition and results of operation
and has discussed with the Board and the management that any
rectification is necessary and if the Audit Committee finds that such
rectification has been unreasonably ignored, the Audit Committee shall
report such finding to the Commission, upon reporting of such matters
to the Board for three times or completion of a period of 6 (six) months
from the date of first reporting to the Board, whichever is earlier.

Not Applicable

5(7)

Reporting to the Shareholders and General Investors

Report on activities carried out by the Audit Committee, including any
report made to the Board under condition No. 5(6)(a)(ii) above during
the year, shall be signed by the Chairperson of the Audit Committee and

disclosed in the annual report of the issuer company.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC):

6(1)

Responsibility to the Board of Directors

6(1)(a)

The company shall have a Nomination and Remuneration Committee
(NRC) as a sub-committee of the Board;
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Condition
No.

Title

Compliance Status
(Put v in the
appropriate column)

Complied

Not
Complied

Remarks
(if any)

2

3

1

6(1)(b)

The NRC shall assist the Board in formulation of the nomination criteria
or policy for determining qualifications, positive attributes,
experiences and independence of directors and top level executive as
well as a policy for formal process of considering remuneration of
directors, top level executive;

6(1)(c)

The Terms of Reference (ToR) of the NRC shall be clearly set forth in
writing covering the areas stated at the condition No. 6(5)(b).

6(2)

Constitution of the NRC

6(2)(a)

The Committee shall comprise of at least three members including an
independent director;

6(2)(b)

All members of the Committee shall be non-executive directors;

6(2)(c)

Members of the Committee shall be nominated and appointed by the
Board;

6(2)(d)

The Board shall have authority to remove and appointany member of
the Committee;

6(2)(e)

In case of death, resignation, disqualification, or removal of any
member of the Committee or in any other cases of vacancies, the board
shall fill the vacancy within 180 (one hundred eighty) days of occurring
such vacancy in the Committee;

6(2)(f)

The Chairperson of the Committee may appoint or co-opt any external
expertand/or member(s) of staff to the Committee as advisor who shall
be non-voting member, if the Chairperson feels that advice or
suggestion from such external expert and/or member(s) of staff shall
be required or valuable for the Committee;

6(2)(9)

The company secretary shall act as the secretary of the Committee;

6(2)(h)

The quorum of the NRC meeting shall not constitute without attendance
of at leastan independent director;

6(2)(1)

No member of the NRC shall receive, either directly or indirectly, any
remuneration for any advisory or consultancy role or otherwise, other
than Director’s fees or honorarium from the company.

6(3)

Chairperson of the NRC

6(3)(a)

The Board shall elect 1 (one) member of the NRC to be Chairperson of
the Committee, who shall be an independent director;

6(3)(b)

In the absence of the Chairperson of the NRC, the remaining members
may elect one of themselves as Chairperson for that particular
meeting, the reason of absence of the regular Chairperson shall be
duly recorded in the minutes;

Not applicable as the
chairperson of the NRC
Committee was attended
on the meeting.

6(3)(c)

The Chairperson of the NRC shall attend the annual general meeting
(AGM) to answer the queries of the shareholders:

Provided that in absence of Chairperson of the NRC, any other member
from the NRC shall be selected to be present in the annual general
meeting (AGM) for answering the shareholder’s queries and reason for
absence of the Chairperson of the NRC shall be recorded in the minutes
of the AGM.

6(4)

Meeting of the NRC

6(4)(a)

The NRC shall conduct at least one meeting in a financial year;
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Compliance Status

glance in its annual report.

- (Put v in the
Condition ’ Remarks
i appropriate column
No. Title ppropri il (if any)
. Not
Complied Complied
1 2 3 4 5
The Chairperson of the NRC may convene any emergency meeting Not Applicable as no
6(4)(b) . - - such events has been
upon request by any member of the NRC; )
occurred during the year.
The quorum of the meeting of the NRC shall be constituted in presence
6(a of either two members or two third of the members of the Committee, J
(4)(c) whichever is higher, where presence of an independent director is
must as required under condition No. 6(2)(h);
The proceedings of each meeting of the NRC shall duly be recorded in
6(4)(d) the minutes and such minutes shall be confirmed in the next meeting of V
the NRC.
6(5) Role of the NRC
6(5 NRC shall be independent and responsible or accountable to the Board J
(5)(a) and to the shareholders;
6(5)(b) NRC shall oversee, among others, the following matters and make report with recommendation to the Board:
formulating the criteria for determining qualifications, positive
6(5) (b attributes and independence of a director and recommend a policy to J
(3)(b) (i) the Board, relating to the remuneration of the directors, top level
executive, considering the following:
the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient
6(5)(b)(i)(a)| to attract, retain and motivate suitable directors to run the company V
successfully;
. the relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets
6(5)(b)(i)(b) appropriate performance benchmarks; and v
remuneration to directors, top level executive involves a balance
6(5)(b)(i between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term N
(5)(b)(i)(e) performance objectives appropriate to the working of the company and
its goals;
6(5)(b) i) devising a policy on Board’s diversity taking into consideration age, J
I gender, experience, ethnicity, educational background and nationality;
identifying persons who are qualified to become directors and who may
6(5)(b)iii be appointed in top level executive position in accordance with the J
(5)(b) i) criteria laid down, and recommend their appointment and removal to
the Board;
. formulating the criteria for evaluation of performance of independent
6(S)O)NW) | irectors and the Board; v
identifying the company’s needs for employees at different levels and
6(5)(b)(v) determine their selection, transfer or replacement and promotion v
criteria; and
developing, recommending and reviewing annually the company’s
6(5)(b)(vi) iy ng ant ToVIeHng annuaty ey v
human resources and training policies;
The company shall disclose the nomination and remuneration policy
6(5)(c) and the evaluation criteria and activities of NRC during the year at a V
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i appropriate column
No. Title ppropri i) (if any)
. Not
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1 2 3 4 5
7 External or Statutory Auditors:
711 The issuer company shall not engage its external or statutory auditors to perform the following services of the company,
(1) namely:
7(1)(i) appraisal or valuation services or fairness opinions;
7(1)(ii) financial information systems design and implementation;
201)(iii) blook-ll<eeping or other services related to the accounting records or J
financial statements;
7(1)(iv) broker-dealer services; v
7(1)(v) actuarial services; N
7(1)(vi) internal audit services or special audit services; N The statutory auditor
7(1)(vii) any service that the Audit Committee determines; J h '}’VS Kga'r‘] WathC
afique Rahman & Co.
7(1) (vii) audit or certification services on compliance of corporate governance J has declared their
as required under condition No. 9(1); and position.
7(1)(ix) any other service that creates conflict of interest. V
No partner or employees of the external audit firms shall possess any
share of the company they audit at least during the tenure of their audit
7(2) . L ) v
assignment of that company; his or her family members also shall not
hold any shares in the said company.
Representative of external or statutory auditors shall remain presentin Statuto?{ A;giao;\é\’:ﬂs
7(3) the Shareholders’ Meeting (Annual General Meeting or Extraordinary V hprlzsen 2'? D b
General Meeting) to answer the queries of the shareholders. eldon 2024ecem o,
8 Maintaining a website by the Company:
The company shall have an official website linked with the website of
8(1) v
the stock exchange.
8(2) The company shall keep the website functional from the date of listing. N
The company shall make available the detailed disclosures on its
8(3) website as required under the listing regulations of the concerned J
stock exchange(s).
9 Reporting and Compliance of Corporate Governance:
The company shall obtain a certificate from a practicing Professional
Accountant or Secretary (Chartered Accountant or Cost and
Management Accountant or Chartered Secretary) other than its
9(1) . e ) ) ) v
statutory auditors or audit firm on yearly basis regarding compliance
of conditions of Corporate Governance Code of the Commission and
shall such certificate shall be disclosed in the Annual Report.
The professional who will provide the certificate on compliance of this
9(2) Corporate Governance Code shall be appointed by the shareholders in N
the annual general meeting.
The directors of the company shall state, in accordance with the
9(3) Annexure-C attached, in the directors' report whether the company has N
complied with these conditions or not.
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ANNEXURE - D
[As per Condition No. 1(5)(iii)]

RISKS AND RISK MITIGATION PLAN

Category of Risk

Description and Mitigation Plan

1. Profitability
Risk

Description: The paper industry in Bangladesh is highly competitive and price-sensitive,
leading to margin pressures and intense market competition.

Mitigation Plan: The Company focuses on improving operational efficiency, product
quality, and cost management. Continuous innovation and competitive pricing strategies
have strengthened its position in the Newsprint and Tissue Paper segments. The
Company’s consistent performance over the past five years reflects its resilience in a
challenging market environment.

2. Technology

Description: Technological obsolescence or delay in adopting modern equipment may

Risk lead to reduced productivity and higher production costs.
Mitigation Plan: The Company actively monitors technological trends and upgrades its
machinery as required. Preventive maintenance and routine inspections are conducted to
ensure efficient operations and extended asset life.
3. Risk of Description: Entry of new competitors with advanced technology or larger production

New Entrants

capacity may intensify market competition.

Mitigation Plan: Establishing a similar project typically requires a lead time of about three
years, allowing Hakkani to consolidate its financial and market position. Its strong
reputation, quality assurance, and advanced production facilities provide a solid
competitive advantage and entry barriers.

4. Raw Material
Sourcing Risk

Description: Volatility in the price or supply of raw materials such as waste paper and pulp
could disrupt production and affect profitability.

Mitigation Plan: The Company sources raw materials from both local and international
markets and maintains diversified supplier relationships. Long-term procurement
agreements with reliable suppliers ensure a stable and uninterrupted supply chain
competitive advantage and entry barriers.

5. Interest Rate
Risk

Description: Changes in interest rates can increase financing costs and affect profitability,
especially for floating-rate loans.

Mitigation Plan: The management continuously monitors interest rate movements and
optimizes borrowing structures. Efficient cash flow management and prudent financial
planning ensure timely debt servicing even under unfavorable interest rate conditions.

6. Foreign Exchange
Rate Risk

Description: Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may impact the cost of
imported raw materials and equipment.

Mitigation Plan: The Company employs responsible hedging mechanisms to minimize
currency exposure. In cases of significant BDT depreciation, market-based price
adjustments are implemented. Management also monitors macroeconomic indicators to
manage exposure effectively.
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Category of Risk Description and Mitigation Plan
7. Policy and Description: Changes in global or national policies, trade regulations, or political instability
Regulatory may adversely affect operations, raw material costs, and profitability.
Risk

Mitigation Plan: The management remains vigilant regarding national and international
policy developments. The Company’s strong brand presence, experienced leadership, and
flexible business strategy enable it to respond swiftly to policy or market changes.
Government support for industrial growth further strengthens the Company’s
sustainability.

8. Operational
Risk

Description: Disruptions in production due to supply chain interruptions, equipment
failure, or unforeseen incidents may lead to financial loss.

Mitigation Plan: The Company has established comprehensive safety and security
systems, insurance coverage for major assets, and reliable power backup facilities.
Regular inspections, maintenance schedules, and contingency planning ensure
uninterrupted operations.

9. Labor Unrest
Risk

Description: Industrial disputes or dissatisfaction among workers could disrupt
production and productivity.

Mitigation Plan: The Company maintains a harmonious work environment by ensuring
compliance with labor laws, providing fair remuneration, and implementing welfare
policies. Transparent communication and employee engagement foster loyalty and
minimize the risk of labor unrest.

Conclusion

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC maintains a proactive risk management framework that emphasizes early identification,
assessment, and mitigation of potential business risks. Through operational excellence, strategic planning, and

continuous monitoring, the Company ensures sustainable growth and protection of stakeholder interests.
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Annexure-(E)

HAKKANI PULP AND PAPER MILLS PLC [As per Condition No. 1 (5) i)

THE PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING AS ON 30 JUNE 2025

1) Parent/Subsidiary/Associated Companies and other related parties:

. Number of Percentage
SI. No. Name Relation Share Holding of Share Remarks
01 | Parent Company /A Nil Nil The Gompany is not
subsidiary of any Company
L . . The Company has no
02 | Subsidiary Company N/A Nil Nil subsidiary Company
03 | Other Related Parties N/A Nil Nil -
2) Directors:
P Number of |Percentage of
SI. No. Name Position in the Company Share Holding Share Remarks
01 Mr. Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir Chairman 14,66,666 7.72% -
02 Mr. Md. Golam Kibria Managing Director 11,45,000 6.03% -
03 Mr. Md. Golam Morshed Deputy Managing Director 13,66,666 7.19% -
04 Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum Director 10,41,666 5.48% -
05 Mrs. Farhana Ferdous Director 6,42,800 3.38% -
06 Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir Independent Director Nil Nil -
07 Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed Independent Director Nil Nil -
3) CEO/CFO/Head of Internal Audit and their spouses and minor children:
. Number of |Percentage of
SI. No. Name Position in the Company Share Holding Share Remarks
01 Mr. Md. Golam Kibria Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) |  11,45,000 6.03% Managing Director
02 Mr. Mohammad Musa Company Secretary Nil Nil -
03 Mr. Md. Saleh Ahmed Chief Financial Officer Nil Nil =
04 Mr. Md. Khademul Islam Head of Internal Audit Nil Nil -
4) Shareholding Position of top 5 salaried employee other than CEO, CS, CFO & HIA:
e Number of |Percentage of
SI. No. Name Position in the Company Share Holding Share Remarks
01 Md. Samsuzzoha Asherful Islam National Sales Manager Nil Nil -
02 Md. Hasanul Karim Senior Mechanical Engineer Nil Nil =
02 Md. Mahmudul Hasan National Sales Manager Nil Nil -
04 Md. Humayun Kabir Manager, Production & Quality Nil Nil c
05 Mohammed Younis Mia Asst. General Manager, Admin Nil Nil -
5) Shareholders Holding 10% or more voting interest in the company:
Name Shareholders Holding 10% L Number of |Percentage of
Sl No. or more voting interest in the company Position in the Company Share Holding Share Remarig
01 N/A N/A Nil Nil N/A
6) Shareholding position as on June 30, 2025:
Directors / Sponsors Government Institute Public Foreigner
47.28% - 9.67% 43% 0.05%
ANNUAL |24
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Annexure-F
[As per conditions No. 1(5)(xxv)]

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
(For the Financial Year 2024-2025)

The Management of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC is pleased to present its Management Discussion & Analysis
(MD&A) for the financial year ended June 30, 2025, prepared in compliance with Condition No. 1(5)(xxv) of the
Corporate Governance Code, 2018 issued by the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission (BSEC).

A. Accounting Policies and Estimates for Preparation of Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB), along with the
requirements of the Companies Act, 1994 and other applicable laws of Bangladesh.

The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared using the direct method, as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange
Rules, 2020. The financial statements are based on the historical cost convention, except where financial assets and
liabilities have been measured at fair value. Comparative figures for the previous year have been included for
transparency and consistency.

Detailed information regarding significant accounting policies and related estimates is provided in Note 3.00 of the
Financial Statements.

B. Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates

The accounting policies and estimation techniques applied by the Company have remained consistent with those used
in previous years and conform to the framework of IAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements.

There were no material changes in accounting policies or estimation methods during the financial year ended June 30, 2025.
C. Comparative Analysis of Financial Performance

1. Statement of Profit or Loss
(Amount in BDT)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024 2022-2023 2021-2022 2020-2021
Sales 1041522211 [1,005,250,917 [1,085,427,111 | 538,238,090 | 389,968,195
Cost of Goods Sold 881,738,154 | 860,050,387 | 947,983,786 | 483,282,489 | 316,985,562
Gross Profit 159,784,057 | 145200530 | 137,443,325 54,955,601 72,982,633
Administrative Expenses| 22,317,440 22,732,951 23,239,850 15,058,932 15,299,525
Selling Expenses 53,902,329 | 53,824,721 45,736,663 25,956,473 25,678,762
Financial Expenses 67,238,936 | 62,797,632 54,547,435 37,391,494 59,816,687
Net Profit After Tax 1,411,620 780,707 16,912,856 | (24,610,668) | (24,306,924)
Earnings Per Share (EPS) 0.07 0.04 0.89 (1.30) (1.28)
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2. Statement of Financial Position

(Amount in BDT)

Particulars 2024-25 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21
Paid-up Capital 190,000,000 | 190,000,000 | 190,000,000 | 190,000,000 | 190,000,000
Shareholders' Equity | 460,514,917 | 461,487,017 | 464,607,789 | 447,546,925 | 474,282,767
Current Liabilities 422328046 | 382,629738 | 501,833,284 | 465532422 | 467,248,409
Non-Current Liabilities | 736,828,674 | 696,003,029 | 558,112,113 | 564274171 | 527,266,628
NAV Per Share
NAY Per Shar 2424 24.29 24.45 2356 24.96
NAV Per Share
NAY Per Share | 11.92 11.57 11.30 9.94 10.86
3. Cash Flow Analysis
Amount in BDT

Particulars 2024-25 2023-2024 2022-2023 2021-2022 2020-2021
Cash Generated from | 456790 980 | 1,014.411.728 | 1,094,026568 | 522,659,156 | 373.331,619
the operating activities
Interest Paid i - - | 37391494 | 59,816,687
Income Tax Paid 3,827,728 3,487,958 6,059,110 1,676,271 492,834
Net Cash Flows from 93,908,326 | 135,942,388 88,061,586 (1,499,752) 3,906,066
Operating activities

Net Cash Flows from | 5 147 954y | (54.862,761) | (48.803213) | (5.677.728) | (10,010,991)
Investing activities dats /002 009 200 L
o actnes” | (3182.259) | (89.943,048) | (41625352) | 10674044 | 15800615
Net Increase/(Decrease in | 4 570 413 | (8.863421) | (2,366,979) 3,496,564 9,695,690

cash and cash equivalent

D. Comparative Analysis with Peer Industry

The paper and tissue manufacturing industry in Bangladesh includes several major players such as Bashundhara Paper

Mills Ltd., Sonali Paper & Board Mills Ltd., Bangladesh Monospool Paper Manufacturing Co. Ltd., and Paper Processing

& Packaging Ltd.

Although production capacity, market reputation, and operational efficiency differ across companies, a comparative
snapshot is presented below for reference.
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Revenue Gross Profit Profit After Tax EPS NAV [ NOCFPS
Company
(BDT) (BDT) (BDT) (Tk.) (Tk.) (Tk.)
Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC | 1,041,522,211 159,784,057 1,411,620 0.07 24.24 4.94
(2024-25)
Sonali Paper & Board Mills Ltd. | 2,826,656,563 - 236,057,601 717 167.90 | 14.86
(2024-25)

Source: Published Annual Reports of the respective companies.

E. Financial and Economic Scenario
1. Global Outlook

The global economy is projected to grow at 3.0%-3.3% in 2025-2026, below the long-term average of 3.7%. Global
inflation is expected to moderate to 4.2% in 2025 and 3.6% in 2026.

Key risks include geopolitical tensions, trade restrictions, and prolonged high interest rates. Slower global growth may
limit export opportunities, while easing inflation offers some relief in input costs.

2. Bangladesh Economy

According to the World Bank, Bangladesh’s GDP growth is projected at 3.3% in FY2024-25, the lowest in recent
decades, primarily due to high inflation, energy costs, and currency pressures. Inflation is expected to remain around
10%, while a gradual recovery may occur in FY2025-26, contingent on reforms and investment flows.

Medium-term prospects remain favourable due to strong demographics, steady remittance inflows, and rising domestic
consumption.

3. Sector Implications

e Rising input and energy costs continue to affect margins.

e  Supply chain and forex volatility require strong cost control and financial planning.
e Domestic demand remains steady, but competition is increasing.

e Long-term potential exists in hygiene and packaging segments driven by urbanization and changing lifestyles.
4. Strategic Outlook

In response, the Company’s strategic priorities include:

e Enhancing operational efficiency and cost optimization;

e Strengthening liquidity and financial resilience;

e Investing in sustainable and energy-efficient technologies;

e Expanding product diversification and exploring export opportunities;

e Maintaining compliance with environmental and social standards.
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F. Risks, Concerns, and Sustainabhility

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC operates in an environment of multiple external and internal risks. The major concerns
include:

o Energy shortage and high utility costs;

o Raw material price fluctuations and import dependency;

o Foreign exchange volatility and high financing costs.

The Company continues to mitigate these risks through:

o Efficient resource utilization and preventive maintenance programs;

e  Strengthening supply chain and inventory management;

e Implementing cost-control initiatives and energy conservation measures.

Environmental sustainability remains a key focus. The Company adheres strictly to environmental regulations, promotes
eco-friendly production, ensures safe effluent discharge, and continuously seeks to minimize carbon footprint.

Detailed disclosures on risks and mitigation strategies are presented in Note 37 of the Financial Statements.
Conclusion

Despite ongoing challenges in the macroeconomic environment, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC remains committed to
maintaining operational resilience, financial stability, and sustainable growth. The Management continues to align its
strategies with evolving market conditions to ensure long-term value creation for shareholders and stakeholders.

MMM

Managing Director

Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC
Date: 27 October 2025

Place: Chattogram
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Annexure-G
Key operating and financial data of preceding 5 (Five) years:
Particulars mﬁ} 2024-2025 2023-2024 2022-2023 2021-2022 2020-2021
Operation and Market:
Production Capacity MT 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500
Actual Production MT 6,548 6,781 6,770 4,914 3,918
Sales Quantity MT 6,781 6,590 6,835 4,993 3,881
Financial Results:
Sales Revenue TK 1,041,522,211 1,005,250,917 | 1,085,427,111 538,238,090 389,968,195
TK 159,784,057 145,200,530 137,443,325 54,955,601 72,982,633
Gross Profit
% 15.34% 14.44% 12.66% 10.21% 18.72%
TK 83,564,288 68,642,858 68,466,812 13,464,201 32,004,346
Operating Profit
% 8.02% 6.83% 6.31% 2.50% 8.21%
TK 17,474,215 7,209,572 15,773,401 (17,802,266) (23,034,016)
Net Profit before Tax
% 1.68% 0.72% 1.45% (3.31%) (5.91%)
TK 1,411,620 780,707 16,912,856 (24,610,668) (24,306,924)
Net Profit after Tax
% 0.14% 0.08% 1.56% (4.57%) (6.23%)
Earnings Per Share (EPS) TK 0.07 0.04 0.89 (1.30) (1.28)
Dividend (Cash) % Cash divide?d(% Cash dividegd@ Cashdividegd{% Cash divideld(% Cash divideld(g
only general Shareholders all shareholders all shareholders | only general shareholders | only general shareholders
Financial Position:
Paid-up Capital TK 190,000,000 190,000,000 190,000,000 19,00,00,000 19,00,00,000
Current Ratio 1.78:1 1.74:1 1.32:1 1.31:1 1.37:1
Non-Current Assets
with Revaluation TK 869,398,864 875,669,422 861,182,096 867,751,848 828,686,944
Current Assets TK 750,272,773 664,450,362 663,371,090 609,601,670 640,110,861
Current Liabilities TK 422,328,046 382,629,738 501,833,284 465,532,422 467,248,409
Net Current Assets TK 327,944,727 281,820,624 161,537,806 144,069,248 172,862,452
Net Assets Value
with Revaluation TK 460,514,917 461,487,017 464,607,789 447,546,925 474,282,768
Net Assets Value
without Revaluation TK 226,498,176 219,789,349 214,705,715 188,880,440 206,252,742
Net Assets Value Per Share
with Revaluation TK 24.24 24.29 24.45 23.56 24.96
Net Assets Value Per Share
without Revaluation TK 11.92 11.57 11.30 9.94 10.86
Net Operating
Cash Flow Per Share TK 4.94 7.15 4.63 (0.08) 0.21
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ANNEXURE-H

[As per Directive No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2021-386/03
Dated, 14 January 2021]

SUMMARY OF UNPAID OR UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND

As on 30 June 2025
Sl No. Dividend Year Amount in BDT
1 Unclaimed Dividend 2014-2015 to 2018-2019 999,979
2 | Unclaimed Dividend 2019-2020 82,650
3 | Unclaimed Dividend 2020-2021 36,016
4 | Unclaimed Dividend 2021-2022 72,024
5 | Unclaimed Dividend 2022-2023 341,858
Unclaimed Dividend 2023-2024 359,759
TOTAL 1,892,285
Note:

As per BSEC Letter No. SEC/SRMIC/165/-2020/part-1/166 dated 6 July 2021, Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC
transferred total Tk. 1,891,525 to the Capital Market Stabilization Fund as the unclaimed dividend of the
shareholders till 2017-2018.

The details of the unclaimed dividend have been uploaded in the website of the Company at
https://hakkanigroup.com/cmsf-shareholders
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Report of the Audit Committee
For the year ended 30 June, 2025

Dear Esteemed Shareholders,

On behalf of the Audit Committee, | am pleased to present the Committee’s Report for the year ended 30 June 2025. This
Report has been prepared in accordance with Condition No. 5(7) of the Corporate Governance Code 2018 issued by the
Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission (BSEC). It provides an overview of the Audit Committee’s
composition, activities, and key responsibilities during the reporting period.

Composition of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, a key sub-committee of the Board of Directors, assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities relating to financial reporting, internal control, risk management, and compliance.

The Committee was reconstituted by the Board of Directors at its 165th Meeting held on 29 April 2024 with the
following members:

Committee Members Board Position Role in Committee
Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir Independent Director Chairman

Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed Independent Director Member

Mrs. Farhana Ferdous Non-Executive Director Member

Mr. Mohammad Musa Company Secretary Secretary

All members of the Committee are Non-Executive Directors, and the Chairman is an Independent Director. Each member
is financially literate and possesses the requisite ability to analyze and interpret financial statements to effectively
discharge their responsibilities.

Meetings of the Committee

During the financial year 2024-2025, the Audit Committee held four meetings to discharge its duties and
responsibilities. All members attended the meetings, which were conducted in full compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Meeting No. Date of Meeting

1st Meeting 15 August 2024

2nd Meeting 24 October 2024

3rd Meeting 30 January 2025 "
4th Meeting 27 April 2025 L\ o

Role and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee functions in accordance with its Terms of Reference (TOR) approved by the Board and as per the
Corporate Governance Code of BSEC. Its primary role is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting, oversee internal
control systems, monitor compliance, and review audit processes.
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Key responsibilities include:

1.

© N oo o B~ N

Overseeing the financial reporting process.

Monitoring accounting policies and principles.

Reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of internal audit and compliance functions.

Evaluating the performance and independence of external auditors.

Reviewing annual, half-yearly, and quarterly financial statements before submission to the Board.
Reviewing management discussion and analysis before inclusion in the Annual Report.
Reviewing related party transactions and management letters.

Monitoring risk management and internal control processes.

Major Activities during the Year

In line with the Corporate Governance Code, the Audit Committee performed the following key activities during the

year ended 30 June 2025:

1. Reviewed quarterly, half-yearly, and annual financial statements and recommended them to the Board for
approval.

2. Reviewed the annual audited financial statements with the external auditors and recommended them to the
Board for approval.

3. Evaluated the adequacy and effectiveness of financial reporting systems, accounting policies, and internal
controls.

4. Monitored internal audit and compliance activities to ensure they were adequately resourced and effective.

5. Reviewed internal and external audit reports, including management responses and corrective actions.

6. Evaluated the performance of statutory auditors and recommended their appointment and remuneration.

7. Reviewed management’s discussion and analysis prior to its inclusion in the Annual Report.

8. Reviewed all related party transactions for transparency and compliance.

Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee extends its sincere appreciation to the Board of Directors, Management, Internal Audit Division,
and all employees for their continued cooperation, dedication, and commitment in ensuring sound governance and
transparency throughout the year.

On behalf of the Audit Committee,

bl

Prof. S. M. Nasrul Quadir
Chairman, Audit Committee
Date: 27 October 2025
Place: Chattogram
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
For the year ended June 30, 2025

Dear Esteemed Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Report of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills
PLC for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

This report has been prepared in compliance with Condition No. 6(5)(c) of the Corporate Governance Code 2018 issued
by the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission (BSEC).

The NRC is responsible to the Board of Directors and the shareholders and assists the Board in formulating policies
regarding the nomination, appointment, qualifications, attributes, experience, and remuneration of Directors and
top-level executives of the Company.

Composition and Meeting of the NRC

The NRC is a sub-committee of the Board of Directors formed in accordance with the requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code of BSEC and operates under its approved Terms of Reference (ToR).

The Committee was reconstituted by the Board in its 165th meeting held on 29 April 2024 with the following members:

Committee Members Board Position Role in the Committee
Prof. S.M. Nasrul Quadir Independent Director Chairman

Prof. Dr. Rafiuddin Ahmed Independent Director Member

Mrs. Farhana Ferdous Non-Executive Director Member

Mr. Mohammad Musa Company Secretary Secretary

During the financial year 2024—-2025, the NRC held one meeting on 19 April 2025 to discharge its assigned duties in line
with the Corporate Governance Code.

Professor S.M. Nasrul Quadir, Independent Director, presided over the meeting as Chairman, and Mr. Mohammad Musa,
Company Secretary, acted as Secretary to the Committee.

Role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC)

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is independent and accountable to the Board and the shareholders. Its
key responsibilities include, among others:

1. Formulating criteria for determining the qualifications, positive attributes, and independence of Directors, and
recommending policies on remuneration for Directors and top-level executives.

o Ensuring remuneration levels are sufficient to attract, retain, and motivate competent leadership.
o Aligning remuneration with performance benchmarks.
o Maintaining a balance between fixed and variable pay to support both short-term and long-term company objectives.

2. Developing a policy on Board diversity, considering age, gender, experience, educational background, and
nationality.

3. Identifying and recommending individuals qualified to become Directors or to hold top-level executive positions,
and making recommendations for their appointment or removal.
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4. Formulating criteria for evaluating the performance of Independent Directors and the Board as a whole.

5. Assessing human resource needs across the Company and determining selection, transfer, promotion, and
succession criteria.

6. Developing and reviewing annually the Company’s human resource and training policies.

Activities of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee during the Year

During the year under review, the NRC carried out the following major activities:

1. Held one (1) meeting during the year and reviewed the implementation status of decisions taken in the previous meeting.

2. Reviewed and recommended the appointment of Mr. Amirul Islam, FCA, FCS as Independent Director of the
Company in accordance with Clause 1(2) of the Corporate Governance Code.

3. Reviewed the Management Letter issued by the External Auditors, particularly points 3, 4, and 5 concerning
Employee Benefits, Workers’ Profit Participation Fund (WPPF), and uninvested participation funds. The
Committee recommended the formulation of Service Rules and a comprehensive Human Resource Policy to
address these issues.

4. Recommended the appointment of Mr. Md. Saleh Ahmed as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) (In-Charge) from
internal resources until the appointment of a permanent CFO from external sources.

5. Reviewed and recommended new appointments and promotions of employees within the Company during the
reporting period.

6. Reviewed and approved the Gode of Conduct for the Chairperson, Managing Director, and other Board Members.
7. Reviewed and recommended the Terms of Reference (ToR) for the Audit Committee.

8. Reviewed and recommended the ToR and Policy for the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) itself.
9. Reviewed the criteria for determining qualifications and positive attributes of top-level executives.

10. Reviewed and recommended the remuneration structure for top-level executives.

11

. Reviewed and recommended the Roles and Responsibilities of the Chairperson, Managing Director, Company
Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, and Head of Internal Audit.

12. Reviewed and recommended the criteria for evaluating the performance of Independent Directors and other Board
Members.
Acknowledgement

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee extends its sincere appreciation to the Board of Directors, management,
and all employees of the Company for their continued cooperation and support during the year. The Committee remains
committed to promoting good governance, transparency, and accountability in all aspects of the Company’s operations.

0On behalf of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee,

'\b\)&_\ "
Prof. S. M. Nasriil Quadir lh
Chairman, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Date: 27 October, 2025
Place: Chattogram
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION POLICY

This Policy was effected from the date of its adoption by the Board i.e. 03/08/2022.

1 Purpose, Objectives and Scope:

1.1 This policy is being adopted in compliance with the Directive of the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange
Commission (BSEC) No. BSEC/CMRRCD/2021-386/03 dated 14 January 2021. The Directive requires formulating
a dividend distribution policy which shall be disclosed in the annual report and official website of the company.

1.2 The Policy sets out the circumstances and different factors for consideration by the Board at the time of taking
decisions of distribution or retention of profits, in the interest of providing transparency to the shareholders.

1.3 The Company shall pursue this Policy, to pay the dividend subject to the business & economic circumstances and
external & internal factors enlisted, which shall be consistent with the performance of the Company over
the years.

2 Definitions:

2.1 “Act” shall mean The Companies Act, 1994 including the Gazette Notification / Rules made thereunder, and as
amended from time to time relating to the Act.

2.2 “Applicable Laws” shall mean the Companies Act, 1994 including the Gazette Notification / Rules made
thereunder, as amended from time to time, and all other acts, rules, regulations, notifications, orders,
circulars etc. of the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission (BSEC), the Dhaka Stock Exchange
Limited (DSE), the Chittagong Stock Exchange Limited (CSE) and such other act, rules or regulations which
applicable to the Company.

2.3 “Company” shall mean HAKKANI PULP AND PAPER MILLS PLC.

2.4 “Board” or “Board of Directors” shall mean Board of Directors of the Company.

2.5 “Dividend” shall mean Dividend as defined under the Companies Act, 1994.

2.6 “CS, CFO, MD” shall mean Company Secretary, Chief Financial Officer and Managing Director of the Company

2.7 “Policy or this Policy” shall mean the Dividend Distribution Policy.

3 Parameters for declaration of dividend:

The Board shall consider the following circumstances for declaration and payment of dividend.
3.1 Financial parameters
(@) Availability of profits;
(b) Financial feasibility of the Company;
(c) Liquidity position;
(d) Business expansions, acquisitions, etc.;
(e) Profit growth.
ANNUAL
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3.2 External factors
(@) Shareholders’ expectations;
(b) Uncertain or recessionary economic and business conditions;
(c) Sectorial performance;
(d) Future uncertainties and industrial downturn;
(e) Government policy;
3.3 Internal factors
(@) Growth rate of past earnings;
(b) Growth rate of predicted profits;
(c) Expansion and modernization of existing business;
(d) Working capital;
3.4 Utilization of retained earnings
The decision of utilization of retained earnings of the Company shall be based on the following factors:
a) Acquisition/Diversification of business;
b) Long term strategic plan;
c

High cost of debt;

e

(
(
(©)
(d) Market or product development/expansion plan;
(e) Increase in production capacity;

(

f)  Modernization Plan;

4 Dividend Consideration Factors:

Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC is committed to returning capital to shareholders via a sustainable dividend
policy subject to consideration of factors such as the business outlook, capital requirements for growth
opportunities, expansion plans, optimal leverage levels and healthy cash reserves in addition to regulatory
approvals.

5 Circumstances under which the shareholders may or may not expect dividend:

5.1 Whenever it undertakes or proposes for a significant expansion project requiring higher allocation of capital;

5.2 Significantly higher working capital requirements adversely impacting free cash flow;

5.3 Inthe event of inadequacy of profits or whenever the Company has incurred losses. l ; ~
b

The decision of dividend payout shall, majorly be based on the aforesaid factors considering the balanced interest
of the shareholders and the Company.

6 Procedure of Dividend Declaration:

6.1 The given below is a summary of the process of declaration and payment of dividends, and is subject to applicable
regulations. 78 —
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6.2 In case of final dividends.

a. The Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer in consultation with the MD / CEO of the Company shall
prepare a proposal note to the Board for recommending the percentage of dividend, if any and that proposal
shall be reviewed by the Board, and shall be recommended for shareholders consideration and
approval.

b. The dividend as recommended by the Board shall be approved/declared by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company.

c. The payment of dividend shall be made within 30 days from the date of declaration to the shareholders
entitled to receive the dividend on the record date/book closure period as per the applicable law.

The Company shall ensure compliance of provisions of Applicable Laws and this Policy in relation to Dividend
declared by the Company.

7 Classes of Shares:

The Company has issued only equity shares. There are no other class of shares issued or proposed to be
issued by the Company. In case of issue of new class of shares in the future, the policy will be reviewed
accordingly.

8 Applicability of the Policy:

This policy is applicable on equity shares of the Company

9 Compliance Responsibilities:

9.1 The Company shall ensure compliance of provisions of Applicable Laws and this Policy in relation to Dividend
declared by the Company.

9.2 Compliance of this Policy shall be the responsibility of the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company who shall act under the guidance of the management in this regard.

10 Review of the Policy:

10.1 This Policy would be subject to revision/amendment in accordance with the guidelines as may be issued by the
National Board of Revenue, Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission or such other regulatory
authority as may be authorized, from time to time, on the subject matter.

10.2 The Company reserves its right to alter, modify, add, delete or amend any of the provisions of this Policy.
10.3 Such amended Policy shall be periodically placed before the Board for adoption immediately after such changes.

11 Publication of the Policy:

This Policy, as approved by the Board, shall be disclosed in the annual report and official website of the company.l ]

— L
12  Disclaimers:

This document does not solicit investments in the Company’s securities. Nor is it an assurance of guaranteed
returns (in any form), for investments in the Company’s equity shares.

79—
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NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY

1. Purpos

This Nomination and Remuneration Policy is formulated in compliance with Notification No.
BSEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/207/Admin/80, dated 03 June 2018, issued by the Bangladesh Securities and
Exchange Commission (BSEC) under the Corporate Governance Code.

The purpose of this policy is to establish a transparent framework for the nomination, appointment, and
remuneration of Directors and Top-Level Executives of the Company. It has been developed by the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee (NRC) and approved by the Board of Directors of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC.

2. Constitution of the NRC

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC is a sub-committee of
the Board, consisting of three (3) members appointed by the Board of Directors.

e At least two members of the Committee shall be Independent Directors, and one member shall be a
Non-Executive Director.

e The Chairperson of the Committee shall be an Independent Director.
e The Company Secretary shall act as the Secretary to the Committee.

The NRC functions independently but in coordination with the Board to ensure good governance, transparency, and
compliance with the BSEC Corporate Governance Code.

3. Responsibilities to the Board of Directors

The Terms of Reference (TOR) of the NRC have been determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with the
BSEC notification.

The NRC assists the Board by:

e Overseeing and recommending policies related to the appointment, evaluation, and remuneration of
Directors and Top-Level Executives.

e Ensuring that the nomination process for Board members and executives is fair, transparent, and
merit-hased.

o Recommending qualification criteria, positive attributes, experience, and independence standards for Directors
and Top-Level Executives.

e Supporting the Board in developing a formal, structured, and transparent remuneration framework. l ' =
4. Role of the NRC -
The NRG shall oversee and make recommendations to the Board on the following matters:
i.  Formulate and recommend a remuneration policy for Directors and Top-Level Executives.

ii. Recommend the principles and guidelines for annual increments and other financial benefits.iii. Ensure that
the remuneration structure is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel.
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iv. Ensure a proper balance between fixed pay and performance-linked incentives consistent with the Company’s

objectives.

v. Develop a Board diversity policy, taking into consideration factors such as age, gender, experience, education,
ethnicity, and nationality.

vi. ldentify and recommend qualified candidates for appointment or removal as Directors or Top-Level Executives.
vii. Formulate criteria for the evaluation of performance of the Board and Independent Directors.

viii. Review and approve the Company’s organizational structure, including selection, promotion, transfer, and
succession planning.

ix. Review and update the Company’s human resources and training policies annually to ensure alignment with
corporate strategy.

5. Meetings of the NRC
e The NRC shall meet at least once annually or more frequently as required.
e Meetings shall be convened by the Chairperson and conducted in accordance with the approved TOR.
e The Company Secretary shall act as the Secretary of the Committee and record minutes of all proceedings.
Key agenda areas may include:
e Reviewing the Code of Conduct for the Board and Management.
e Evaluating the organizational structure and reporting hierarchy.
o Reviewing the pay and benefit structure across all employee levels.
e QOverseeing performance evaluation criteria that guide annual increments and promotions.
6. Nomination and Appointment of Directors and Top-Level Executives

The NRC ensures that the nomination and appointment processes are transparent, inclusive, and
competency-bhased.

Key considerations include:

o Diversity in age, gender, experience, education, and background.
e High standards of integrity, leadership, and independence.

e Alignment with the Company’s values and Code of Conduct.

The NRC also ensures that recruitment and succession planning for Top-Level Executives are non-discriminatory,
strategically aligned, and designed to attract and retain highly capable individuals who can contribute to the lh .
Company’s growth.

7. Remuneration Policy for Directors and Top-Level Executives

The NRC shall recommend a remuneration framework that is fair, competitive, and performance-driven, ensuring
compliance with the Company’s long-term objectives and stakeholder expectations. 81
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The objectives of the remuneration policy are to:

Attract, retain, and motivate high-caliber Directors and Executives.
Reward performance consistent with individual contribution and Company success.
Promote sustainable growth and accountability.

Ensure remuneration decisions are transparent and aligned with market benchmarks.

8. Evaluation of Performance

The NRC is responsible for the annual performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees, and individual
Directors.

The evaluation process includes:

Reviewing the efficiency of Board operations and decision-making.
Assessing the performance of Committees and their coordination with Management.

Evaluating the contribution and effectiveness of individual Directors and Top-Level Executives.

Based on the evaluation, the NRC shall provide feedback and recommend actions for improvement to the Board.

9. Activities of the NRC during the Reporting Period

During the reporting period, the NRC:

Conducted meetings as per its approved schedule and TOR.
Reviewed the effectiveness of the NRG Policy and recommended updates where necessary.
Provided formal reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors.

Ensured that the nomination and remuneration practices remained compliant with the BSEC Corporate
Governance Code.

Supported the Board in promoting a culture of accountability, transparency, and fairness in human resource
and governance practices.
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Khan Wahab Shafique Rahman & Co.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

SINCE 1968
A member of
mglworIdW|d/e%/

KW: F! q A Top 20 ranked international network and association
[ DINIY of independent audit, tax, accounting and consulting firms

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC (the Company), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, and statement of Profit or Loss and other

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at 30 June 2025, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), the Companies Act 1994, the Securities and Exchange Rules
2020 and other applicable laws and regulations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAS). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in jurisdictions, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance these requirements and with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Matters of Emphasis
SIGNIFICANT DECREASED IN NET OPERATING CASH FLOW PER SHARE (NOCFPS):

As disclosed in Note 35, the Company’s Net Operating Cash Flow per Share (NOCFPS) has significantly decreased to Tk.
4.95 for the year ended June 30, 2025, compared to Tk. 7.15 for the year ended June 30, 2024. This decline is mainly
attributable to higher cash outflows related to payments to suppliers, increased operating expenses, and other operating
disbursements.

Dhaka Office: Rupali Bima Bhaban (5th & 6th Floor), 7, Rajuk Avenue, Motijheel, Dhaka-1000, Bangladesh. Tel: +88-02-47122785, 223385136, 47122824
Fax: +88-02-47122824, E-mail: info@kwsrbd.com, kwsr@dhaka.net
Branch Office: Faruk Chamber (9 Floor), 1403, Sk. Mujib Road, Agrabad C/A, Double Mooring, Chattogram, Bangladesh.
Tel: +88-02-333320056, E-mail: kwsrctg@gmail.com

Web: www.kwsrbd.com
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key audit matters described
below, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

We have determined the following key audit matters to communicate in our report.
Merger of Social Islami Bank PLC and Associated Loan Exposure
Key Audit Matter

As disclosed in Note 15.03 to the financial statements, the Company maintains an outstanding loan balance of Tk.
703,824,673 with Social Islami Bank PLC, Agrabad Branch. The Bangladesh Bank has initiated a regulatory-driven
merger process, combining Social Islami Bank PLC with four other Islamic banks under the new entity named United
Islami Bank PLC. The merger arises from liquidity constraints within the Islamic banking sector and may expose the
Company to certain liquidity and operational risks.

Why it is considered a key audit matter:

The merger of the lending bank represents a significant event that may affect the Company’s financing arrangements,
particularly regarding:

the continuity and accessibility of banking operations, potential revisions to existing loan terms and covenants, and
refinancing or fund withdrawal constraints during or after the merger transition period.

Given the magnitude of the outstanding loan and the inherent uncertainty surrounding the ongoing merger process, this
matter required significant auditor attention in assessing management’s evaluation of related risks and the potential
financial impact on the Company.

How the matter was addressed in the audit
Our audit procedures included, among others:

e Obtaining and reviewing relevant Bangladesh Bank circulars and communications regarding the merger of the
concerned Islamic banks;

*  Examining loan agreements, sanction letters, and repayment schedules with Social Islami Bank PLC to assess
exposure and compliance with terms;

*  Holding discussions with management to understand their monitoring process and mitigation plans;

*  Reviewing correspondence between the Company and the bank regarding the continuity of loan facilities and future
repayment arrangements; and Assessing whether appropriate disclosures have been made in the financial
statements in accordance with applicable financial reporting standards.

Based on the audit procedures performed, we found the disclosures in Note 15.03 to be appropriate and management’s
assessment to be reasonable in the context of the information available as of the reporting date.
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Revenue Recognition

The key Audit Matter

The company recognizes revenue from the sales of paper and tissue products when control over goods is transferred to
a customer/dealer. The actual point in time when revenue is recognized varies depending on the specific terms and
conditions of the sales contracts entered into with customers/dealers. The company has a number of customers
operating in various geographies and sales contracts with customers/dealers have a different term relating to the
recognition of revenue, the right of return and price adjustments. Sales arrangements in certain jurisdictions lead to
material deductions to gross sales in arriving at revenue. We identified the recognition of revenue from sale of products
as a key audit matter because;

« Revenue is a key performance indicator of the company and there is risk of revenue being overstated due to fraud
resulting from pressure to achieve targets.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

e Assessing the appropriateness of the policies in respect of revenue recognition by comparing with applicable
accounting standards;

e Evaluating the design, testing the implementation, and operating effectiveness of the company’s internal controls
over recognition of revenue and measurement of rebates, discounts, returns and chargebacks;

* Assessing manual journals posted to revenue to identify unusual items not already covered by our audit testing;

* Evaluating the adequacy of the financial statement disclosures, including disclosures of key assumptions,
judgments, and sensitivities.

Property, Plant & Equipment:
The key Audit Matter

The company has Tk 869,398,864 as Written-Down-Value at Property Plant & Equipment which stands 53.18% of total
assets with new acquisition of Tk 41,265,692 made during the year.

Please refer to Note 4.00 “Property, Plant & Equipment” of the notes to the Financial Statements for relevant details.
How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter:

e Qur procedures in relation to property, plant and equipment included:

*  Obtained an understanding of the management process for acquisition of fixed assets.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of acquisition process of non-current assets.

Testing the key controls over the management’s judgment in relation to the accounting estimates of property, plant, and

equipment. ;
]
Taxation |

The key Audit Matter o

Given the company’s exposure to complex tax issues, the high level of management judgment in estimating the amounts
of reserve and provision for tax and involvement with regulatory authorities, taxation was considered to be a key audit
matter.
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Please refer to Note 16.00 “Deferred Tax Liability” and Note 21.00 “Current Tax Liability” to the financial statements
for relevant disclosures regarding calculation and disclosure of taxation.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter:

o We particularly focused on the impact of whether the tax provision was appropriately recognized; we conducted
interviews with the company’s tax personnel in order to assess the taxable income of the company. We
re-performed the calculations made by the management regarding tax liabilities to ensure compliance with the
provisions of Income Tax Ordinance, 1984 and checked the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations. We also
carefully reviewed for any contingent liabilities to be included in the financial statements in this regard.

o  We also obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operational effectiveness of the Company’s
key controls over the recognition and measurement of deferred tax liabilities and the assumptions used thereon. We
assessed key assumptions, controls, recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets. We also assessed the
appropriateness of presentation of disclosures against “Income Tax”.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information other than
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to the board of directors of the Company.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
IFRSs, the Companies Act 1994, the Securities and Exchange Rules 2020 and other applicable laws and regulations and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. l ' *
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements »

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 86 —
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management but not for the purpose expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the company’s financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision, and performance of the company audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the Companies Act 1994, the Securities and Exchange Rules 2020 and other applicable laws and
regulations, we also report the following:

a. we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary
for the purposes of our audit and made due verification thereof;

b. in our opinion, proper books of accounts as required by law have been kept by the company so far as it appeared
from our examination of these books;

c. the statement of Financial Position and Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive income dealt with by
the report are in agreement with the books of accounts and returns; and

d. the expenditure incurred, and payments made were for the purposes of the company’s business.

Yy

_}xﬁ’ﬁgf

Dated: Chattogram, October 28, 2025 Khan Wahab Shafique Rahman & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Signed By:
Md. Anisur Rahman FCA
Managing Partner
ICAB Entolment: 0350
Firm’s Registration No.: 11970 E.P.
DVC: 2510280350AS101510
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HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

Particulars
ASSETS

Non Current Assets :
Property, Plant and Equipment

Current Assets:

Investment in Shares

Inventories

Trade Receivables

Advances, Deposits & Prepayments
Cash & Cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS
SHARE HOLDERS EQUITY & LIABILITIES

Shareholders Equity:

Share Capital

Dividend Equalization Reserve
Revaluation Reserve

Fair Value Reserve

Retained Earnings

Non Current Liabilities:

Unsecured Loan

Long Term Loan-Non Current Portion
Deferred Tax Liability

Current Liabilities:

Short Term Loan & Overdraft
Liability for Expenses

Workers Profit Participation and Welfare Fund
Long Term Loan-Current Portion
Trade Payables

Current Tax Liabilities

Liabilities for Other Finance
Unclaimed Dividend

Directors Current Account

Total Liabilites

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES

Net Asset Value Per Share (with revaluation)

Net Asset Value Per Share (without revaluation)

e

T

Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2025
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Note(s) Taka Taka
869,398,864 875,669,422
4 869,398,364 | l 875,669,422 |
750,272,773 664,450,362
5 10,249,593 10,656,508
6 390,106,127 341,556,875
7 165,225,169 178,470,664
8 126,567,778 120,220,322
9 58,124,106 13,545,993
1,619,671,637 1,540,119,784
460,514,917 461,487,017
10 190,000,000 190,000,000
11 11,237,712 11,237,712
12 234,016,741 241,697,668
5.01 (1,408,352) (1,469,175)
13 26,668,816 20,020,812
736,828,674 696,003,029
14 57,699,990 57,699,990
15 582,436,047 545,453,320
16 96,692,637 92,849,719
422,328,046 382,629,738
17 61,857,518 39,339,098
18 62,713,789 48,543,088
19 3,149,445 2,275,734
15.01 125,995,409 117,982,208
20 27,125,192 31,025,850
21 27,681,187 31,857,573
22 27,411,388 25,371,558
23 1,892,285 1,532,796
24 84,501,833 84,701,833
1,159,156,720 1,078,632,767
1,619,671,637 1,540,119,784
33 24.24 24.29
34 11.92 11.57
The accounting policies and annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
1. :
i s
DIRECTOR COMPANY SECRETARY

MANAGING DIRECFOR

Chattogram, October 28, 2025
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Signed as per our annexed report of even date.

Khan Wahab Shafique Rahman & Co.
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Chartered Accountants

Signed By: Md. Anisur Rahman FCA
Managing Partner
ICAB Entolment: 0350

Firm’s Registration No.: 11970 E.P.
DVC: 2510280350AS101510
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HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2025

2024 - 2025
Taka

2023 - 2024
Taka

Particulars Note(s)

Revenue 25
Cost of Sales 26
Gross Profit / (Loss)
Operating Expenses:
Administrative Expenses 27
Selling & Distribution Expenses 28
Profit from Operation
Financial Expenses 29
Non-Operating Income 30
Net Profit Before WPPF & WWF
Contribution to WPPF & Welfare Funds 19
Net Pprofit Before Tax
Income Tax Expenses:

Current Tax 21.02

Deferred Tax 31
Net Profit After Tax
Other Comprehensive Income:
Deferred Tax on Revaluation Reserve 12
Unrealized Gain/ (Loss) on Investment in Shares 5.02
Deferred tax on unrealized gain/(loss) on investment in shares 16.02
Total Comprehensive Income
Earnings Per Share - Basic (per value of Tk. 10) 32

The accounting policies and annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

e

L=

MANAGING DIRECTOR

Chattogram, October 28, 2025
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Signed as per our annexed report of even date.

1,041,522,211
(881,738,154)

1,005,250,917
(860, 050,387)

159,784,057 145,200,530
(22,317,440) (22,732,951)
(53,902,329) (53,824,721)
(76,219,769) (76,557,672)
83,564,288 68,642,858
(67,238,936) (62,797,632)
2,022,574 1,724,825
18,347,926 7,570,051
(873,711) (360,479)
17,474,215 7,209,572
(10,870,301) (6,376,471)
(5,192,294) (52,394)
(16,062,595) (6,428,865)
1,411,620 780,707
1,355,457 1,447 836
60,823 (1,549,316)
6,082 (155,823)
1,422,362 (257,303)
2,833,982 523,404
0.07 0.04

Ho

Khan Wahab Shafique Rahman & Co.

COMPANY SECRETARY

/8

Chartered Accountants
Signed By: Md. Anisur Rahman FCA

Managing Partner

ICAB Entolment: 0350
Firm’s Registration No.: 11970 E.P.
DVC: 2510280350AS101510
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HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2025

(Amount in Taka)

Shars | cuslasion || Peaton | Fartae || ot || gy
eserve
Balance as at 01 July 2024 190,000,000 11,237,712 241,697,668 (1,469,175) 20,020,812 461,487,017
Adjustment of depreciation on carrying amount of revalued assets - (9,036,384) 9,036,384
Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus - 1,355,457 1,355,457
Unrealized Gain/(Loss) on Investment in Shares = 60,823 60,823
Dividend for the year 2023-2024 = (3,800,000) (3,800,000)
Net Profit after Tax = 1,411,620 1,411,620
Balance as on 30 June 2025 190,000,000 11,237,712 234,016,741 (1,408,352) 26,668,816 460,514,917
For the year ended 30 June 2024
St | cunion | Farnton | Faviae || font gy
eserve
Balance as at 01 July 2023 190,000,000 11,237,712 249,902,075 80,141 13,387,862 464,607,789
Adjustment of depreciation on carrying amount of revalued assets - (9,652,243) 9,652,243
Deferred Tax on Revaluation Surplus 1,447 836 1,447 836
Unrealized Gain/(Loss) on Investment in Shares (1,549,316) (1,549,316)
Dividend for the year 2022-2023 (3,800,000) (3,800,000)
Net Profit after Tax - 780,707 780,707
Balance as on 30 June 2024 190,000,000 11,237,712 241,697,668 (1,469,175) 20,020,812 461,487,017
The accounting policies and annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Lyt ) (i B
MANAGING DIRECFOR DIRECTOR COMPANY SECRETARY

Chattogram, October 28, 2025
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HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024
Particulars Note(s) Taka Taka

. Cash flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers against sales & other income

1,056,790,280

1,014,411,728

Paid to suppliers, operating and other expenses (959,054,226) (874,981,382)
Income Tax Paid (3,827,728) (3,487,958)
Net cash flows generated by operating activities 4 93,908,326 135,942,388
. Cash flows from Investing Activities:
Acquisition of Property, Plant & Equipment (41,265,692) (56,718,566)
Advance for Machinery (5,350,007) 1,855,805
Sale of Investment in shares 467,745 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities (46,147,954) (54,862,761)
. Cash flows from Financing Activities:
Short Term Loan & Overdraft 22,518,420 -
Long Term Loan 36,982,727 (37,572,987)
Financial Expenses (61,082,725) (51,645,241)
Directors Current Account (200,000) 4,301,833
Liabilities for Other Finance 2,039,830 322,743
Unclaimed dividend paid to CMSF - (1,891,524)
Dividend Paid (3,440,511) (3,457,872)
Net Cash flows used in Financing Activities (3,182,259) (89,943,048)
D. Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Bank Balances (A+B+C) 44,578,113 (8,863,421)
. Opening Cash and Bank Balances 13,545,993 22,409,414
Closing Cash and Bank Balances (D+E) 58,124,106 13,545,993
Net Operating Cash Flows Per Share (NOCFPS) 35 4.94 7.15

The accounting policies and annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

,.ﬂl g
Lo ) g Glo-
N DIRECTOR COMPANY SECRETARY
Signed as per our annexed report of even date.

MANAGING DIRECFOR

Chattogram, October 28, 2025
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1.00
1.01

1.02

2.00
2.01

2.02

HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year ended 30 June 2025

LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF THE BUSINESS:
Status and Legal Form of the Company

Hakkani Pulp and Paper Mills PLC. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") has been incorporated in Bangladesh as a
public company limited by shares under the Companies Act, 1994 vide Registration No. CHC-2462/1996 with the Registrar
of Joint Stock Companies and Firms on December 28, 1996. The Company issued shares to the general public in 2001
and got listed with Dhaka Stock Exchange PLC and Chittagong Stock Exchange PLC.

The registered office of the Company is situated at 2/10, D.T. Road, North Pahartali, Chattogram. The factory is located at
Mouza: Halimkhar Char, P.S: Potiya, Dist: Chattogram on Chattogram-Cox's Bazar Highway.

Nature of Business:

The principal objects of the company is to manufacture different kinds of Pulp, Paper products & Tissue products.
BASIS OF PREPARATION, PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURES OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

Statement of Compliance:

The Financial Reporting Act, 2015 (FRA) was enacted in 2015. The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) under FRA has been
formed in 2017. As per the provision of FRA (section-69), the Financial Statement have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the Companies Act the title and format of these financial
statements follow the requirements of IFRSs which are to some different from requirement of the Companies Act 1994.
However, such differences are not material and view of management, IFRSs format gives a better presentation to the
Shareholders.

Moreover, these Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis following accrual basis of accounting
except for statement of cash flows in accordance with the International Accounting Standard (IASs) and International
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRSs) as adopted in Bangladesh by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh.

Other Regulatory Compliances:

The entities are also required to comply with the following major laws and regulation along with the Companies Act, 1994
The Income Tax Act, 2023

The Income Tax Rules, 1984

The Tax Deduction Rules, 2024

The Value Added Tax and Supplementary Duty Act, 2012

e. The Value Added Tax and Supplementary Duty Rules, 2016

f. The Customs Act, 1969

g. Bangladesh Labor Act, 2006 as amended in 2018

h. The Securities and Exchange Ordinance, 1969

S

o o

i.  The Securities and Exchange Rules, 2020

j. The Corporate Governance Code 2018

k. The Dhaka Stock Exchange & Chittagong Stock Exchange (Listing) Regulations 2015
I. The Financial Reporting Act, 2015

m. International Accounting Standards (IAS)

n. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
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2.03

2.04

2.05

2.06

2.07

Applicable Accounting Standards:

The following IASs and IFRSs are applicable for the Financial Statements for the year under review:

a. IAS-01 Presentation of Financial Statements
b. IAS-02 Inventories
c. IAS-07 Statement of Cash Flows
d. IAS-08 Accounting Policies, Changes In Accounting Estimates and Errors
e. IAS-10 Events after the Reporting period
IAS - 12 Income Taxes
g. IAS-16 Property, Plant and Equipment
h. 1AS-19 Employee Benefits

IAS- 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
j. 1AS-23 Borrowing Costs

k. IAS-24 Related Party Disclosures

[. 1AS-32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

m. IAS - 33 Earnings per Share

n. IAS-36 Impairment of Assets

0. IAS- 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
p. IAS-38 Intangible Assets
q

IFRS- 07 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
r. IFRS-09 Financial Instruments
s. IFRS-15 Revenue From Contract with Customers
t. IFRS-16 Leases
Basis of Reporting:

The Financial Statements have been prepared and presented for general users by the company in accordance with identified
Financial reporting framework, presentation has been made in compliance with the requirements of IAS-1 "Presentation

of Financial Statements”:

a. A Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2025.

b. A Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2025.
c. A Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2025.

d. A Statement of Cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2025.

e. Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and explanatory information.
f.  Comparative information prescribed by the Standard.

Authorization for Issue:

These financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 October 2025.

Reporting Period:
The financial statements of the Company cover Twelve months from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025.

Basis of Measurement :

The Financial Statement have been prepared on going concern basis under the historical cost convention except for

revaluation of non-current assets.
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2.08

2.09

2.10

2.1

2.11.01

Going Concern:

The Company have adequate resources to continue operation in foreseeable future (except otherwise stated). For this
reason, Management continues to adopt going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The current revenue
generations and resources of the Company provide sufficient fund to meet the present requirements of existing business
and operations.

Functional and presentation currency:

These financial statements are prepared in Bangladesh Taka (Taka/Tk/BDT), which is the functional currency of the Company.
All financial information presented in Taka has been rounded off to the nearest integer except when otherwise indicated.

Current versus non-current classification:

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification.

An asset is current when it is:

a. Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle,
b. Held primarily for the purpose of trading,

c. Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period and

d. Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.

The Company classifies all other assets as non-current.

A liability is current when

a. Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

b. Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading,

c. Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period and

d. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current
assets and liabilities respectively.

Use of Estimates and Judgments:

In preparing financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the application of the
company accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognized
prospectively.

Judgments, assumptions and estimation uncertainties:

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies and assumptions and estimation uncertainties that
have the most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

Note: 04 Property, Plant and Equipment
Note: 07 Trade Receivables

Note : 08 Advances, Deposits & Prepayments
Note: 16 Deferred Tax Liability

Note : 20 Trade Payables

Note: 21 Current Tax Liabilities
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3.00 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The specific accounting policies selected and applied by the company management for significant transactions and events

that have material effect within the framework of IAS-1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, in preparation and
presentation of financial statements have been consistently applied throughout the period and were also consistent with
those used in earlier periods, except otherwise stated.

For a proper understanding of the financial statements, these accounting policies are set out below in one place as
prescribed by the IAS-1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. The recommendations of IAS-1 relating to the format of
financial statements were also taken into full consideration for fair presentation.

Set out below is an index of the significant accounting policies, the details of which are available on the following:

3.01
3.02
3.03
3.04
3.05
3.06
3.07
3.08
3.09
3.10
3.1
3.12
3.13
3.14
3.15
3.16
3.17
3.18
3.19
3.20
3.21
3.22
3.23
3.24
3.25
3.26
3.01 Property,
3.01.01 Recognit

Property, plant and equipment
Capital work-in-progress

Impairment of assets

Investment in shares

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Advances, deposits and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Other liabilities

Cash flows statement

Employee benefits scheme
Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Finance income & finance costs:
Non-operating income

Borrowing costs

Taxation

Revenue from contract with customers
Earnings per share (EPS):

Foreign Currency Transactions:
Comparative Information:
Consistency

Events after the reporting

Share Capital

Leases

Accruals

plant and equipment:

ion and measurement:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. The cost of self constructed/installed assets includes the cost of materials,
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direct labor and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the working condition for its intended use and
the cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. when parts of an item
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted separate items (major components) of
property, plant and equipment.

3.01.02 Subsequent costs:

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it
is probable that the future benefit embodied within the part will flow to the company and its cost can be measured reliably.

The costs of the day to day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in

comprehensive income as incurred.

3.01.03 Depreciation:

profit or loss and other

Depreciation is recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income on diminishing balance method
over the estimated useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment. Depreciation is charged on Property , Plant and
Equipment from the usable date i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in

the manner intended by management and no depreciation is charged in the month of disposal.

No depreciation is charged on land and capital work-in-progress. Depreciation is charged on all other fixed assets on a
diminishing balance method. Depreciation of an assets is charged by the rates depending on the nature and estimated
useful life of assets are given below:

© o N o o ~ w hp o~

—_
—_ O

12.
13.

Non Current Assets

Building & Other Civil Construction

Plant & Machinery
Furniture & Fixtures

Office Equipment

Electric Installation

Gas Line Installation
Telephone Line Installation
Water Line Installation

Fire Extinguisher

. Office Decoration
. Vehicle

Motor Vehicle
Factory Equipment

Rate of Depreciation

5%
7%
10%
10%
10%
10%
10%
10%
20%
10%
20%
20%
20%

Upon retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and resulting
gain or loss is charged or credited to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

3.01.04 Non- Current asset held for Sales:

Non-current assets that are highly probable to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are
classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale the assets are remeasured in accordance with
the companies accounting policies. There after, the assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are recognized to revaluation reserve
to the extent of revaluation surplus, in excess of revaluation surplus and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognized in the Statement of profit or loss. Gains are not recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

If criteria for an asset to be classified as held for sale are no longer met, then the asset or disposal company ceases to be

held for sale.
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3.02

3.03

3.04

3.05
3.05.01

3.05.02

3.06

In this case, the asset or disposal company should be valued at the lower of the carrying amount before the asset or
disposal company was classified as held for sale (as adjusted for any subsequent depreciation, amortization, or
revaluation) and its recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

Capital Work In Progress :

Property, plant and equipment under construction/acquisition is accounted for and measured at cost as capital
work-in-progress until construction/acquisition is completed and it is ready for use.

The cost of capital work in progress comprises:
1) Purchase price includes import duties.

2) Any cost directly attributable to bringing the assets to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the
Management.

The cost of capital working progress shall be recognized as property, plant and equipment when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with its intended use will follow to the entity as per paragraph 7 of IAS- 16 property, plant
and equipment.

Impairment of Assets:

An impairment test is carried out by the Management at the end of each reporting year to ascertain whether there is any
indication that an assets is impaired if any such indication exists, the impairment losses for an individual assets is
measured and recognized in the financial statements in accordance with IAS-36 Impairment of asset.

Investment in Shares:

This investment in shares is initially recognized and measured at transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the said financial asset. The management considered investment in shares as available for sale financial
assets to present its subsequent changes in fair value through other comprehensive income in accordance with paragraph
5.7.5 of IFRS-9.

The cumulative gain or loss that was recognized in fair value adjustment reserve will be recognized in profit or loss when
this investment will be sold.

Inventories:
Nature of inventories:

Inventories comprise Raw Materials, Packing Materials, Consumable spares & Stores, Work-in -Process and Finished
Goods etc.

Valuation of the inventories:

Inventories are measured at lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring these inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition in accordance with 1AS-2.

Category Basis of Valuation

Finished Goods Finished goods are valued at cost or NRV whichever is lower.

Raw materials Raw materials are valued at weighted average method.

Work in Process Work in process is valued at 100% cost of raw materials, 75% cost of labor and
50% cost of overhead.

Consumable stores Based on weighted average method.

Packing materials Based on weighted average method.

Trade and Other Receivables:

Trade and other receivables are recognized at cost which is the fair value of the consideration given in return.
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3.07

3.08

3.09

3.10

3.1

3.12

3.13

Advances, deposits and prepayments:

Advances are measured at cost. After recognition, advances are carried at cost less deductions, adjustments or charges to
other account heads such as property, plant and equipment, inventory or expenses.

Deposits are measured at payment value.
Prepayments are initially measured at cost.
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short term fixed deposits with
banks.

Trade and other payable:

The company recognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations arising from past events are certain and the
settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the group of resources embodying economic benefits.

Other liabilities:

Other liabilities represents the amounts due to various parties for receiving services. These are initially recognize date cost
which is the fair value.

Statement of cash flows:

Statement of cash flows is prepared in accordance with IAS-7: Cash Flows Statement and the cash flows from operating
activities have been presented under direct method.

Employee benefit schemes:
i)  Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the
company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably

ii) Workers' Profit Participation and Welfare Funds

The Company operates fund for workers as workers' profit participation and welfare fund ("the Fund") and provides
5% of its profit before tax as per provision of the Bangladesh Labor Act 2006. The Company recognizes the
contribution to the fund as short term employee benefits. The Fund is governed by Bangladesh Labor Act, 2006 as
amended in 2018.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets:
i)  Provisions

A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate thereof can be made, Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the Current best estimate, If it is no longer probable that an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits are required to settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed.

ii) Contingent lability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non occurrence of one of more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Company; or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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3.14
3.14.01

3.14.02

3.15

3.16

3.17
3.17.01

3.17.02

3.18

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position of the Company. Moreover,
contingencies arising from claims, litigations, assessments, fines, penalties, etc. are recorded when it is probable that
a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

iii) Contingent asset

Contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. The
company does not recognize contingent asset.

Finance income & finance costs:
Finance income:

Finance income comprise interest income of funds invested and is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss using the
effective interest method.

Finance costs:

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and foreign exchange gain or loss. Borrowing costs that are not
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss using
the effective interest method.

Non- Operating income:

Non- operating income includes interest income on delayed receipts from customers, gain/(loss) on sale of fixed assets
and miscellaneous receipts. Other operating income is recognized as revenue income as and when realized.

Borrowing Cost:

Interest and other costs incurred by the company in connection with the borrowing of funds are recognized as expense in
the period in which they are incurred, unless such borrowing cost progress that are capitalized as per IAS-23:

Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the year in which its incurred as per paragraph 8 of 1AS-23
Borrowing Cost.

Taxation:
Current Tax:

The Company are maintaining provision for taxation using rates enacted at the reporting date. The Company complies with
the applicable tax laws in Bangladesh.

Deferred Tax:

Deferred Tax liabilities are the amount of income taxes payable in future years in respect of taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of timing differences arising between the
carrying value of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted on the balance sheet date. The
impact on the account of changes in the deferred tax assets or liabilities has been recognized in the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as per IAS-12.

Revenue from contract with customers:

The Company recognizes as revenue the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for goods or services when (or as) it transfers control to the customer. To achieve that core principle
follow IFRS 15 five-step model as follows:

1. ldentify the contract with a customer;
2. ldentify the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determine the transaction price;
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3.19

3.19.01

3.19.02

3.20

3.21

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation;

Considering the five steps model, the Company recognizes revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good to a customer. Goods are considered as transferred when (or as) the customer
obtains control of that goods. Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of consideration received or
receivable, net of Value Added Tax (VAT). Gross turnover comprises local sales of Newsprint Paper, M.G newsprint Paper,
Khata and Tissue paper, and includes VAT paid to the Government of Bangladesh. Major portion of the sales revenue has
been realized through banking channel except in a few cases.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligation in
contracts with customers:

Nature and timing of satisfaction of
Types of Sales performance obligations, including
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition
under IFRS 15

Customers obtain control of products when goods are | Revenue is recognized when (or as)
shipped out at factory gate. Invoices raised as per | the entity satisfies a performance
management approves price list are generated at that | obligation by transferring the

Local Sales

point in time. Invoices are usually paid in cash as | promised good or service to a

Export Sales . )
advance before getting delivery of the goods. customer.

Earnings per share (EPS):

The company calculates its earnings per share in accordance with IAS-33: Earnings per Share which has been reported on
the face of statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Basis of earnings:

This represents Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders. As there is no preference dividend or
extra ordinary items, the net profit/(Loss) after tax for the period has been considered fully attributable to the ordinary
shareholders.

Basic Earnings Per share:

This represents profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholder. As there were no preference shares requiring
returns or dividends, the net fully attributable to the ordinary shareholders.

Foreign Currency Transaction:

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Taka at the foreign exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction.
All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date are translated to Taka at the rates of
exchange prevailing on that date. Resulting exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on
translating monetary items at the end of the reporting period are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as per IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

Non-Monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of transactions.

Comparative Information:

Comparative information has been disclosed in respect of 30 June 2024 in accordance with IAS-1: Presentation of Financial
Statements, for all numeric information in the financial statements and also the narrative and descriptive information where
it is relevant for understanding of the current periods financial statements. Prior year's figures have been rearranged
wherever considered necessary to ensure comparability with the current year.
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3.22

3.23

3.24

3.25

3.26

4.00

Consistency:

Unless otherwise stated, the accounting policies and methods of computation used in preparation of Financial Statements
for the year are consistent with those policies and methods adopted in preparing the Financial Statements for the previous
year.

Events after the reporting:

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the company's position at the date of Statement
of financial position or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are reflected in the financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when material.

Share Capital:

Paid-up capital represents total amount contributed by the shareholders. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared to time and are entitled to vote at shareholders meetings.

Leases:

The Company treated office rent as cancelable short-term leases of low-value assets. Currently the Company has
short-term lease of low value assets. The company will not recognize right of use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities for
short-term leases.

Accruals:

Accruals are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied but have not been paid, invoiced or
formally agreed with the supplier, including amongst due to employees. Accruals are reported as part of trade and other
payables.

PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT:
30 June 2025 30 June 2024

Taka Taka
Balance as on 01 July (including revaluation) 1,462,726,048 1,333,750,909
Add: Addition during the year 41,265,692 128,975,140
Balance as on 30 June 1,503,991,740  1,462,726,048
Less: Accumulated depreciation 634,592,876 587,056,627
Written down value as on 30 June 869,398,864 875,669,422

(@) Details of Group Wise Property, Plant & Equipment with cost, addition and adjustment during the year, depreciation
and written down value are shown at Note-4.01

(b) A Fixed Assets Register is being maintained but not with the level of detail required under IAS 16 Property, Plant, and
Equipment .As the last revaluation was carried out in the financial year 2010-2011 by M/S. G.K. Adjusters given the
time elapsed since that revalution, some transactions or information may be incomplete or outdated.
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
5.00 INVESTMENT IN SHARES:
5.01 The details of company-wise investments in shares, stated at their respective market values as at 30 June 2025, are
presented below.
Name of Company No. of Shares Cost Value Market Value é]n_realized
ain/(Loss)
Brac Bank PLC 17,316 158,299 870,995 712,696
DESCO Ltd. 5,000 238,287 114,000 (124,287)
Dhaka Bank PLC 28,874 210,234 294,515 84,280
Exim Bank PLC 53,401 1,080,863 293,706 (787,157)
Grameenphone Ltd. 10,700 3,995,855 3,247,450 (748,405)
Islami Bank Bangladesh PLC. 5,570 198,339 205,533 7,194
Jamuna Qil Company Ltd. 2,299 271,136 411,521 140,385
Lafarge Holcim Bangladesh PLC 10,000 805,409 476,000 (329,409)
Meghna Petroleum Ltd. 2,402 249,369 492,650 243,281
Mutual Trust Bank PLC 23,350 207,749 279,967 72,217
National Bank Ltd. 82,779 902,974 281,449 (621,525)
One Bank PLC. 40,032 296,251 276,221 (20,030)
Shahjalal Islami Bank Ltd. 41,135 249,341 678,728 429,387
Square Pharmaceuticals PLC. 9,200 1,826,477 1,923,720 97,243
Standard Bank PLC. 22,637 200,804 147,141 (53,663)
Titas Gas T&D Co. Ltd. 13,250 766,559 256,000 (510,559)
Total 367,945 11,657,945 10,249,593 (1,408,352)
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
5.02 Gain/(Loss) on Investment in Shares:
Unrealized Gain/ (Loss) Closing (1,408,352) (1,469,175)
Less: Unrealized Gain/ (Loss) Opening (1,469,175) 89,046
Add: Deferred tax Opening - 8,905
Gain/ (Loss) on Investment in Shares during the year 60,823 (1,549,316)
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6.00

7.00

INVENTORIES:

Raw Materials Note-6.01
Finished Goods  Note-6.02
Work-In-Process
Consumable Spares & Stores
Stores Packing Materials

6.01 Raw Materials
\Wastage Paper
Chemicals ltems

6.02 Finished Goods
Newsprint Paper
Khata

Tissue Papers

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
Quantity
Unit
2024-2025 2023-2024

KG 1,752,759 1,184,149 100,837,970 93,461,252
KG 1,417,042 1,418,363 215,484,252 180,664,204
KG 301,314 301,854 28,954,845 31,773,179
PCS 16,798 15,534 8,994,026 8,406,277
PCS 633,615 867,346 35,835,034 27,251,963
390,106,127 341,556,875
KG 1,629,123 1,152,535 83,506,501 65,299,780
KG 123,636 31,614 17,331,469 28,161,472
100,837,970 93,461,252
KG 771,052 771,552 105,542,236 76,103,408
KG 33,508 33,568 4,196,765 5,651,060
KG 612,482 613,242 105,745,251 98,909,736
215,484,252 180,664,204

Inventories comprise raw materials, consumable stores and spare parts, packing materials, work-in-process, and finished
goods. The valuation of inventories has been made in accordance with IAS 2 — Inventories, as detailed below:

(a) Raw materials, consumable stores and spare parts, and packing materials are valued at cost, determined using the

weighted average method.

(b) Work-in-process is valued at cost, which includes 100% of raw material cost, 75% of direct labour cost, and 50% of
manufacturing overheads incurred up to the reporting date.

(c) Finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).
(d) Cost includes all expenditure incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition.

(e) Physical verification of inventories was carried out at the year-end by the management in the presence of the
company’s auditors, and the results of the physical count were found to be in agreement with the book records.

TRADE RECEIVABLES:

Al- Madina Paper House
Anupam Traders

AR Trading

Agrani Printing Press
Anik Traders

A.S. Enterprise

AG Paper House

Avoy Enterprise

Babul Store

Barcode Restaurant Group
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7,462,171

1,518,122
309,245
60,930
6,253,507
41,115,949

124,855
3,665,778
3,311,293
1,960,122

419,245

149,075

300,000
4,879,011

41,115,949

514,874
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Bhai Bhai Store

Bhai Bhai Traders
Chandpur Paper House
CGT Tissue

Eastern Paper House
Epic Health Care
Fuluwang Limited
Garibe Newaj Traders
Habib Enterprise

Handi Restaurant
Hazarat Shahajan Shah Stationary House
Health Point Hospital
Hotel Zaman

Ibn Sina Hospital
Intimate Apparels Ltd
Jogonnata Store

M/S. Helal Enterprise
M/S. Rafiq Library
M/S. Razzak Traders

M J Paper House

Molla Traders

New City Gold

Nur Nahar Traders
Oniruddho Trading
Rapid Pack Limited
Robin Enterprise

Rubel & Sons

Resimax Industries Ltd.
RM Trade International
Sajib Enterprise
Shahnaj Trading Corporation
Sikandar Para Banijik Songasta
S.K Traders

Sabbir Enterprise
Shohan Enterprise
Tanvir Enterprise

Amir & Brothers
o ) Note-7.05
Siddique Enterprise

Other Receivables

ANNUAL
REPORT

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
172,464 566,814
349,456 569,456
4,569,860 436,760
345,638 630,638
5,375,288 6,448,288
226,740 271,296
1,224,816 1,637,816
- 566,495
- 269,692
192,300 161,820
- 130,869
79,635 87,621
- 90,000
156,848 148,457
490,551 540,878
- 100,000
213,906 335,906
- 1,050,853
- 143,667
6,498,783 6,908,783
771,485 996,127
- 280,011
- 154,052
2,140,026 1,641,386
216,031 5,434,368
347,183 597,183
3,361,191 3,826,191
- 93,230
2,651,446 3,221,447
2,026,526 2,730,226
104,076 407,052
1,523,039 2,054,736
11,914,940 918,933
- 142,342
53,074 8,264,094
2,850,718 2,865,899
760,160 760,160
436,114 436,114
59,452,951 66,110,802
165,225,169 178,470,664




SOOI AT G (T fAeTs] Praafs
HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

30 June 2025 30 June 2024

Taka Taka

7.01 Ageing of Trade Receivables:
Below-30 Days 28,088,279 30,340,013
Within 31- 60 Days 33,045,034 35,694,133
Within 61 - 90 Days 23,131,524 24,985,893
Within 90 - 180 Days 19,827,020 21,416,480
Above 180 Days 61,133,313 66,034,145

165,225,169 178,470,664

7.02 Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers arising in the ordinary course of business.

7.03 These receivables are unsecured but considered good and collectible by the management; hence, no provision for expected
credit losses has been recognized as at 30 June 2025.

7.04 Suits have been filed against Babul Store for recovery of Tk. 41,415,949 (CR Case Nos. 172/22 to 182/22, dated 10 January
2022), initially before the Chief Metropolitan Magistrate Court, Chattogram, and later transferred to the Metropolitan
Sessions Judge Court.
Charges were framed on 11 September 2022, and the complainant’s deposition was recorded in nine cases on 18 October
2023. Petitions under Section 561A of the Criminal Procedure Code were dismissed by the Hon’ble High Court Division,
and appeals are currently pending before the Hon’ble Appellate Division.
Based on legal advice, the management does not anticipate any material adverse financial impact from these cases.

7.05 The Company has filed suits against Amir & Brothers (CR Case Nos. 74/24, 75/24, 76/24) and Siddique Enterprise (CR
Case Nos. 547/24, 548/24) for recovery of outstanding dues. The cases, initially marked “Ready for Trial” at the Chief
Metropolitan Magistrate Court, Chattogram, have been transferred to the Metropolitan Sessions Judge Court, Chattogram,
and are pending hearing on charge framing. Based on legal advice, the management does not expect any material financial
impact.

8.00 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS & PREPAYMENTS:
Advance Against Income Tax (Note: 8.01) 31,116,672 42,335,631
Advance Against Salary & Wages (Note: 8.02) 323,207 450,207
Advance Against Expenditure (Note: 8.03) 35,200,373 23,147,788
Advance Against L/C (Note: 8.04) 42,818,395 40,179,099
Deposits and Prepayments (Note: 8.05) 17,109,131 14,107,597

126,567,778 120,220,322
8.01 Advance Against Income Tax
[
Advance Income Tax Paid 5,516,792 14,780,922 lh
Advance Income Tax - Import 1,577,995 1,825,030
Advance Income Tax - Export 224,519 465,119 -
Advance Income Tax Deducted at Source 23,178,267 23,835,657
Advance Income Tax Deducted at Source (Dividend Income) 619,099 1,428,905
31,116,672 42,335,631 107
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8.02

8.03

8.04
8.05

9.00

Advance Against Salary & Wages

Advance Against Expenditure

VAT Return-Mushak 9.1

Lanka Bangla Securities PLC.

City Brokerage PLC.

Bank Gaurantee Margin

Advances for spares parts and other materials
Advance to Shah Jabed Ahmed (Ex. Excutive Director)

Advance Against L/C

Deposits

Security Deposit (PBS-1)

Security Deposit (BGSL) Boiler
Security Deposit (BGSL) Generator
PDB)

GEP Holdings Ltd)
Security Deposit (Grameenphone)
Security Deposit (BTCL)

Security Deposit (CDBL)

Security Deposit

(
(
(
(
Security Deposit (
(
(
(

Security Deposit- Bank Guarantee Against Gas Generator

Security Deposit- Bank Guarantee Against Boiler
Security Deposit Container Purpose

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
323,207 450,207
1,082,061 46,364
906 138,884
899 127,169
628,923 628,923
33,487,584 20,770,870
- 1,435,578
35,200,373 23,147,788
42,818,395 40,179,099
3,321,100 3,321,100
6,531,912 4,875,831
4,455,445 3,140,712
55,920 25,200
8,000 8,000
20,000 20,000
6,000 6,000
300,000 300,000
257,040 257,040
1,043,250 1,043,250
1,110,464 1,110,464
17,109,131 14,107,597

The management believes that all advances, deposits, and prepayments disclosed above are fully recoverable either in cash
or in kind. Accordingly, no provision for impairment has been recognized as at the reporting date.

CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Cash in hand Note 9.01
Cash at banks Note 9.02
Fixed deposit with banks Note 9.03

ANNUAL
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948,828 1,273,644
50,097,446 5,689,894
7,077,832 6,582,455
58,124,106 13,545,993
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
9.01 Cash In Hand
At Head Office 923,828 1,233,644
At Dhaka Office 10,000 10,000
At Factory 15,000 30,000
948,828 1,273,644
9.02 Cash at Banks
Bank Branch Account Number Taka Taka
Bangladesh Krishi Bank Ltd. | Agrabad CD A/C-2903-0210014807 - 650
First Security Islami Bank PLC. | Agrabad STD A/C - 010413100000463 57,664 57,487
Social Islami Bank PLC. Agrabad STD Account-41360000458 311,554 350,782
Social Islami Bank PLC. Agrabad CD A/C - 0041330027978 33,885,127 870,109
Southeast Bank PLC. Pahartali CD A/C - 004111100007246 2,155 6,305
National Bank Ltd. Pahartali CD A/C-1055001054103 140,922 207,058
Premier Bank PLC. Agrabad CD A/C No-010311100015243 280,762 281,602
Prime Bank PLC. Laldighi East | CD A/C -2145111015816 654,485 13,253
Islami Bank Bangladesh PLC. | Agrabad CD A/C No-20501030100588315 522,306 1,644,445
Mercentile Bank PLC. AK Khan CD A/C No-117511121143947 - 3,739
Trust Bank Ltd. CDA Avenue | CD A/C No-00200210009922 19,528 102,708
Standard Bank PLC. Jubilee Road | CD A/C No-01233005212 90,039 5,193
United Commercial Bank PLC. | Pahartali CD A/C-No 0971101000000078 8,672 137,405
Eastern Bank PLC. Agrabad CD A/C No-11071082755 1,258,882 183,374
Pubali Bank PLC. Pahartali CD A/C No-825901027548 1,259,535 1,436,213
Dutch Bangla Bank PLC. Agrabad CD A/C No- 1021100040340 156,440 389,572
Mutual Trust Bank PLC. Alankar Moor | CD A/C No- 1301000334447 39,887 -
Islami Bank Bangladesh PLC. | Pahartali CD A/C No-20506920100018417 11,409,488 -
50,097,446 5,689,894
ANNUAL
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka

9.03 Fixed Deposit With Banks

Particulars Tenure Purpose Rate of Taka Taka
Interest

Mercantile Bank PLC, A.K
Khan Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 9% 418,378 404,915

1410000495044

Mercantile Bank PLC, A.K
Khan Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 9% 526,879 509,924
1410000538124

Mercantile Bank PLC, A.K
Khan Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 9% 846,181 818,951
1410000443135

Mercantile Bank PLC, A.K
Khan Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 9% 2,612,056 2,528,000
1410001438299

Bangladesh Krishi Bank Ltd.
Agrabad Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 6% 262,780 247,853
29030330045646

Social Islami Bank PLC
Agrabad Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 9.5% 465,568 434,298
0045330035138

Pubali Bank PLC, Pahartali
Branch, A/C # One Year Guarantee 9.5% 1,745,990 1,638,515
0825104032609

National Bank PLC, Pahartali
Branch, A/C # Seven Year Bond 13% 200,000 -
10550-0105-4103

Total 7,077,832 6,582,455

a. The cash in hand balance as at 30 June 2025 has been physically verified and confirmed by the management in the
presence of the company’s auditors.

b.  All bank account balances have been reconciled with the respective bank statements, and the reconciliations were
found to be in order. The balances presented represent the actual cash and cash equivalents available to the Company

at year end. 4
]
| %
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
10.00 SHARE CAPITAL:
10.01 Authorized:
100,000,000 Ordinary shares of Tk. 10.00 each. 1,000,000,000 500,000,000
10.02 Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up:
85,00,000 Ordinary shares of Tk. 10.00 each fully paid up in cash. 85,000,000 85,000,000
1,05,00,000 Ordinary shares of Tk. 10.00 each fully paid up other than cash. 105,000,000 105,000,000
190,000,000 190,000,000
10.03 The break up of shareholdings as on 30 June 2025:
% of % of
Description gluo J[::nih%;; shareholding gluo J[::nseh;l;;i shareholding
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Sponsors & Directors 8,982,130 47.28 9,082,130 47.80
Institute 1,837,091 9.67 920,448 4.84
General Public 8,180,779 43.05 8,997,422 47.36
Total 19,000,000 100 19,000,000 100
10.04 Number of shareholders & their shareholdings in percentage are as follows:
No. of No. of Percentage of
Shareholders Shareholdings Shareholdings
Range of Holdings
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Less than 500 shares 1,916 2,233 330,143 419,494 1.74 2.21
501 to 5,000 Shares 1,296 1,751 2,443,115 3,101,157 12.86 16.32
5,001 to 10,000 Shares 226 247 1,663,430 1,789,440 8.75 9.42
10,001 to 20,000 Shares 106 111 1,468,670 1,551,821 7.73 8.17
20,001 to 30,000 Shares 40 36 1,012,271 873,365 5.33 4.60
30,001 to 40,000 Shares 18 8 640,349 281,594 3.37 1.48
40,001 to 50,000 Shares 11 5 517,120 223,897 2.72 1.18
50,001 to 100,000 Shares 14 15 848,864 899,270 4.47 473
100,001 to 1,000,000
13 15 5,676,040 6,826,630 29.87 35.93
Shares
Over 1,000,000 Shares 3 2 4,399,998 3,033,332 23.16 15.96
Total 3,643 4,423 | 19,000,000 | 19,000,000 100 100 ‘
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10.05 Market price of Shares:
The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on Dhaka Stock Exchange PLC and Chittagong Stock Exchange PLC. As at 30
June 2025, the shares were quoted at Tk. 64.50 and Tk. 64.00 per share, respectively, with a nominal (face) value of Tk.
10.00 per share.
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
11.00  DIVIDEND EQUALIZATION RESERVE:
Dividend Equalization Reserve is made-up as follows:
Balance as on 01 July 11,237,712 11,237,712
Balance as on 30 June 11,237,712 11,237,712
Dividend Equalization Reserve was established in prior years with the approval of the Board of Directors. The purpose of
this reserve is to ensure the payment of dividends to shareholders during periods of lower profitability or financial
constraints.
12.00  REVALUATION RESERVE:
A revaluation of Land , Buildings and Plant and Machinery has been made during the financial year 2010-2011 by M/S. G.
K. Adjusters, a professional valuer and the surplus amount of these assets were transferred to Revaluation Reserve
Account. Breakup of such surplus is as follows:
Land and land development 139,028,020 139,028,020
Factory Building & Other Civil Constructions 110,663,849 110,663,849
Plant & Machinery 227,369,650 227,369,650
477,061,519 477,061,519
Less: Depreciation on Revalued Assets till 30.06.2025 (Note-4.01) 201,747,706 192,711,321
275,313,813 284,350,198
Less : Adjustments for Deferred Tax @15% 41,297,072 42,652,530
Balance as on 30 June 234,016,741 241,697,668
Revaluation Reserve relates to the revaluation of Property, Plant & Equipment.
i) Effective date of valuation 18th April, 2011
ii) Intial reserve of revaluation amount of Tk. 477,061,519
13.00  RETAINED EARNINGS:
Balance as on 01 July 20,020,812 13,387,862
Less: Dividend declared for the year 2023-2024 as approved in the AGM 3,800,000 3,800,000
16,220,812 9,587,862
Add: Net profit/(loss) after tax 1,411,620 780,707
17,632,432 10,368,569
Add: Revaluation Surplus Realized (Note-4.01) 9,036,384 9,652,243
Balance as on 30 June 26,668,816 20,020,812
ANNUAL
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14.00

15.00

15.01

15.02

UNSECURED LOAN:

Mr. Mohammed Abdullah, Ex-Chairman

Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum, Director

Mr. Md. Golam Haider, Ex-Vice Chairman

Mr. Md. Golam Kibria, Managing Director

Mr. Md. Golam Morshed, Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Md. Golam Mostofa, Ex-Managing Director

Mr. Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir, Chairman

The above loans from directors are interest free.

LONG TERM LOAN:
HPSM Loan Under Tissue Projects
Bai Muazzal Term loan

Term Loan

LONG TERM LOAN-MATURITY ANALYSIS:
Due within the period- Current Portion
Due after more than the period- Non-Current Portion

TERMS OF LONG TERM LOAN:
Hire Purchase under Shirkatul Melk (HPSM) Loan

Lenders:

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
19,448,060 19,448,060
3,800,000 3,800,000
7,457,975 7,457,975
13,114,175 13,114,175
4,707,475 4,707,475
4,464,830 4,464,830
4,707,475 4,707,475
57,699,990 57,699,990
470,726,470 441,146,934
233,098,203 215,518,693
4,606,783 6,769,901
708,431,456 663,435,528
125,995,409 117,982,208
582,436,047 545,453,320
708,431,456 663,435,528

The Company has entered into a secured long-term loan agreement with Social Islami Bank PLC, Agrabad Branch,

Chattogram.

Total Long Term Loan Facilities:

Total disbursement amount was Tk. 311,176,404 against sanction amount of total long term loan Tk. 432,634,000.

Rate of Interest:

Interest rate is 15.50% per annum subject to change as per decision of the management of the Bank and variable
depending on the situation of money market. The company currently enjoying the loan @ 15.50% interest.

Disbursement:

The disbursement of Hire Purchase under Shirkatul Melk (HPSM) Commercial Loan was made on November 24, 2015 for
Balancing, Modernization, Replacement and Expansion (BMRE) of existing unit and Tissue Unit on January 01, 2017 and

May 17, 2017 respectively.

Repayments:

This secured long term loan is repayable in 66 (Sixty Six) months.

ANNUAL
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Securities:

i.  Hypothecation of stock.

ii. Land, Building and Machinery has been placed as prime securities against the loans.

iii. Total 697.13 decimal land has been placed as prime securities against the loan.

iv. Creation of charge with RUSC.

v. Personal Guarantee of Director was also provided.

Purpose:

The loan has been taken for business expansion of existing project and establishment of Tissue Project.

BAI MUAZZAL (BAIM) LONG TERM LOAN:

Lender and Sanction:

Bai-Muazzal (Commercial Trading) loan was sanctioned by Social Islami Bank PLC, Agrabad Branch on 5 May 2015. The
loan was rescheduled on 5 November 2023 and converted into a long-term loan repayable in 57 installments.rescheduled
dated on 5 November 2023 and converted into long term loan which is repayble in 57 installments.

Loan Limit and Interest Rate:

The sanctioned limit of the loan is Tk. 13 crore, carrying interest at 15.50% per annum.
Purpose:

The loan was obtained to meet the working capital requirements of the Company’s Paper Unit.

15.03 Loan with Social Islami Bank PLC

The Company maintains an outstanding loan balance of Tk. 703,824,673 with Social Islami Bank PLC, Agrabad Branch,
which is currently in the process of being merged with four other Islamic banks under the name United Islami Bank PLC,
as per regulatory directives issued by the Bangladesh Bank.

The merger has been initiated in response to liquidity constraints observed within the Islamic banking sector. In view of
this development, there exists potential exposure to liquidity and operational risks, including uncertainties regarding the
continuity of banking operations, possible revisions to existing loan terms, and potential challenges in fund accessibility or
refinancing arrangements.

The Company Management is monitoring the situation and maintaining regular communication with the bank to ensure
continued access to necessary banking facilities. At this stage, no material adverse impact on the Company’s financial
position has been identified; however, management remains vigilant and will take appropriate measures to mitigate any
potential financial or operational risks arising from the merger process.

30 June 2025 30 June 2024

Taka Taka
16.00 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY:
Balance as on 01 July 50,197,189 50,300,617
Deferred Tax (Income)/ Expenses for the year -(Note-16.01) 5,192,294 52,394 "
Investment in shares (Note-16.02) 6,082 (155,823) l Y
55,395,565 50,197,189 B
Add: Deferred Tax for Revaluation Surplus (Note-12.00) 41,297,072 42,652,530 -
Balance as on 30 June 96,692,637 92,849,719

This represents provision made for deferred income tax to pay future income tax liability for temporary differences of
Property, plant and equipment value. Calculation of Deferred Tax Liability as on 30.06.2025 has been shown at Note-16.01
& 16.02. 114
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30 June 2025 30 June 2024

Taka Taka
16.01 Deferred Tax Liability on Property, Plant and Equipment:

(@) Carrying Amount of Property, Plant and Equipment (less revaluation and land value)

as on 30 June 549,298,478 547,289,261
(b) Tax Based Property, Plant and Equipment 302,470,028 295,568,727
(c) Net Taxable Temporary Differences (a-b) 246,828,450 251,720,534
(d) Deferred Tax liability at effective Tax Rate 22.50% 55,536,401 50,344,107
(e) Deferred Tax expense/(income) on Net Taxable Temporary differences 5,192,294 (52,395)

Carrying amount of Property, Plant & Equipment represents net written down value of assets as on 30.06.2025

16.02 Deferred Tax Liability on Investment in Shares:

(@) Market value of Investment in Shares as on 30 June 10,249,593 10,656,508
(b) Costvalue of Investment in Shares as 30 June 11,657,945 12,125,683
(c) Net Taxable Temporary Differences (a-b) (1,408,352) (1,469,175)
(d) Deferred Tax liability at effective Tax Rate 10% (140,835) (146,918)
(e) Deferred Tax expense/(income) on Net Taxable Temporary differences 6,082 155,823

17.00 SHORT TERM LOAN AND OVERDRAFT:
Mercantile Bank PLC. A.K Khan Branch-Cash Credit (CC) Hypo

A/C:117577521729167 41,161,602 38,603,803
LATR, Sight LG Loan From Mercantile Bank PLC. 9,773,261 -
UPAS Loan from Mercantile Bank PLC. 10,187,360 -
Other Short Term Loan 735,295 735,295

61,857,518 39,339,098

17.01 Short Term Borrowing:

Short term loan and overdraft 17.00 61,857,518 39,339,098
Long term loan-current portion 15.01 125,995,409 117,982,208
Total 187,852,927 157,321,306

a) The Company has obtained a renewable Cash Credit (Hypo) facility from Mercantile Bank PLC, A.K. Khan Moor Branch,
sanctioned on 28 May 2017.

) The sanctioned limit of the facility is Tk. 4.00 crore (Account No. 1729000027824).
c) The loan carries interest at 14.50% per annum.
) Personal guarantees of the Directors have been provided.
) Total land measuring 135.55 decimals has been provided as primary security against the loan.
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18.00

19.00

20.00

LIABILITY FOR EXPENSES:

Audit Fee

Directors Remuneration

Electricity Bill

Gas Bill

Gas Bill-Factory Canteen

Gas Bill-Head Office

Office Rent

Overtime

Salaries & Allowances-Dhaka Office
Salaries & Allowances-Head Office
Salaries & Allowances-Factory Staffs
Wages & Allowances-Factory Workers
Salaries & Allowances-Sales & Marketing
Fooding Expenses

Conveyance

WORKERS PROFIT PARTICIPATION & WELFARE FUND:

Balance as on 01 July
Add: Provision made during the year

Less: Payment made during the year
Balance as on 30 June

TRADE PAYABLES:

Abul Khair Steel Melting Ltd.
Al Raji Chemical

Anjum Traders

Azad Engineering Workshop
Cartoon Nirman Ltd.

Emu Enterprise

Hossain Box Industries
International Bearing Center
Islam & Brothers

Khaja Polythene Mart
Mamun Hardware Store

ANNUAL
REPORT

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
423,750 407,750
1,454,800 1,484,800
13,062,483 6,624,046
37,764,912 26,678,662
19,562 17,380
1,583 2,359
625,000 725,000
2,737,416 2,645,752
85,724 93,500
536,115 713,485
1,304,037 1,307,338
2,852,006 4,206,150
1,646,526 3,440,401
199,875 157,516
- 38,949
62,713,789 48,543,088
2,275,734 1,915,255
873,711 360,479
3,149,445 2,275,734
3,149,445 2,275,734
615,852 954,690
- 1,135,275
- 3,868,230
835,850 591,850
- 1,208,442
- 295,601
2,518,859 2,089,888
675,243 183,093
2,115,366 2,244,911
33,046 26,846
769,641 832,965
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M/S. Dohar Chemicals
S. R Packaging
Taslima Enterprise
Unimax Chemicals
United Trading Agency
Other Payable

21.00 CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES:
Balance as on 01 July
Provision during the year:
Add: Against current year

Less: Adjustment recognized following completion of assessments
Balance as on 30 June

21.01 Adjustment for Completed assessment year
Assessment year 2015-2016
Assessment year 2018-2019
Assessment year 2019-2020
Assessment year 2020-2021
Assessment year 2021-2022
Assessment year 2022-2023

21.02 Computaion of Provision for Income Tax:

21.02.1 Net profit before tax :
Less: Non-Operating Income

Add: Accounting depreciation

Less: Tax depreciation U/S 50 of ITA 2023
Net Operating Business Income/(loss) (A)
Add: Non-Operating Income (B)

Total Business Income (A+B)

ANNUAL
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Note: 21.01

Note: 30

Note: 4.01

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
1,424,115 3,946,115
3,580,625 5,672,635
2,467,194 2,886,412
142,300 2,863,300
1,302,611 2,225,597
10,644,490 -
27,125,192 31,025,850
31,857,573 25,481,102
10,870,301 6,376,471
42,727,874 31,857,572
15,046,687 -
27,681,187 31,857,573
1,900,000 -
1,702,107 -
2,917,512 -
2,892,410 -
2,368,479 -
3,266,179 -
15,046,687 -
17,474,215 7,209,572
2,022,574 1,724,826
15,451,641 5,484,747
47,536,249 42,231,242
62,987,890 47,715,989
33,607,781 32,840,970
29,380,109 14,875,019
2,022,574 1,724,826
31,402,683 16,599,845
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21.02.2 Minimum Tax:

22.00

23.00

23.01

Amount
Tax on Net Operating Business Income (C.) 29,380,109
Add: Non-Operating Income
Dividend Income 735,962
Interest Income 434,114
Profit on Sale of Investment in Shares 284,461
Cash Incentive-Export 434,640
Miscellaneous Income 133,397
Tax on Non-Operating Income (D) 2,022,574
Total Current Tax (C+D)
Amount
Revenue 1,041,522,211
Non-Operating Income 2,022,574

Income Tax Provision during the year

Rate
22.50%

20%
22.50%
10%
10%
22.50%

Rate
1%
22.50%

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
6,610,525 2,975,004
147,192 116,933
97,676 48,421
28,446 -
43,464 -
30,014 179,612
346,792 344,965
6,957,317 3,319,969
10,415,222 6,031,506
455,079 344,965
10,870,301 6,376,471

Compared with tax on business income and minimum tax higher one has been provided U/S 163 of ITA 2023

LIABILITIES FOR OTHER FINANCE:
.T. Deducted at Source

VAT Deducted at Source

Loan From Farhana Tarannum*

**The above loans are interest free.

UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND:

Balance as on 1st July

Add: Dividend declared for the year 2023-2024 approved in the AGM

Less: Unclaimed dividend paid to CMSF till 2017-2018

Less: Dividend Paid
Balance as on 30 June

Year wise Unclaimed Dividend:

The year wise breakup of unclaimed cash dividend as 30 June 2025 are as follows:

2014-2015 to 2018-2019
2019-2020
2020-2021

ANNUAL
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704,060 855,200
207,328 216,358
26,500,000 24,300,000
27,411,388 25,371,558
1,532,796 3,082,193
3,800,000 3,800,000
5,332,796 6,882,193

- 1,891,524

5,332,796 4,990,668
3,440,511 3,457,872
1,892,285 1,532,796
999,979 999,979
82,650 82,650
36,016 36,016
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2021-2022
2022-2023
2023-2024

24.00 DIRECTORS CURRENT ACCOUNT:
Mr. Mohammed Abdullah, Ex-Chairman
Mr. Md. Golam Kibria, Managing Director
Mr. Md. Golam Mostofa, Ex-Managing Director
Mr. Md Golam Haider, Ex-Vice Chiarman
Mr. Md. Golam Morshed, Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir, Chairman
Mrs. Farhana Ferdous-Director

These balances represent short-term financial assistance obtained from the Directors to meet working capital
requirements, as and when needed. All transactions were conducted through account payee cheques. The loans are

interest-free.

25.00 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS:
Newsprint Paper
M.G. Newsprint
Tissue Paper
Khata
Export Sales
Gross Revenue
Less: Value Added Tax (VAT)
Net Revenue

26.00 COST OF SALES:
Opening Stock of Raw Materials
Add: Purchased during the year

Less: Closing Stock of Raw Materials
Raw Materials Consumed

Add: Factory overhead

Add: Opening Work-in-Process

ANNUAL
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Note-26.01

Note-26.02

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
Taka Taka
72,024 72,024
341,858 342,128
359,759 -
1,892,285 1,532,796
20,800,000 20,800,000
10,934,787 10,934,787
3,500,000 3,500,000
4,500,000 4,500,000
8,448,066 8,448,066
9,118,980 9,318,980
27,200,000 27,200,000
84,501,833 84,701,833

2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024
Taka Taka

672,549,916 622,437,089
271,791,256 292,489,636
106,193,216 98,844,225
6,030,292 4,390,789
4,520,045 2,954,441
1,061,084,724  1,021,116,180
19,562,513 15,865,263

1,041,522,211

1,005,250,917

625,933,542 .
| N

93,461,252 93,594,007
531,419,046 532,339,535
624,880,298
100,837,970 93,461,252
524,042,328 532,472,290
389,697,540 328,219,479

31,773,179 34,991,121
945,513,047 895,682,890
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26.01

26.02

27.00

Less: Closing Work-in-Process
Cost of Production

Add: Opening Stock of Finished Goods

Less: Closing Stock of Finished Goods

Cost of Sales

Purchased of Raw Materials:
Local
Imported

Factory Overhead:

Salaries, Wages and Allowances
Carriage Inward

Gas Bill

Electric Bill

Consumable Spare & Store
Packaging Material Consumed
Factory Maintenance

Loading Unloading Charge
Cutting Expense

Mobile bill

Fuel bill

Medical & Medicine

Gas Generator Upkeep

Boiler Upkeep

Insurance Premium

Canteen Expenses

Gas Bill- Canteen

Tea, Tiffin Expesnes
Depreciation

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES:
Director Remuneration
Salaries & Allowances

Office Rent

Telephone & Mobile Bill

ANNUAL
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Note: 4.01

Notes-27.01

328,219,479 '
L
b

2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024
Taka Taka
28,954,845 31,773,179
916,558,202 863,909,712
180,664,204 176,804,879
1,097,222,406  1,040,714,591
215,484,252 180,664,204
881,738,154 860,050,387
402,141,463 492,874,829
129,277,583 39,464,706
531,419,046 532,339,535
60,944,373 55,479,756
2,199,390 3,630,250
129,527,002 108,683,550
87,901,943 70,069,256
15,976,651 9,370,947
21,038,901 14,488,889
11,473,802 13,623,609
649,430 358,676
8,758,930 7,760,502
172,570 151,560
608,768 560,388
116,869 160,609
1,333,500 292,570
133,150 175,000
400,522 398,889
497,966 346,490
118,301 142,817
829,091 834,321
47,016,381 41,691,400
389,697,540
3,600,000 3,600,000
9,667,668 10,694,360
360,000 360,000
235,913 236,102
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27.01

Entertainment

Tiffin and Refreshment

Travelling Expenses

Dhaka Office Expenses

Canteen Expenses

Postage & Courier

Forms, Stamp & Legal Documents
Fees, Renewal & Subscription
Printing & Stationery

Gas Bill-Head Office

Meeting Expenses

Meeting Attendance Fees

Office Maintenance

Internet Bill

Audit Fee

Legal & Professional Fee

Annual Subscription Fee of CDBL

Annual Subscription Fee of CSE, DSE

Electric Bill- Head Office
Electric Bill- Dhaka Office
Fuel Bill

Vehicle Upkeep

Website Expenses

Rent, Rates & Taxes

Share Demat, Remat & Transfer Fees

Depreciation

Short-Term Employee Benefits — Key Management Personnel
In accordance with the Para 17 of IAS-24 related party disclosure:

Short term employee benefits
Long term employee benefits
Post employee benefits
Termination benefits

Share -based payments expenses
Total

ANNUAL
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2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024
Taka Taka
256,560 323,275
312,633 318,796
1,142,107 1,308,226
102,747 109,940
14,340 22,840
32,880 47,480
2,800 15,730
1,555,486 980,385
73,181 96,270
14,250 13,866
663,621 442 535
634,500 718,400
826,437 767,605
182,720 178,300
448,500 448,500
300,734 56,500
56,000 56,000
190,000 190,000
340,000 310,000
70,151 68,311
248,891 267,310
346,062 513,520
51,566 47,338
67,825 120
- 1,400
519,868 539,842
22,317,440 22,732,951
3,600,000 3,600,000 l L
B I |
3,600,000 3,600,000 121
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(@) The above short-term employee benefits include remuneration of Tk. 24,00,000 paid to the Managing Director and Tk.
12,00,000 paid to the Deputy Managing Director.

(b) No remuneration has been paid to any other Director of the Board, other than attendance fees, which are separately
disclosed.

(c) No amounts have been incurred by the Company for compensating any other Board members for special services
rendered.

(d) In addition to the above remuneration, the Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director are provided with
Company vehicles for transportation purposes. These key management personnel are not entitled to any other benefits,
and no amounts are receivable from the Directors.

2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024

Taka Taka
28.00  SELLING & DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES:
Sales Promotion Expenses 262,867 639,610
Sales Commission - 383,950
Salaries & Allowances 15,965,672 15,945,103
Conveyance 2,543,788 2,659,839
Carriage Outward 31,651,591 30,694,550
C&F Bill-Export 46,627 18,916
Mobile bill 675,985 782,434
Entertainment 1,703,929 1,500,067
Advertisement 1,051,870 1,200,252

53,902,329 53,824,721

29.00 FINANCIAL EXPENSES:

Bank Charges 479,519 489,325
Bank Guarantee Commission 180,948 184,901
Interest Expenses on Cash Credit 4,436,763 10,396,389
Interest Expenses on Short Term Loan 1,058,981 756,002
Interest Expenses on Long Term Loan 59,402,968 48,426,151
Interest Expenses on UPAS Loan - 2,352,769
Foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss Note-29.01 1,679,757 192,095

67,238,936 62,797,632

29.01 Foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss

Realized foreign currency transaction (gain)/loss 1,676,748 187,025
Unrealized foreign currency translation (gain)/loss 3,009 5,070 : s
1,679,757 192,095 |

(a) Foreign currency transaction gain/(loss) represents the net gain or loss arising from transactions denominated in
foreign currencies during the year.

(b) Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) represents the net gain or loss resulting from the translation of foreign
currency balances into Bangladeshi Taka at the prevailing exchange rates as at the reporting date. 2
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2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024

Taka Taka

30.00 NON-OPERATING INCOME:

Dividend Income 735,962 584,664

Interest Income 434114 242,103

Profit on Sale of Investment in Shares 284,461 -

Cash Incentive-Export 434,640 -

Miscellaneous Income 133,397 898,058

2,022,574 1,724,825

31.00  DEFERRED TAX EXPENSES:

(a) Deferred Tax Liability on 30 June 55,389,483 50,353,012

(b) Deferred Tax Liability on 01 July 50,197,189 50,300,618

Deferred Tax Expenses for the year (a-b) 5,192,294 52,394
32.00 EARNINGS PER SHARE:

Net Profit after tax 1,411,620 780,707

Number of shares outstanding 19,000,000 19,000,000

EPS (per value of Tk. 10) 0.07 0.04

The Company’s Earnings Per Share (EPS) has increased significantly compared to the previous year, primarily due to
higher sales revenue during the year. This growth was supported by improved operational efficiency, effective cost
management, and enhanced utilization of resources. The increase in EPS reflects the Company’s stronger profitability and
its ability to generate higher returns for shareholders.

33.00 NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE WITH REVALUATION:

Net Asset with Revaluation 460,514,917 461,487,017
Number of shares outstanding 19,000,000 19,000,000
Net asset value per share (per value of Tk. 10) 24.24 24.29

34.00 NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE WITHOUT REVALUATION:

Net Asset without revaluation 226,498,176 219,789,349
Number of shares outstanding 19,000,000 19,000,000
Net asset value per share (per value of Tk. 10) 11.92 11.57

35.00  NET OPERATING CASH FLOWS PER SHARE:

Net cash flows from operation 93,908,326 135,942,388 ' o
Number of shares outstanding 19,000,000 19,000,000 | %
Net operating cash flows by per share (per value of Tk. 10) 4.94 7.15
o
The Company’s Net Operating Cash Flows Per Share (NOCFPS) declined significantly compared to the previous year. The
decrease is primarily due to higher cash outflows for payments to suppliers, operating expenses, and other expenditures.
This decline reflects a reduction in cash generated from the Company’s core business activities during the year. 123
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36.00

37.00

37.01

Number of Employees:

The total employees of the company as on 30 June 2025 stood at 438 nos. comprising Head office staff 77 nos,
Factory office staff 21 nos, Security 21 nos, Driver and helper 02 nos, Permanent worker 87 nos and Temporary
worker 230 nos.

Number of employees whose monthly salary was below Tk. 3,000 - -

Number of employees whose monthly salary was above Tk. 3,000 438 395

RISK MANAGEMENTS:

International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS-7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - requires of disclosure of
Information relating to both recognized and unrecognized financial instruments, their significance and performance,
accounting policies, terms and conditions, net fair values and risk information - the Company's policies for controlling risk
and exposures.

The management has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the company's risk management
framework. The company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risk faced by the company
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies,
procedures and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the company's activities.The
company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments.

a) Credit Risk
b) Liquidity Risk
c) Market Risk

a) Credit Risk:

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the company if a customer or a counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the company's receivable from Trade Receivables.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. In
monitoring credit risk, Trade Receivables are grouped according to their risk profiles, i.e. their legal status, financial
condition ageing etc. Trade receivable are related to sale of News Print Paper, M.G News print, Medium Paper and
Tissues paper.

Maximum exposure to credit risk of the company at reporting date are as follows:

2024-2025 2023-2024
Taka Taka
a) Exposure of Credit risk:
Trade receivables 165,225,169 178,470,664
Advance, Deposit and Prepayments (Excluding Deposit & Prepayments) 109,458,647 106,112,752
Bank Balances 58,124,106 13,545,993

332,807,922 298,129,382
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2024 - 2025 2023 - 2024
Taka Taka
b) Ageing of Trade Receivables are as follows:
Below-30 Days 28,088,279 30,340,013
Within 31-60 Days 33,045,034 35,694,133
Within 61-90 Days 23,131,524 24,985,893
Within 90 - 180 Days 19,827,020 21,416,480
Above 180 Days 61,133,313 66,034,145
165,225,169 178,470,664
37.02 b) Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Company's approach to manage
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company's
reputation. Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet expected
operational expenses, including financial obligations through preparation of the cash flow forecast, based on time line
of payment of financial obligations and accordingly arrange for sufficient liquidity/fund to make the expected payments
within due dates. Moreover, the Company has short term credit facilities with scheduled commercial banks to ensure
payment of obligation in the event that there is insufficient cash to make the required payment. The requirement is
determined in advance through cash flow projections and credit lines with banks are negotiated accordingly.
37.02.01 Exposure to Liquidity risk:
The followings are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
Non-derivative Carrying Within More than Total
financial liabilities amount 12 month 12 month
Unsecured Loan 57,699,990 - 57,699,990 57,699,990
Long Term Loan 708,431,456 125,995,409 582,436,047 708,431,456
Short Term Loan & Overdraft 61,857,518 61,857,518 - 61,857,518
Liability for Expenses 62,713,789 62,713,789 - 62,713,789
Workers Profit Participation and Welfare Fund 3,149,445 3,149,445 - 3,149,445
Trade Payables 27,125,192 27,125,192 - 27,125,192
Current Tax Liabilities 27,681,187 27,681,187 - 27,681,187
Liabilities for Other Finance 27,411,388 27,411,388 - 27,411,388
Unclaimed Dividend 1,892,285 1,892,285 - 1,892,285
Directors Current Account 84,501,833 84,501,833 - 84,501,833
Total 1,062,464,083 422,328,046 640,136,037 | 1,062,464,083
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37.03 c) Market Risk:
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, will affect the Company’s income
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
i)  Currency Risk
The company is not exposed to foreign currency risk.
ii) Interest Rate Risk:
Interest Rate Risk is the risk that arises from the changes in interest rates on borrowings. The company's Local
Loans are not significantly affected by fluctuations in interest rates. The company has not entered in to any type
of derivative instrument in order to hedge interest rate risk as at the reporting date.
38.00 CAPACITY UTILIZATION:
Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
Installed Capacity (in M.T) 13500 13500
Actual Production (in M.T) 6548 6781
% of Capacity Utilization 48.51% 50.23%
Installed capacity could not be utilized due to following reason(s):
(i) Break down of boiler as well as generator
(i) Break down of Production Machinery
(i) Schedule maintenance of running plant etc.
(iv) Load shedding and deficiency of electricity supply
39.00 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION:
Name of the Parties Relationship T:\:l?s:::i:l:s B:La::l:e Tradnusr?::gon Bglsa:::e
1st July 2024 the year 30 June 2025
39.01 UNSECURED LOAN:
Mr. Mohammed Abdullah Ex-Chairman Loan Received 19,448,060 - 19,448,060
Mrs. Hosne Ara Begum Director Loan Received 3,800,000 - 3,800,000
Mr. Md. Golam Haider Ex-Vice Chairman Loan Received 7,457,975 - 7,457,975
Mr. Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir Chairman Loan Received 4,707,475 - 4,707,475
Mr. Md. Golam Kibria Managing Director Loan Received 13,114,175 - 13,114,175
Mr. Md. Golam Morshed Deputy Managing Director Loan Received 4,707,475 - 4,707,475
Mr. Md. Golam Mostofa Ex- Managing Director | Loan Received 4,464,830 - 4,464,830
Total 57,699,990 - 57,699,990
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39.02 DIRECTORS CURRENT ACCOUNT:

Mr. Mohammed Abdullah Ex-Chairman Loan Received 20,800,000 - 20,800,000
Mr. Md Golam Haider Ex-Vice Chairman | Loan Received 4,500,000 - 4,500,000
Mr. Md. Golam Rasul Muktadir Chairman Loan Received 9,318,980 (200,000) 9,118,980
Mr. Md. Golam Kibria Managing Director | Loan Received 10,934,787 - 10,934,787
Mr. Md. Golam Morshed Deputy Managing Director | Loan Received 8,448,066 - 8,448,066
Mr. Md. Golam Mostofa Ex. Managing Director | Loan Received 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Mrs Farhana Ferdous Director Loan Received 27,200,000 - 27,200,000

Total 84,701,833 |  (200,000) | 84,501,833

39.03  LIABILITIES FOR OTHER FINANCE:

Mrs. Farhana Tarannum Close Family Member | Loan Received 24,300,000 2,200,000 26,500,000

Total 24,300,000 | 2,200,000 | 26,500,000

40.00 CONTRIBUTION TO WORKERS PROFIT PARTICIPATION FUND:

This represents 5% of the net profit before tax, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Labor Act, 2006, as
amended in 2018, and is payable to workers as defined therein. Interest attributable to the investment portion will be

recognized and paid on a cash basis at the time of payment.

41.00  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES UNDER INDIRECT METHOD:

Profit after Provision for Income Tax

Adjustment for:

Depreciation

Provision for Deferred Tax Expenses

Financial Expenses

Workers Profit Participation and Welfare Fund

Deferred tax on unrealized gain/(loss) in investment in share

Changes in Working Capital

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in Advance, Deposits & Prepayments
Increase/(Decrease) in Liability for Expenses
Increase/(Decrease) in Current portion of Long Term Loan
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in Current Tax Liabilities

Net cash inflows/(out flows) from operating activities (A+B)
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2024-2025 2023-2024
Taka Taka

1,411,620 780,707
47,536,249 42,231,242
5,192,294 52,394
61,082,725 51,645,241
873,711 360,479
6,082 (146,918)
A 116,102,681 94,923,146
(48,549,252) (20,953,191)
13,245,495 7,435,985
(997,456) 160,486
14,170,701 11,859,656
8,013,201 35,050,874
(3,900,658) 1,088,961
(4,176,386) 6,376,471
B (22,194,355) 41,019,242
93,908,326 135,942,388
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42.00 OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION:
42.01 During the year 4 (Four) Board Meetings were held.
42.02 During the year 4 (Four) Audit Committee Meetings were held.

42.03 During the year 1 (One) Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) Meetings was held.

42.04 The audit fee of BDT 402,500 along with imposed VAT has been provided in the accounts as per decision taken in the 28th
Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 21 December 2024.

42.05 The compliance audit fee of Tk. 40,250 along with imposed VAT has been provided in the accounts as per decision taken
in the 28th Annual General Meeting of the company held on 21 December 2024.

42.06 There was no claim against the company not acknowledged as debt at the reporting date.

42.07 No amount of money was spent by the company for compensation to member of the board for special service rendered.

43.00 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past event and whose existence will be confirmed only by
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity or;

A person obligation that arise from past event but is not recognized because:
1) Itis not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or
2) the amount of the obligation can not be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent Liabilities and assets as on the date of Statement of Financial Statements were as under

2024-2025 2023-2024
Taka Taka
43.01 Bank Guarantee:
Social Islami Bank PLC 5,348,870 5,348,870
Bangladesh Krishi Bank Ltd. 109,200 109,200
Puballi Bank PLC 1,548,554 1,548,554
Mercantile Bank PLC 7,002,998 7,002,998

14,009,622 14,009,622

Guarantees issued by the Company's scheduled bank to third parties on counter indemnities given by the Company.

44.00 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD:

44.01 The Board of Directors in its meeting held on October 27, 2025 approved the Audited Financial Statements and ™
recommended 5% Cash Dividend for the General Shareholders only excluding Sponsors and Directors for the year § k.
2024-2025 which is subject to approval of the shareholders in the 29th AGM. Thus total involvement comes to taka
50,08,935. “

44.02 Except above, no other significant event had occurred till date of signing the Financial Statements.
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HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC
2/10 D. T. Road, North Pahartoli, Chattogram

PROXY FORM

I/We of being a member
of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC hereby appoint Mr./Mrs.
of as my proxy to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 29th Annual General

Meeting of the Company to be held on Saturday, the 20 December, 2025 at 11.00 a.m through Hybrid System i.e. online
video conference (https://agmbd.live/hakkanipul2025) as well as physical presence of honorable shareholders of the
company at GRAND TASFIA CONVENTION HALL, Anandipur, PC Road, Chattogram and at any adjournment thereof.

As witness my/our hand this day of 2025
signed by the said in presence of

Revenue
Stamp

(Signature of the Proxy)

Signature of the Shareholder(s)
Register Folio No.
Signature of Witness Dated

Note :
A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his / her
stead. The proxy form, duty stamped, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not later than 48
hours before the time appointed for the meeting.

Signature Verified

Authorised Signatory

HAKKANI PULP & PAPER MILLS PLC

I/We hereby record my attendance the 29th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Saturday, the
20 December, 2025 at 11.00 a.m through Hybrid System i.e. online video conference (https://agmbd.live/hakkanipul2025)
as well as physical presence of honorable shareholders of the company at GRAND TASFIA CONVENTION HALL,
Anandipur, PC Road, Chattogram.

Name of Member(s) Register Folio No.
holding of Ordinary Shares of Hakkani Pulp & Paper Mills PLC. ' P
|
Signature of the Shareholder(s) -
N.B.

1. Please note that AGM can only be attended by the honourable shareholder or properly constituted proxy. Therefore,
any friend or children accompanying with honourable shareholder or proxy cannot be allowed into the meeting.

2. No person shall be appointed proxy who is not member of the company.
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